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BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH

oF

THOMAS LORD COCHRANE:

His lordship, the eldest son of the earl of Dundonald, was
worn on the 24th of December, 1774. Having been des-
tined for the navy, he was placed, at an early period of life,
under the care of his uncle, the present Admiral Sir Alex-
ander Cochrane.

Having served in the West Indies, the bay of Biscay,
and the Home Station, he passed for a Lieutenant. He
was afterwards promoted to the command of"the Speedy,
of 14 guns, with the rank of Master and Commauder, which
led, in its turn, to the rank he now holds.

In 1801, when stationed off Barcelons, he engaged, board-
ed, and captured the Spanish sloop of war, Kl Gamo, a ves-
sel of double his strength, and which lost, in killed andwounds
ed, more men than the whole complement of the Speedy.
In the course of the same year, and with the same little
brig, he took no fewer than 33 vessels from the enemy,
mounting in all 128 guns, and made 530 prisoners, He
likewise, with the assistance of another brig, destroyed a 26
gan ship and 3 gun boats, together with a heavy battery
and a large convoy which had taken refuge behind it: and
soon afterwards he effected a Janding on the coast, and blew
up the tower of Alcarera. '

His signal services having procured for him the rank of
Post Captain, his pendant was flying at the commencement
of the present war on board the Pallas, of 32 guns. In this
frigate, his lordship attacked three French national ships
of 13, 22, and 24 guns, which he drove on shore and wreek-
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ed, although at the time 90 of his men were absenton ane.
ther expedition.

In May, 1806, he landed on the French coast. Having
led his gallaut crew in person, he first destroyed all the sip-
mal posts which announced the approach ot our cruisers;
while at the same time part of his men routed a small body
of militia who defended a battery, spiked its guos, and
threw the shells into the sea. A few days after this, the
Pallas attacked a very heavy French [rigate, although sup-
ported by three sloops of war, and rendered her -almost a
wreck.

d'his year was also the commencement of Lord Cochrane’s
parliamentary career. Honiten, a rotten boreugh, had been
recently enfranchised, and had been represented by Mr. Ca-
vendish Bradshaw, who having accepted an office in the exe
ehequer of Ireland, a new election was ordered. NMr. Cob-
bett, the author of the Political Register, at first declared
his intention of opposing the old candidate, with this pro-
viso, that no other person of independent principles came lor-
ward, But it is probable there was an understanding be-
tweeen his lordship and-Mr. Cobbett, as the only candidates
on the day of election were Lord C. and Mr. Bradshaw.

His lordship, on the Hustings, delivered an animated
though short address to the electors ; in the course of which,
he emphatically said, *'To preserve the liberties of my
country unimpaired, shall be the business and pride of my
Iife ; and, as a pledge that I will make these efforts purely
for the good of my country, I give you my word ol honour,
that T shall never accept of any sinecure or pension, or any
grant of the public money; and that I never will ask or
receive any such for any person whatever that may be in
any way dependent on me.” And he concluded by stating,
that his leading motive for wishing a seat in parliament was,
that he might be able to point out some enormous abuses,
which, from his own observation, he knew ta exist. ' I1is
lovdship’s efforts were, however, on<his occasion, unsuccess-
ful; the result of the votes being, for the ministerial candi-
date 259 ; for Lord C. 124,

The parliament being dissolved on the demise of Mr. Pitt,
bis lordship again determined to offer himself for the bo-
rongh of Honiton. Before the election he set cut from Ply=
maouth in a truly seaman-like style. He himself, accompa-
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gied by a couple of lieutenants and a midshipman, all in full
dress, as il engaged in actual service, proceeded in oue car-
riage, and were followed by his boal’s crew in auother, vew
rigged, and prepared for action.  On tie box sal t e helms-
man, who wishied o regulate the steerage, which he lament-
ed to see confided to two lubberly postifions with lavours in
their hats, and boots on their legs; while the boatswain,
perched on the roof of the carriage, with his whistie in
his mouth, kept thie whole in order, aud enabled all to cheer
in due time, every blast being accompanied by a long and
loud huzza. On their appearance at Honiton, they were
received with loud plaudits by agreat body of the electors,
although they had, notwithstanding, some reason to consider
themselves on an enemy’s coast, as they were obliged to ex-
pend almost every spare shot in the locker before the conclu-
sion of the contest. It was, however, favourable; and Cap-
tain Lord Cochrane now beheld himself a legislator. 'T'he
parliament was dissolved a year aiterwards; and his lord-
ship set sail for Westminster, where officers of the navy had
been, during the last centary, returned at little or no expense
to themselves.

When he first made his bow to the electors, it is a singu-
lar fact, that his lordship was scarcely known to them even
by name; not above five or six housekeepers of any note
rallied round his standard; but his printed address to the ci-
tizens, which displayed much penetration and judgment,
soon brought him into notice. Its leading tone, while it
frankly developed his lordship’s principles, was happily in
unison with the popular feeling ; ©“ Men,” said he, “ actuated
by the dictates of conscience, who scorn Lo be ranked among
the great paupiers of the nation, and by sinecures and un-
merited pensions to drain the resources of their country,
may do much good, even though their abilities are small.”
The other candidates on this ocaston were, Sir F. Burdett,
Mr. Elliot, Mr. Sheridan. and Mr. Paul. '

His speeches from the Huastings gradually led the eleetors
more and more into his principles, and more particularly to
a reform in the flagrant abuees of the naval department of
the state: and such was his success, that for several days he
was at the head of the poll. To short, his lordship appears
to have been as mueh at home, during the whole of this ar-
duous contest on the Hustings; asin the thick of an engage-

1
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ment. The result was that Lord C. was declared a member
for the second city in the kingdom ; the numbers being;

For Sir F. Burdett, 5134,
Lord Cochrape, 3708.
Mr. Sheridan, 2615.
Mr. Elliot, 2131.
Mr. Paul, 269,

- On this his second entrance into parliament, his lordship
soon began to realize his promise to his constituents. Ac-
cordingly, on June 7, 1807, he made a motion relative te
the state of the navy, for the purpose of adducing certain
charges against an admiral who had lately commanded the
Channel fleet; but it fell to the ground, as it was not only
opposed by the ministry, but by some of the most distin-
guished oflicers in the service. Shertly therealter, however,
he moved for a committee * to inquire into, and to report to
the house, a list of all the members and their relations hold-
ing sinecures, pensions, &e.;” which, after some modifica-
tion, was agreed to by ministers, and a return was in conse-
quence made to parliament,

Whether it was that these harassing inquiries were disa-
greeable to ministers, or whether they considered his lord-
ship’s exertions agaiust the common enemy as more benefi-
cial to his country, we cannot decide ; but soon alter his
last motion, Lord C. was appointed to the command of the
Imperieuse, of 40 guns.  After cruising for some time, he
placed bimself under the command of Lord Collingwood,

‘then employed in blockading the port of Cadiz, and check-
ing the exertions of the Spaniards, before that nation evinced
a wish to throw off' the yoke of France. 'The Spaniards
‘however, being at length roused from their lethargy, the
most cordial assistance was afforded to their eause. %

- Though it is not in the power of the captain of a frigate

- %o perform much, Lord C. did every thing that a single ship
sould effect. Happening to be on the coast of Catalonia,

ke determined to rescue from the hands of the French the

- eastle of Mongal, which commands an important post be-
tween Barcelona and Gerona.  Aceordingly, on the 31st of
July 1808, he carried that place, which he destroyed, as

~soon as the military stores could be delivered over to the pa-

“qriots. This gallant achievement was communicated to the

admiralty by Lord Collingwood, who terdered a tribute of
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very high admiration to Lord Cochrane’s spirit and naval
gkill in the enterprise. | i,

The following year (1809) was remarkable for an expe-
dition, in which Lord C. was destined to act a very pro-
minent part. 'I'his was the memorable attack ou the French
squadron in Basque Roads, for the failure ol which, or, more
properly, for its want of complete success, Admiral Lord
Gambier, the commander on that station, by whose orders
Lord C. was restrained from pursuing the important ad-
vantages he had reason to expect, was brought to trial before
a court martial, on the 23d of July. Although the admi-
ral was honourably acquitted by the court, the judgment
of the country was strongly against him—and Lord C. after
haviog, on the trial, exposed what he coneeived to be pusil-
lanimity and error on the part of the admiral, brought the
sentence of the court martial before the commons in Ja-
nuary, 1810. After a long and animated debate, however,
his lordship’s motion was pegatived by a great majority,
and the thanks of the house were formally voted to the
adimiral., Lovd C’s. motion, although supported by all the
independent members of the house, was rejected on the very
same ground by which his lord:hip’s appeal from the late
sentence against himself was negcatived; namely, that it is
incompetent for the house of commons to bring under re.
view the sentence of a court of justlce. In both cases,
perhaps, the ostensible reason may not have been the real
ene ; at least, the country seems to have thought so; for
the vote of the commons in favour of Admiral Gambier,
did no more injury to the gallant Cochrane in the esteem of
his constituents, than their recent vote of his expulsion from
the house.

His parliamentary history, ever sinee that time, it were
superfluous to detail minutely-—it must be fresh in the ree
collection of every one. I we give credit to the motive
{and vo one doubts its purity) that has prompted him stea-
dily o, in the undaunted and invariable pursuit of one honest
aim—the detection and exposure of abuses in the naval de-
partment—we shall place bim in the van of patriots, and
our seamen’s best friend. He lent his aid, by his vote, to
every proposed measure of practical reform, but he never
joined in general declamation and invective. He spoke al-
ways on subjects with which he was versant, things which

game moder his personal notice, or of which ke had well-




grounded information; pointing minutely to facts, and chal-
lenging his oppouncits eithier to avow or deny: them, =~ Al-
though nis mouuns have been generaliy negatived, it” were
wroig 0 couclude, that hiss efiorts have been fruitless.
L hough the league of peculators have -had power or infiu-
ence to protect abuses whici rlo existy it 18 reasonable, and
somewhat cousoiatory, to predict, that the career of abuse
in the admiralty must heaceforth slacken its pace; and that
the vermin which burrow under the wings of the chancery,
shall pot be allowed to wultiply. Such, at the least, may
be reasonably looked for, while Lord Cochrane is supported
by the independent electors of Westminster—till a happier
era come, when the model of that fair fabric which our fa-
thers built and bequeathed to us, shall be restored, and
“ enormity be taken by the forehead, and branded.”

T'he propriety of the funding system has been long ques-
tioned by political economists. It was a lucky expedient of
the wily “ William of Glorious Memory,” to attach the
pockets of the nation to bis half-legitimate crown. In this
respect, it would be unbecoming to regret its success; in
every other, it is most deeply to be deplored; and, if we
except its lawfully-begotten daughter, the state lottery,
nothing is more productive of public contamination, or radi-
cally more inimical to public virtue. Like every other
species of gambling, it is inconsistent with the evenly enjoy-
ment of hounest life, and equally inimical to the spirit of
honourable enterprise. Its gainsare commonly purchased
at the expense of another, witheut merit on the one sid~, or
misconduct on the other; and its losses, from the magnitude
of the sum at stake, are frequently irretrievable, even by the
uimost eiforts of future indastry. lts real capital, which
would otherwise flow in the lawful channels of improvement
and national wealth, is fed upon by a spawn of speculators
and factors, whose main interest is the propagation of idle
or false intelligence to agitate the vessel, which enhances
these her navigators in proportien to the dexterity of their
ears; in other words, in proportion to the number of their
transfers. i

Lord Cochrane, whose maritime enterprises had rewarded
his gallant conduct with a very handsome fortune, had unwa-
rily deposited the greater part of irin the stocks: he had of
course a natural interest in their fluctuations, and had become
a daily visiter at the exchange. The well-known conse-
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quenees of this oprudent.connexion are minutely detailed
0 the subsequent pages. It may truly be said, that his

tordship was “out of his element” in Change Alley: and

voiwithstanding our thoreugh convictiou of his innocence of

the crime, as it is called, for which he now suffers the triple

Jash of a law, hitherto Kept in relentis by Lord Ellen-
norough, for special delinquents alone, it must be said, that

had Lord Coechrane moved in his own sphere, and attended

to the honourable duties of his office, he should not thus

have been caught in the net so artfully laid for him; noy

have suffered the galling, though momentary triumph of his

political adversaries, and perhaps malicious hidden foes.

HISTORY OF THE HOAX.

This deception, which was so successfully hit off among
the stock-jobbers on the 21st of February, 1814, consisted
of an account of the destruction of Napoleon, and the en-
trance of the allies into Paris. It appears to have been ins
tended to have, and certainly had, the effect of raising the
price ol the several sorts and descriptions of stock in the.
public funds, whereby those who were privy to the hoax,
and who dealt, or gambled, in the funds, were enabled to
gain, without any risk of loss, sums of morey proportioned
to the extent of their dealings. The hoax was practised by
a person who came from Dover, very early in the morning
of the 21st February, pretending to have come over in a boat
from the ccast of France. He hastened, after dropping his
news at Dever, on to London in a post chaise and four, the
last chaise being taken at Dariford. He personated, in
point of dress, an officer in the army, said he was the aid-
de~camp of Lord Cathcart, and called himself Colonel Du-
Bowrgh ; and, having got out of the post chaise at the
Anarsh-gate, took a hackney coach, and weunt off. Concur-
rent with this part of the hoag, avother was going on from
Northfleet, whence came two gentlemen, accompanied with
4 person named Sandom, who is stated to have absented
bimself from the rules of the king’s bench. 'These persons,
when they arvived at Dartford, took a post chaise and four,
dressed the horses in lauvel, spread the same news that the
preteaded Na Bourgh had spread, drove over London
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bridee, through the city, over Blackfriars’ bridge, and
having alighted near the turopike, called the marsh-gate,
at Lambeth, they went to the bank of the Thames, took a
Boat to go to Whitehall, and thus disappeared. This branch
of the hoax made a great stir in the city, especially among
those who were interested in the price of stock. In the
meanwhile expresses, amounting in number to ten or a dozen
in ail, conveyed in post chaises and four, were pouring in
from Dover and Northflcet with the intelligence to partica-
lar persons; a fact both curious ard important, because it
shows, that the fund-dealing transactions include a regularly
estublished system for the obtaining of early intelligence
Jfrom the coast, which of itseif appears to be little short of
the act alleged against the pretended Du Bourgh. 7These
expresses appear to have confirmed the success of the de-
lusion. Some of the wary birds were shy, at fivst; but, as
in the case of the bird-catching a-la-Pipee, practised in
France, when the pies, the jays, the crows, and jackdaws
began to flock in, the noise and the confusion were such ag
to be sufficient to terrify even the bird-catcher himself. To
this scene, which those who witnessed it appear to be utter-
ly unable to describe; to this scene of joy and of greedy
expectation of gain, succeeded in a few Lours, that of dis-
appointment, shame at having been gulled, the clenching of
fists, the grinding of teeth, the tearing of hair, all the out-
ward and visible signs of those inward contnetions of dige

poluted avarice in some, consciousness of ruin in others,
and in all, boiling revenge, so strongly and so beautifully,
or, rather, so herribly, depicted by the malchless pencil of
Hogarth.

A committee of what is called the Stock Exchange, was
immediately formed for the purpose of investigation ; and,
for the sake of greater despatch of busiiess, they appointed
what they called a sub-committee, consisting of ten persons,
These gentlemen, on the 7th April, made and published a
Report, and added to it what they icalled * Minules of
Evidence,” which minutes, as they are in substauce repeat-
ed in the evidence on-the trial, it is unnecessary here to
premise. | At A

Lord Cochrane, who had been recently appointed fo a
command, and was absent from town on the publieation of
these minutes of evidence, instantly returned and emitied be-
fore a mazistrate the Tollowing deposition. Two daye theve.
after, the letter which follows it appeared io the publie priots.
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LORD COCHRANE’S AFFIDAVIT.

No. 13 Green Street, Grosvenor Square,
March 11, 1814,

1, Sir Taomas CocuraNg, commonly called Lord Cochs
rane, haviug been appointed by the Lords Commissioners of
the Admiralty to active service (at the request, I believe, of
Sir Alexander Cochrane) when I had no expectation ol be-
ing called on, 1 obtained leave of abseuce to seiile my {ri-
vate affairs, previous to quitting this country, and chiefly
with a view to lodge a specification to a patent relative te
a discovery for increasing the intensity of light.

That, in pursuance of my daily practice of superintend-
ing work that was executing for me, and knowing that my
uncle, Mr. Cochrane Johnstone, went to the city every
morniog in a coach, T do swear, on the morning of the 21st
of February, which day was impressed on my mind by cir-
cumstances which afterwards occurred, 1 bre:zkiasted with
him at his residence in Cumbe:laud street, about halt past
eight o’clock, and I was put down by him (and Mr. Butt
was in the coach) on Snow Hill, about ten o¢’clock. -

That I had been about three quarters of an hour at Mr.,
King’s manufactory, at No. 1 Cock Lane, when I received
‘a few lines on a small bit of paper, requesting me to come
Immediately to my heunse; the name affixed, from being
written close to the bottom. I could not read. The servant
told me it was from an army officer, and concluding that he
might be an officer from Spain, and that some accident had
befallen my brother, I hastened back, and I fourd Cap-
tain Berenger who, in great seeming uneasiness, made many
apologies for the freedom he had used, which nothing but
the distressed state of his mind, arising from difficuities,
could have induced him todo.  All his prospects. he said,
had failed, and his last hope _had vanished of obtaining an
appointment in America. He was unpleasantly circnmstan-
ced on account of a sum which he could not pay, and, if he
could, that sother would fall upon him for full 8,000.. He
had no hope of bevefiting his creditors in  his present sity-
ation, or of aseisting himself: That if I world take him
with me, he would immediately go on board and exereise

the sharpshooters, which plan Sir Alexander Cochrave, I

-

..........
o s S o ==
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know, had approved of. That he had left his lodgings,
and prepared himself in the best way his meaos allowed. He
had brought the sword with him which had been his father’s,
and to that and to Sir Alexander he would trust for obtain-
ing an honourable appointment.

I felt very uneasy at the distress he was in; and knowing
him to be a man of great talent and science, I told him I
would do every thing in my power to relieve him; but as
to his going immediately to the T'onnant with any comfort
to himself, it was quite impossible; my cabin was without
furniture; I had not even a servant on board. He said he
would willingly mess anywhere. 1 told him that the ward-
room was already crowded, and, besides, I could net with
propriety take him, he being a foreigner, without leave from
the Admiralty.

He seemed greatly hurt at this, and recalled to my recol-
lection certificates which he had formerly showa me from
persons in official situations; Lord Yarmouth, General Jen-
kinson, aund Mr. Reeves, I think, were amongst the pum-

ber. |
I recommended him to use his endeavour to get them, or

any other friends, to exert their influence, for I had none;
adding, that when the Tomnant went to Portsmouth, I
should be happy to receive him; and I knew from Sir Al-
exander Cochrane, that he would be pleased if he accom-
plished that object. |

Captain Berenger said, that not anticipating any objec-
tion on my part, from the conversation he had formerly had
with me, he had come away with intention to go on board,
and make himsell useful in his military capacity : he could
not go to Lord Yarmouth, or to any other of his friends,
in this dress, (alluding to that which he bad on,)-or return
to his lodgines, where it would excite suspicion (as he was
at that time in the rules of the King’s Bench:) but that
if I refused to let him join the ship now, he would do so at
Portsmouth. Under present -eircumstances, however, he
must use a great liberty, and requested the favour of me to
lend him a hat to wear, instead of his military cap. T gave
him one, which was in a back room, with some things that
had not been packed up; and having tried it on, his uni.
form appeared under his great coat; I therefore offered him
a black coat that was lying on a chair, and which I did not
‘intend to take withme. He put up his uniform ina towel,
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gnd shortly a'terwards went away in great apparent uneasi-

ness of mind; and having asked my leave, he took the coach
I came in, and wiiich I had forgotten to discharge in the
haste T was in. | |

[ do further depose, that the above conversation is the
substance of all that passed with Captain Berenger, which,
from the circamstances attending it, was strongly impressed
on my mind. 'I'hat no other person in uniform was seen by
me at my house on Monday, the 21st of February, though
possibly other officers may have called ; (as many have done
since my appointment) of this, however, 1 cannot speak of

—

my }_ GWn knowledge, haviﬂg heen almest constautly fmm'

home, arranging my private affairs. T have uanderstood,
that many persons have called under the above circumstans
ces, and have written notes in the narlour, and others have
watted there in expectation of seeing me, and then gone
away ;5 but I most posifively swear, that I never saw any
person at my house resembling the description, and in the
dress stated n the prioted advertisement of the members of
the Stock Exchange, |

I further aver, that I had no concern, directly or indi-
reetly, in the Iate imposition, and that the above is all that
I know relative to any person who came to my house inuni-
form on the 21st day of Febraary before alluded to. Cap-
tain Bercuger worc a gray great coat, a gréen uniform, and
niititary cap.

Erom the manner in which mv cliaracter has been attempt-
e to be defamed, it 1s i:'ulisp(-ensahly necessary to state, that
my connexion inany way with the funds arsse from an im-
pression, that in the present {avourable aspect of affaira it
was only necessary to hald stoek 11ovdertobecame a gamer,
without prejudice to any body ; that [ did so openly, con-
sidering it in no degree improper, far less dishonourables
that I had no secret information of any kind; and that, had
my expectation of the success of affairs been disappointed,
I should have been the only suffercr. _ L

Fuavther, I 2o most solemnly sweap, that the whole of the
omnium on account, which I posscssed on the 21st day of
February, 1614, amowited to one hundred and thirty-nine
thousand pounds, which I boueht by Mr. Fearn (T think
on the 12th instant) at a premium of twenty-cight and g
quarter; that T did not hold on that day any other sum on
accouat, in any other stock, directly or indirectly : and that

| 2
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¥ had given orders, when it was hought, to disposze of it on a
¥ise of one per cent; and it was actueliy sold on an average
at twenty-nine and a halt premium, though on the day of
the fraud it might have been disposed of at thirty-three and
a half. T further swear, that the above is the only stock
which I sold of any Kkind on the 21st day of February, ex-
cept two thousand pounds in money, which I had occasion
for; the profit on which was about ten pounds.

Further, 1 do solemnly depose, that 1 had no connexion
or dealing with any one, save as above meutioned, and that
1 did not, at any time, directly or indirectly, by mysell, or
by auny other, take or procure any office or apartment for
any broker or other person for the transaction of stock affairs.

L OCHRANE.
Sworn at my house in Great Queen
Street, I.incoln’s Ton Fields, in the
county ol Middlesex, the 11th day
of March 1814, before me, A. GRAHAM.

B

——— e re

Mr. Editor,

Having learnt {from several of my friends, that it would
be satisfactory, if, in addition to my deposition, (which was
sent forth before I had seen the report of the sub-commitice
of the Stock Exchange,) I were to explain the circumsten-
ces relative to my servauts, which is involved in obscui.ty
by the false evidence of Sayer, the police officer; I beg leave
to state, that, so far from an iotention to conceal any thing
that might be passing in my house on February 21, the fact
is, that I had actually two sets of servants there; one set
who had just come, and another who were about to leave
me, having had a monil’s previous warning. As to the
man sent into the country, he was to relieve my sea-steward,
and is now in charge of my house at Helly-hill. The other
man-servast is in town, and both can be called on. I have
also to add, that no other man, (s stated by Sayer,) except
my servants, live in my house, and that the maid-servants
are forthcoming, although they did not think proper to con-
verse with suspicious looking people, who have at times en-

“deavoured to intrude themselves.
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It seems to me that there is now 1o point unanswered, exa
cept the purchase of the Nanoleons, which, upon applicas
tion to Mr. Biuns, will prove to be totally unfounded. |

COCHRANE.

13 Green-Street, Grosvener Syuare,
March 14, 1814.

TRIAL

Of Charles Random de Berenger, the Hon. Sir Thomas
Cochrane, cemmeonly calird Lerd Cochrane, the Hon.
Andrew Cochrane Johnstene, Richard Gathorn Bult,
Rulph Sandom, Alexander M‘Rae, John Peter Holloway,
and Henry Inyte, before the Court of King’s Bench, on
Wednesday, June 8, 1814, and foliewing day. '

At nine o’clock Lord Ellenborough arrived; and on his
taking bis seat, Lord Lauderdale, Lord Melville, Mr. Gonl-
bourn, and several other individuals of note, were provided
with accommodation beside his lordship. M. de Berenger,
a'tcaded by his attorney, appeaved in court at the same
time, as did Mr. Lavie, the counsel for the prosecution—the
former locked extremely coafidont, and excited general at-
tention.  Among other things laid on the table, were a

“great coat of a gray colour, a fur cap, the regimentals drag-
ocd from the bottom of the Thames, and other articles, which
were fuc-stmi’es of those ascerted to hiave been worn by de
Bevenger. in his speculating trip from Dover. '

The court having been epered, the jury, which was spe-
cial, was called and sworn. Their names were as follow ¢

Messrs. Thomas Brown, Messrs. John Peter,
Henry S. Woolaston, John Holgson,
Geo. Spaldiang, Thomas Wilson,
Geo, Mills, Richard Hall,
John Parker, | Jehn Green,

Liewis Lloyd, Rich, Cheesewright.
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~ Mr. Anorrrus opened the pleadings on the part of the
prosecution, from which it appeared that this was an judict-
went, charging the different delendants with conspiring in a
variety of ways, and in elght different counts—hy the raising
ef false reports of the successes of the allies over Bonaparte
—of the death of Bonaparte—of the allies being in pos.
session of Paris—-of the restoration of the Bourbons—of
peace being coucluded, &ec. to raise the funds o a higher
price than they would otherwise have borne, to the injury of
the publie, and to the benefit of the conspirators.  L'o these
various charges the defendauis pleaded Net Guiity.

Mr. Gurney, as leading couuscl for the prosecution, then

-addressed the conrt and jury, and observed, that it was his

duty to state the circumstances of criminality imputed to the
defendants. He was sure it was not necessary to request
the respectable jury, te whem he had the honour of addresse

iog his observations, to dismiss from their minds every thing

which they had heard uvpon this subject before they entered
the court that day. In many cases, it happened that much
discussion preceded and followed trials which were to take
place, or had taken place, in courts of justice; and in
some, as in the present, those who were to take their trials,
on the very eve of those trials coming on, industriously cir.
culated matter whicl'they conceived essential to their de- -
fence. If any thing of thissort had come within the obser-
vation of the present jury, he entreated them to lay it to-
tally aside-—to come to the consideration of the subject be-
fore them with their minds cool, dispassionate,unprejudiced;
and unprenossessed, and to attend only tosuch facts as should
he immediately brought under their view. Ifthe conduct
imputed to the defendants collectively had been committed
by any one individual, it would be considered a erime 3 when
tizat conduct beeame the result of a conspiraey, however, it
was a crime of a move aggavated nature. To conspire to
circulate false news, with intent to raise the price of any
thing, was clearly a cvime; but if such a conspiracy wss
formed to raise the price of the public lunds, considering
the magnitude of those funds, the offence was of a higher
description, from the vast number of persons whe, by such
a subterfuge; must necessaiily be injured,  The public com-
missioners of thie nationaldebl, the persons whose property
wad lodged in the eourt of chancery—all would be injured
by a temporary rise of the public funds growing out of such
. |
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a statement as this. Every person, in fact, who was agy
way interested io the funds, must suffer in a gi‘ea{er or less
degree; and in proportion to the extent of the injury likely
to be incurred, sodid it become necessary and important to
preserve those funds from the opgrations of desigoning per-
sons, If a conspiracy was entered into to raise the funds,
in order that the conspirators might scll out to their own ad-
vantage, that conspiracy assumed the character of the most
malignant and cool blooded fraud ; it was susceptible but of
one possible aggravation, and that was the poisoning the
sources of public intelligence, by 1mposing upen those offi-
cers ont whom the people of this conutry were wont to place
the most implicit confidence. ‘I'his crime, in its most en-
larged view, did he charge against the defendants, and this
charge would he undertake to prove.

In undertaking a task apparently so diflicult, it was not
to be expected that lie would bring forward the accomplices
of the conspirators, Such was uot the character of his evi-
dence, por was it necessarv; but he would prove the guilt
of these delinquents by that which he coneeived tobe as sa-
tisfactory, if not more satisfactory, namely, by circumstan-
tial evidence. e wonld undertake to bring home the case
to every oue of the defendants, and to prove, that every indi-
vidual of them acted in the furtherance of one extensive cons
spiracy, in such a clear and incontroveriible manner, as {o
leave not a shadow of doubt upon the minds of those who
Lieard him, and with as much certainty as if he had brought
the witnesses before them who had participated in the com-
mission of the crime. It was difficult, at this moment, for
the jury to carry .back their minds to the critical time at
which the couspiracy was commenced. Such a task, how-
ever, must he impose upon thems. At that time, that man,
for whom all Europe seemed to be teo smail, was placed in
~asituation, upon the result of which depended the salety and
happivess of the civilized world. At that mmoment was every
man waiting with breathless expectation, and every heart
panting for a confirmation of those hopes, which the inte-
rests of their country taught them to entertain ; this eritical
moment it was, when the funds were so liable {0 be affect-
ed, and whea the propagation of false news for & single houy
might be attended with such incaleulable mischiefs, that the
defendants had thought proper to put theiy fraudalent
schemes into effect. .

D%
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The first person, and main agent in this conspiraey, was
fi‘har}es Random de Berenger, a fit person for such an of-
fice; he is a foreigner by birth, and resided long in this
country ; he was calculated, thercfore, to pass for a foreign
officer. He had been for thirteen or fourteen months ves
sident in the rules of thé King’s bench prison; he was a
Convenient man, therefore, after the scheme was effected, to
Convey out of the country. This gentleman, it would be
found, made kis appearance a little alter midnight, on the
morning of the 21st of February last, at Dover. He was
first scen inquiring for the ship hotel, to which he was
shown. He was dressed in a military great coat, under
which he wore scarlet uniform, a medal being huog from
his neck, and a star exhibited on his hreast.—QOn his head
he wore a dark fur cap, trimmed with broad gold lace. He
saxd he was aid-de-camp to Lord Cathcart, and just ar-
rived from Paris, bearing the most glorious news.——1hexe
had been a decisive battle—he said Bouaparte had been kill-
ed by the Cossacks, and the allies had entered Paris. Ha-
ving communicated these gratifying details, he called for a
sheet of paper to write a letter to the port admiral, which
he despatched to that hon. character by express. On be-
ing pressed by different persons for the particulars of the
battle, he complaived of being fatigued, and ordered a post
chaise and four to the door immediately. He oflered to pay
the laudlord with seme gold Napoleons, but as the landiord
did not know their value he scrupled taking them, upon
which this foreign messenger produced some one pound
bauk of England notes, with whieh he paid his account,
and sct off for Liondon. On his.arrival at Caunterbury, be
‘paid the post-boys a Napoleon each lor driving quickly, say»
iug he wished to get to town before the expresses which he
expected would be, and aetually were, sent off from Dover,
and some of which actually arrived in London hall an houy
before him. ¥t might here be necessary to read the letter
which was sent to the port admiral.—(The learned
counsel then read the letter set forth in the 1st count of the
iadictment. }—"This was punctually delivered, and nothiog
but the haziness of the weather prevented the telegraph from
being set to work, in which case the conspiracy must have
‘been complete, as (ke admiralty weuld then have been the
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propagators of this fraudulent invention. When Mr. De
Bourg, aitas Mr. De Berenger, set off from Dartford, he
desired the postboys to drive as fast as pessible; but w .en
he liad proceeded three wiles of the road lie said they need
not drive quite so fast, saying that the telegraph would, long
before he reached town, have communicated the glorious
news of which he was the bearer, to government. Lhe
postboys, however, assured him the morning was too hazy,

and drove on. Ingoing up Shooter’s hiil, hie condescended
to be more familiar with the drivers, who had got off their

horses, and walked by their sides. He talked of the news
with them, desired them vot to mention it as they went up,
but gave them full permission to detail it on their return,
and then kindly gave them some wine, which he had brought
with him in the chaice from Dover. After this he asked
the postboys which was the nearest hackpney coach stand teo
Loudon? They answered, there was one at the Bricklayer’s
Arms.  This, however, he said, would not do; and, under-
standiug there was one at the Marsh gate, he desired them
to drive thither. They accordingly obeyed his instructions,
but were very much su prised, on crossing St. George’s
Ficlds, to observe their passenger had pulied up the blinds
of the chaise. On arriving at the Marsh gale, they found
only ore coach upon the stand, into which Mr. De Berene
ger stepped from the chaise, first giving the posiboys two
Napoleons for themselves, T'his was at two o'clock in the
morning. Very soon after the news was carried to the
Stock Exehange, where business had begun at the prices at
which the Fuuds had left off on Saturday. The price of
emoium was 271, In a quarter of an hour it was announs
ced that a messenger from Paris had arrived in town from
Bover, and the ncws which he had brought was stated in
detail. The effect of this was to raise the-price of omnium
0 30. At twelve o’clock, however, no messenger having
arrived in the city from government, the price fell again to
29. At ore o’clock, however, the fullest confirmation was
aifforded by an auxiliary to the main plot, and a most ne-
cessary auxiliary it was: at that hour a postchaise and four,
in which were thyee persons, two of whom were in French
regimentals, drove through the city ; their horses were de-

torated-with white ribands, and as they went along, they dis~
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(mbuted little billets confirming the statement which had at.
ready beea circulated. They dreve over Blackiriar's br iige,
and, what was very extraordinary, stopped within a hundred
ymds of the spot where tlle pretended De Bourg finished
his career in the morning ; folded up their cocked hats in &
handkerchief, put on mtmd ones, and walked off. This ma-
neeavre produced the strongest feeling ol enthusiasm, and
the funds, which had before been (hoapm suddenly rose to
32L. "T'his delus‘on lasted, however, but for an hour; for
by that time messengers, who had been despatched to the
goverument offices returned, and stated that the whole was
a gross deception. ., The consequence was, that the funds
instantly fell to thelr original price. The plan, however,
had so far succeeded, that many persons had been defraud-
ed to a very considerable extent.

The Stock Exchange Committee, indignant at such an
anominable imposition, laudwbly deternuu(d to use every
exertion to discover the parties accessary to it; and the
ascertained these circumstances which he had already de.
tailed with respect to Mr. De Bourg, and farther that the
second postchaise was an underplot, meant. to assist, as it
effectually did, the main plan, in which De Bourg had acted,.
This chaise-had only come from Northifleet, and the parlies
within it were My. Sandom, a spirit merchant at Northfleet,
Mr. Alexander M‘Rae, a person in dependent circumstan-
ecs, and Mr. Lyte, a navy agent, and also a poor man.
Mr. M‘Rea and Mr. Lyte were the persons who personated
the two French officers. Mr. M<Rae, it was discovered,
lodeged in Fetter lane; and on the Saturday before the 21st
of February, he took to his lodgings two great coats and
some white ribands, which he employed his wife to make
into cockades. On being asked what was meant by these ?
He said they were to take in the flats. On the Suunday
he quitted his lodgings, saying, he was going down to
Gravesend By water; and on the Monday he returned;
ahout two o’clock, bringing with him one of the great coats,
the white lining of which was immediately taken out, and
another subst:tuted the white cockades were hurnt; and
M- Rae, who had before been labouring under great distress,
was suddenly found to bhe quite the reverse. On being ask-
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he said, **if he had oot taken 1, somebody else would.,”

I his was not all with respect to this part ol l}iﬁapl(}t_’
however; for it would appear, that ou the Monduy previous
to its execution, Mr. M -Rae had had an interview with a_
person named Byng, to whom he proposed to lake part in
a pian for raising the funds, and offered bim 100L for bis
assisiance. Mr. By ng, however, indignautly reiused the
ofier; but he did furiish Mr. M*Rae with some little French
phivasesy, which, it would be proved, were the Very p'm'ﬂseﬁ
that had beeu thrown from the chaise window as it passed
through the city ; and it was finally ascertained, that San-
dom, M‘Rae, and Lyte, had been empleyed immediately
by Mr. Holleway, a wine merchant, who bad a little deal-
ing in the funds, to the amount of 40,0004 omnium, which
he sold out on this auspicious oceasion. 'T'his, however,
was merely a part of a whole plot, of which one was the
basis, and the other the superstructure ; and the jury would
find such a coincidence in all the circumstances of the two
plans, that they would be satisfied they only formed two
- parts of.one whole, and were not two conspiracies, but cne.
Further inquiries led to more important results ; the Stock
Exchange Committee made it their busipess to ascertain
to what place De Bourg went after he quitted the post
chaise. They found out the hackpey céachman, who had
driven him, and who, by his order, proceeded direct to No.
13 Green street, the house of Lord Cochrane, aind it was
pot immaterial to mention that Lord Cochirane had resided
in this house but three days; the intimacy which subsisted
between. his lordship and Mr. De Bourg, alias De Berens
ee v, must, theiefore, hiave been of a very close description,
Mr. De Bourg, on his arrival, asked fer Lord Coclivane, he
was informed that Lis lordship was gone out to breakfast
in Gireat Cumberland Street: his lovdship was sent for,
however, and scon jomed Mr. De Bourg. Having thus
traced this potable messenger into the house of Lord Coch-
rare, the next thing to be inquired into, was, whether Lord
Cochrane could have an interest in the succees of the plot ?
T his inquivy wounld lead to the sipgular and extraordinary
discovery, that this efficer, who had so highly distinguish.
ed himsell in the sevvice of his country ; who had been ap.
pointed to an important command ; who was the represent-
ative of .t.he city of Westniinster ia paritament; aad who

,



- should not be found in a situation in which his honest juda-
- meut could be biwssed, was a deep speoeulator in omutam,
- and had been soonly one week belore this nefarious copspi-
- _racy was consummated. Oa the Mouday morning, when
- De Berenger arrived ia London, he had a large halaace in
~ his haads, aad ou that Monday he sold all of which he wus
possesscd.  When the court learned this he appreheunded
they could not bat feel that 1t was not an accideatal circams-
stance which led De Berenger to his lordshin’s house, and
that his lordship was deeply interested in the success of the
piot which bl been formed, scemed to be equaliy evidest.
'i'he inguiry, however, did not ead there; it was discoverad
that Lord Cochivane had ret 2lone been concerned in these
nefarious proceediogs, bul that he was connected with one al-
most as Ingh in rank and respectability ; he meant his lord-
ship’s uncle, Mr, Cochrane Johastone, and to him was added
a third person, a Mr, Butt, who had been a ¢lerk in the navy
office. It would appear, that all these persons had pur-
chased stock immediately previous to the 21stof February,
to an immense amount ; on that day they sold all out; and
8o uniformly had they acted, that when one bought 25,0007,
the other did the same; and when another bonght 95,000!,
a like sum was purchased by his companions. IFrom
the evidence which he should adduce, it would be found
_that these persons, on the Saturday preceding-the 2ist of
Fcbruary, were in possession of a balance, amounting in
consels and omnium to very near a million; and upon the
arrival of the news, they sold not only all, but rather move
than all, this sum. It would be farther found that Me,
Butt was the principal manager in all these transactions, [If
there was loss he paid it, and if there was gain he received
it. It wounld next appear that Mr. Cochrane Johnstone and
Mr. Butt were in the constant habit of transacting business
in 2 house in the immediate neighbeurhosd of the Stock
Exchanee; and that on the morning of the 21st of Fehru.
ary Lord Cochrane accompanied Mr. Cochivane Johnstane,
if not to this house, at least as far as Soow biil; and, finally,
it would be proved, that so anxious was Mr. Butt to self
out on this occasion, that he actuaily seld more than he was
really possessed of. M'he profit upon the immence sales
which had thus taken place, had amounted tolittle more than
10,000L ; but, if the telegraph had worked as had been
anticipated, that profit would have exceeded 100,0Q04, ; that
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it did not, no thanks were due to them or their agents, for
all hied been done en their part which could have been done
to effect this object. When all these discoveries were made,
the Committee of the Stcek Exchange drew up a Report
for the private infcrmation of their own members, which,
by some means, found its way into the newspapers, and
thereby attracted the eyes of all men towards those indivi-
duals, In consequence, Lord Cochrane, Mr. Cochrane
Johnstone, and Mr. Butt, thonght it requisite to make some
explanation. Mr. Butt expressed his indignant surprise at
the imputations cast upon his character by the commitiee
ef the Stock Exchange, and threatened the wlole of them
with actions. These threats had never been carried into
execution. Mr. Cochrane Johnstone, tco, had held forth
several threats, but they likewize failed.

The committee of the Stock Exchange had asserted that
he had taken an office in Shorter’s court, Throgmorton-
sirect, situated by the side door of the Stock Exchange,
congisting of thrce rocms, for Mr. Fearn. a Stock broker,
without ssking his permission, To this assertion Mr. Coche
rane Johnstone gave a flat denial, and said he wasready to
swear positively that he never did take the office, but that
Mr. Butt had given it to Mr. Fearn. He (M. Gurney)
was sorry to say that he should be. enabled to oppose posi-
tive testimony to this assertion, and to prove that he actu-
ally did take the office before the 17th of February. So
much for the denial of facts by Mr. C. Johnstone. TLord
Cochrane also felt it necessary to account for his condiete
and to that end came ferward with a voluntary affidavit,
for which, he was well aware, he was amenable to no I
nan tribunal. This aflidavit he (Mr., Guroey) would take
the liberty of reading.—(The learncd coupsel then read
the affidavit, which 1s inserted at page 11.) Here
Lord Cochrape had told them that at the time he was sent
for by De Berenger he was at Mr. Kine’s manufactory, He
had previously told them, that wken he received Mr. De
Berenger’s note, the signature was so close to the bottom
that he could not decipher it,  So {liat it would appear he
quitted the city in all haste to see a pereon whose name he
cou'd not distingnish——a very probable circumstanee! Then
oviginates an chservation 4hat this centleman, forsooth, could
not go to Lord Yarmouth in the dress he then wore. He
(Mr. Gurney) would ask, why the dress was not as fil te
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appear in before Liord Yarmouth as before Lord Cochrane ?
T'he dress, too, was still more objectionable for him to re-
turn in to his lodgings. Now he (Mr. Gurney) could well
imagine that such a dress might have exeéited suspicion
en his leaving his lodgings, but how it was to exciie sus-
picion on his return, he was at aloss to imagine. He eould
not help expressing his astonishment, teo, that Lord C.
should sce no wrong in assisting Mr. De Bereager to escape
from the King’s Bench, and therehy defraud his sureties,

The uniform of De Berenger, which Lord Cochrane
stated (o be green, also he (Mr, Gurney) should be enabled
to prove was scarlet. Mr, Gurney then adverted to the
affidavits published by John Smith and his wife, the servants
of Lord Cochrane, stating, that their master had slept at
home on the night of the 21st of February, both of which
he said he should be able clearly to coutradict. He then
went on to advert to the apprehension of De Berenger at
Leith; to the examination of his papers: and to the find-
ing of certain bank notes in his possession, which De Beren-
ger had since so frequently demanded; all of which, he
submitted, would tend most conclusively to prove the cone
nexton between De Berenger, Lord Cochrane, Cochrane
Johnstone, and Butt—a circumstance that would be more
strongiy confirmed by the bank notes, which he won!d dise
tinctly prove to have heen in the possession of these three
persous before the 21st of Febraary. He should also he
euabled to prove that Mr., Cochrane Johns‘one called at De
Berenger’s lodgings, and left a letter for him the very day
before his departure.

The fearne:d counsel then proceeded in this strain, to ar.
gue that e Berenger was the agent of Lord Cochrane,
My, Cochrane Johustone, and Mr. Butt; and that the other
persons who were concerned in the minor plot, were under
agents employed to give effret to the whole. In conclusion,
he called upan the jury to weizh the facts impartially, and

to give such a verdict ouly as justice demanded.

g
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EVIDENCE FOR THE PROSECUTION.
The first witness called was | - B

MR. MARSH, B 0
Landlord of the packet-boat public-house, at Dover, whe
stated that his attention had been attracted by a knocking
at Mr. White’s front door, about one o’clock of the morn-
ing of the 21st of February ; he weat out to look, aund saw
“a person of military appearance, in a gray great coa, and
red uniform under it, with a star upon it, similar to one now
shown the witness, who asked for a chaise and four, and
said, he wanted an express hovse to send to the Admiral at
Deal. He said he was the bearer of most important de-
spatches—despatches more important than had been brought
to this country for twenty years past. He came from
France, and had landed on the beach. Witness went to call
Mr. Wright, who keeps the Ship Inn. The witness came
back, and the person asked him for paper, and pens, and
ink. Witness got them for him, and he wrote uponit. The
witness asked if he should call the collector of the port, who
was in the habit of receiving arrivals; this, however, the
person declined. Two candles were brought into the room,
and he, the witness, was now able to see, that it was M. De
Berenger. [Here the witness pointed out M. De B. who
was in court. [—Mr. Wricht soon after came, and the wit-
ness left the room. At the time the witness saw M. De B.
he had a German cap on, with a gold fringe; (a cap was
here produced, and the witness said it resembled the cap
worn by the person at Dover.) |
Cross-examined by Mr. Park.—-He lived near the Ship
Tnn, and curiosity first induced him to go and agk the person
over ; but by the time the witness had got candles, Boots
had let him into the passage. Witness could not say whe-
ther the night was dark or star-light ; he saw him by the light
of the candles: and though he had never seen him before
or since, he was now able to swear Al. De Berenger was
the man,
MR. GORING,
a Hatter, at Dover, was at the house of the last witness;

he went out with Marsh, and saw a gentleman dressed as
%
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- described by last witness, who said he wanted a chaise and

- four. The witness afterwards saw the stranger in the par-
~ lour, and perceived he was dressed in a scarlet uniform, and
- had a star on his breast, and a lur cap on his head, The
- witness asked him what was the news he brought: He re-
- plied, the news was glorious ; but he, as a messenger, was
- sworntosecrecy. He then sat down to write a letter, and
- the witness remained some time; there were two candles on
the table, and the withess was now able to point out M. De
Berenger as the man.

b 8, D

_ MR. EDIS,
a Cooper, in the Viectualling-yard at Dover, was also at
the packet boat on'the morning of the 21st of February,
when a messenger arrived. His testimony was similar to
that of the two last witnesses; he also identified M. De
Berenger’s person, and spoke to the particular articles of
his dress.

~ W. 8T. JOHN

was at the Ship Ion, as a guest, on the 21st of February;
he had retired to rest; he heard a knocking at the door, and
a person calling out for a postchaise and four. Witness
hearing this, got up and came down stairs to the coffee-room ;
saw a gentleman in a military uniform. Witness described
his dress as the others had done, scarlet coat, gray panta-
loons, red silk sash, and gray military great coat; he had a
seal-skin cap on his head, and something resembling a star
on his uniform. Witness asked him if he knew any thing
of the arrival of Mr. Johnston, a messenger? He replied,
he knew nothing at all about it, and requested to be left to
himself, as he was extremely ill. The witness left the room,
but soon after went in again, when the stranger was writing
—Witness afterwards saw him get into the chaise, and in
answer to a question put to him by the witness, he said the
news he bronght was as good as any one could possibly wish,
He had seen M. De Berenger, who. was now in court, three
times ; he had no doubt he was the person he saw at the
Ship; at Dover; he saw him once at Westminster-hall by
accident, but was not in Court when he pieaded.

Cross-cxamined—He certainly went to Westminster-
hall at the request of Mr. Oakes, a gentleman belonging to
the Stock Exchange. He pever had any connexion with
the Stock Exchange; he was connected with a public chari~
ty. He had corresponded with a newspaper, but he should:
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not have communicated such news as this to the Stock E{-:
change. He went to Dover at the desire of a proprietor of
an evening paper. He had aonother ?hiect also in going o~
Dover; he wished to get early intelligence to enable him to =

make out as much of a little omnium he had as he could.

WILLIAM IRONS

was here called; and the witness was asked if he knew
him. The witness recoguised him as being the boy sent
with the despatches to the port admiral at Deal. William
frons stated, that he took the despatch delivered to him to
the port admiral at Deal (Admiral Foley.) Mr. Wright
gave him the letter.

ADMIRAL FOLEY

received a letter by the hand of his maid-servant about
three o’clock in the morping of the 21st of February. Iie
read it, and enclosed it in a letter to Mr. Croker, the secre
tary to the admiraity. The letters produced were the let-
ter he received from the boy, and that written to Mr. Croker
by himself. He got up instantly, and would have telegraph-
ed the admiralty, but could not, the weather was so hazy.

Mzr. Park here took an objection. There was, he said
a chasm in this part of the evidence, owing to the absence
of Mr. Wright; which prevented the letter in question be
ing traced to De Berenger. How could it be proved that
this was the letter delivered by De Berenger to the land-
lord, te be forwarded to Deal; or how did it appear that
this was the letter delivered by the boy to Admiral Foley’s
maid-servant ? T _

Serjeant BesT also supported the objection. - X

Mr. Gurney said, he would remove the objection, by
proving’the letter to be the hand-writing of D¢ Berenger—
for this purpose, |

MR. LAVIE

was called, who solemnly stated, that he believed il was;
Mr. De Berenger’s hand-writing. _ ,

- The letter to Admiral Foley, containing a statement of
the pretended successes of the allies, was then read, |

_ MR. WRIGHT,
Yaudlord of the crown inp, Rochester, recollected a post-

L
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paring. Witness had some conversation with him. Asked
him the news he brought, to which he replied? ¢ The
business is all done; it is settled.” “ How!” “He is
dead!” “ Who is dead?” * The tyrant Bonaparte.”—
¢ Js it certainly true?” <1t is; butif you doubt my word

you had better ask no more questions.” He then proceed-

ed to detail the success which the allies had obtained. Bo-
naparte, he said, had been taken by the Cossacks, and his
body divided in pieces. The allies were in possession of
Paris. He further stated, that he was aid-de-camp to-one
of the emperors, and had been present in the field of battle.
He paid hisreckoning with a INapoleon ; declining to take
any change, desiring something to be given to the servants,
T he witness was desired to look round the court, and if the
person he had been alluding to were present, to point him
out, After-looking round the court, he pointed to M. De
Berenger, aud said, * That is the man.”

T. SHILLING,

the lad who took the chaise from Dartford, deposed that he
drove the wheel horses, Before the witness quitted Dart-
ford he heard the waiter ask the gentleman if he brought
good news:; who said, “ Yes, Bonaparte is dead; the Cossacks
fought for.pieces of his body as if they had been fighting
for gold.” When they arrived at Bexley, the gestleman
asked the witness if the tclegraphs could work ; the witness
said they could not, the weather was so hazy. He then
desired they would say nothing of the good news he
brenght; be had sent a letter to the port admiral at Deal,
as he had been ordered te do, to have the news telegraphed.
Nothing more was said till the chaise arrived at Shooter’s.
Hill, when thie witness and his fellow-servant alighted, and
the gentleman gave them part of a bottie of wine and some
cakess he inguired if there was not a coach stand in the
L:imbeth road: and on being answered in the affimmative,
desired to be taken there, When they arrived there, how.
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ever, there was no coach on the stand, and they proceeded
to the Marsh-gate, where he ordered the chaise to draw up
by the side of a coach, and let the step down; witness did
80, and he stept out of the chaise immediately iato the
coach; and after he was seated gave the witness two Na-
poleons. Witness knew the coachman ; his name was Craig.

On his cross-examination, he said, he heard of the reward
offered for the discovery of those concerned in the hoax, al-
most as soon as it was offered.

W. CRAIG, ;.,
driver of the hackney-coach No. 111, recollected taking up %
a fare at the Marsh-gate, onsthe 21st of February, from a |
chaise and four; drove to Grosvenor Square; and when

there, was ordered to No. 13 Green Street, where the gen-
tleman got out.

G. ODELL,

a fisherman, was dredging for coals, off Old Swan Stairs,
the latter end of March last, when he fished up a parcel tied
up in a chair cover, consisting of fragments of a suit of
clothes, a star, some silver and gold lace, &c.; it was sunk
with some stones and pieces of lead. Witness took the
parcel to Mr. Wake, at the Stock Exchange.

SOLOMONS,

military accoutrement maker, Charing-Cross, recollected a
person coming to his house on Saturday, February 19, to
}mrchase a military dress. 'I'he witness had examined the
ragments found in the river, and as far as he could judce,
they were fragments of those he had sold. Could not say
if M. De Berenger was the person to whom he sold them;
that person had whiskers; M. De Berenger had none nows

MRS. DAVISON,

in February last, lived near the Asylum. M. De Berenger
ledged with the witness, and finally quitted her house on
the 27th of February. Did not see him on Sunday the
20th. Could not say he slept at home on that night. She
did not see him till the afternoon of Monday.

Mr. GurNEY said. he would now proceed to the second

part of the conspiracy.

8
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B;ated that in cousequence nf a note he received from
e Carulma coffeehouse, cn the 14th of I?Lb[‘udl), he

i";’i?fl_neans of making a deal of money ; he said he had a scheme
*'m coutf*mplalwn, he was employcd by men of affluence and
~ consequence ; it was one in which there was no moral tur-
pltude, but was daily practised by men of character; it was
only biting the biter, or, in other words, a hoax on the
Stock Exchange. It Imght be done by going to Folkstone
or Dover, and should be done that evening, and it would be
necessary to have foreign dyesses. The witness said, he
would not do it ; but he (the witness) could perhaps irtre-
duce him to one who would. They accordingly set out for
the Jamaica coffeehouse when M‘Rae tuined round, and

would not go. ‘L'he witness made this proposition in order
to obtain some witnesses of the proposal.

SARAH ALEXANDER

lives at 61 Fetter Lane. M*‘Rae lodges on the same floor
with the witness. On Sunday, the 26th, he went out in the
morning, and on his return brought two cvats, dark blue,
done with braidings or ornaments, and two opera hats. He
went out again, and returned with some white riband, and
made it into cockades. He said it was to deceive the flats.
e then said he must go to Billingsgate, as he was to start
for Gravesend at three. Witness saw him again next day
at two o’cleck. He was in his own clothes. He said he
had been at Northfleet. Mr. M‘Rae was poor previous to
this, but afterwards the witness saw. him with a 10/, and
one pound notes.

MR. FOXALL

keeps the Rose at Dartiord. He received the letter from
Mr, Sandom, and in consequence, sent a chaise to Northfleet,
which, on return, contained two gentlemen, with whlte
cockades, and Mr. Sandom with them. The witness for-

warded them in another chaise to town. The chaise was
erdered to W estminster. |

F. anwm,

a post-hoy at the Rose, proved that Sandﬂm came f-mm
MNorthfleet on the morning in question: and the witness took
him and two other gentlemen to town.. 'The chaise wasor-

dered over London bridge, down Lombard-street, along
-
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Cleapside, over Blackfriar’s Bridge, down the New Caut,
and when in sight of the Marsh-gate Turnpike, they weére

ordered tostop. 'Theiwo persons with Sandom had milita-

1y coats and hats on, and white cockades, and the horses
were covered with laurel. When they stopped near the
- Marsh-gate, they got out, took off their cockade hats, tied
them up, and put on round ones and walked away.

MRER. FEARN.

The witness was a stock-broker; had known Mr. Butt
several years ; was introduced by him te Lord Cochrane and
Mr. Jehnstone.« In February last, he was employed by
them to purchase stock. The witness had then an office,
No. 86 Cornhill. Mr. Butt had then an office in Sweet-

ing’s Alley, from February 12 to 19. Witness saw Mr.

Butt at both offices daily, frequently in company with

Lord Cochrane and Mr. Cochrane Johnstone. Witness fre-
quently took orders from Butt for Cochrane Johnstone, and
the latter always recognised them. On the evening of the
19th, Lord Cochrane’s balance, in omnium, was 130,0001.
Mr. Johnstoue had, on the same day, a balance of 120,0001
his consels 100,000/, Mryr. Butt’s omnium, on the same
day, was 154,000.L and his consols 168,000L. On the
morning of the 21st, the witness sold them all. On that
day witness removed to a new office, No. 5 Shorter’s
Court, close to the side-door of the Stock Exchange. There
were three rooms; the witness had one and a small closet;
Lord Cochrane, Mr. Butt, and Mr. Johnstone, had another
room; Mr. Lance had the third room. Mr. Lance was
generally employed by Mr. Johnstene. Mr. Johnstone took
it of the witness for an office. Mr. Johnstone took a room
for him there.. On Monday the 21st they were at the of-
fice, Mr. Butt and Mr. Jehnstone as early as ten o’clock,
at which time business on the Fxchange hegins. Consols
for time opened on Monday as they leit off on Satarday. It
was pear eleven before any good news arrived. Heard Bo-
naparte was killed ; this news had immediate effect on the
funds. Witness had previously begun to sell ; began at 291
up to 304 Consols began at 701 and rose to 725,  Wit-
ness received his orders for sale from Mr. Johnstone and Mr,
Butt, In the course of the morniug, vitness heard of a

posichaise coming threugh the city 5 could. oot say if they
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~ rose in consequence of that. About two o'clock the fands

fell again, the news nol proving true,

Cross-examaned by Mr. Sergeant Best.—Lord Cochrane,
Mr. Johustone, and Mr. Butt, had, previous to February
19th, bought and sold hundreds of thousands of omniumi;
They began these speculations as early as November, The
witness had orders always tosell when he could make a pro-
fit of one per cent. He believed he beganto scll on the
morning of the 21st before he saw Lord Cochrace, Mr.
Butt, or Mr. Johnstone. Witness had expressed a wish to
have the counting-house taken for him in Shorter’s Court,
and it was accordingly taken for him. He liked the situa-
tion, and had it still; his name had been up ever since the
21st of February. |

MR. BAILEY

was calleéd, and put in a statement, drawn up by him, of the
various purchases and sales, together with the days on which
both had been made by the parties concerned. On the 19th
of February, the gross balance of Mr. C. Johnstone’s om-
nium was 420,000L. his consols 100,000l ; Lord Coch-

rane’s omnium was 130,000 ; Mr. Butt’s omnium was
200,000L. his consols 178,0004.  The gross balance of all
these was 759,000 omnium, and 278,000L. econsols. If
omnium had been re duced to consols, would be 1,611,430
three per cents. Upon that amount the fluctuation of a
single eighth would be more than 2,470/,  'I'he whole pro-
fit made by the sales of all the three, on the 21st February,
amounted to 10,450L.  If the news had not arrived, so
large an amount could not have been sold without depress-
ing the market. The news arrived at about half past ten
on the Monday morning. In the middle of the day the
prices fell, but they were raised again by a sort of confir-
mation given by a postchaise, which was driven through
the city with laurels and white cockades, which raised the
rearket higher than it had before been.

Lord Coc:hraue’s affidavit was then read,

MR. LE MARCHANT
was the next witness. He had beeun acquainted with Cap-
tain Berenger for about 18 months. Berenger had often
told him that it was his intention to go to America, and
eettle there. “Kpowing his embarrassments, he asked him



Cochrane had kept a private purse for him, being a per cent-
age for money made in the funds by advice that he gave;
this conversation took place between the 10th and 16th of
February, and, as he thioks, upon the 14th. e often spoke
of his intimacy with Lord Cochrane and Mr. C. Johnstone.
~ On cross examination, he admitted the letier to Leord.
Cochrane requesting a loan of money; and said, that he
had no correspondence with Lord Cochrane, except by let-
ter. Being asked by Mr. Best, whether he would have
given this evidence if Lord Cochrane had given him the
loan, he answered that he certainly would not in that case
have €ome forward, unless he had been compelled to do seo s
but, if brought forward, he could not answer otherwise.
Being asked about his place, and whether he was not sus-
pended by government, he said positively, that he did not
conceive himsell suspended, but kept merely to give evi-
dence. He said, that upon this oceasion, it was not he
who applied to the Stock Exchange, but they had applied
to him. ;
THE HON. ALEXANDER MURRAY

was next called. He was himselt a prisonerio the King’s
Bench, and had been acquainted with Berenger for about a
year and a half. He had often heard Berenger speaking of -
his intimacy with Lord Cochrane and Mr. Cochrane Johu-
stone. He thought that it was about the latter end of Ja-
puary that Berenger had said that he had a planin his head
which would put many thousandsinto the pockets of Lord
Cochrane and Mr. Cochvane Johnstone. He said to him,
this must be like your plan of a Renelagh, Ch no, said
Mr. De Berenger, it is a much better thing.

On his cross-examination, he said that Mr. De Berenger
was a man of considerable talents and taste, and had been
consulted by Mr. Cochrane Johnstone on a plan of building
something, to be called either Vittoria or Ranelagh, in the
neighbourhood of Alsop’s buildings, Mv. De Berevger had
drawn a plan, and a very beautiful plan, of this idea. He
believed Mr. De Berenger to be a man of honour and inte-
grity, and a perfect gentleman,

| ~ J. FARNEY,
aservant to Mr. Basil Cochrane, proved, that Berenger-had
visited at that house, and that Mr. Cochrane Johnstone had
heen present at times when he was thevre. --
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The clerk to the marshal of the King’s Bench stated the
names of the persons who were security for Berenger for the
rules. There was a Mr. Cochrane, a booksellér, who was
no relation to Lord Cochrane, and the gentleman who was
now his attoraey. -

On his cross-examination, he said, that he did not see
Berenger on the 21st of February.

The officer who arrested Bereneer at Leith, in conse-
quence of a warrent from the Secretary of State, proved the
memorandum-book and the several parcels of bank notes
that were taken either on his person or in his writing desk.

On hiis cross-examination, he admitted that a gentleman
irom the Stock Exchange, who was present at the arrest,
told Berenger that it was other men on whom they expect-
ed to fix gailt, or something to that effect.

A very loug course of evidence was then gone iato, for
the purpese of tracing the notes found upon Berenger.

MR. SMALLBONES, 4 |
a broker, proved, that on the 19th of February he had

given a check to Lord Cochrane for 470l. 19s. 4d. for

stock sold.
MR. WORMBY,

elerk of the house on which the check was drawn, proved,
that in payment of that check he had givena 200L note,
No. 634; a 1004. note, No. 18,468, and the rest in small
notes. - |

| MR. LANCE
proved the changing of the two 100L notes, for which he
received two hundred 1J. notes, which bhe gave to Mr.
Butt. | |

On his cross-examination, he said, that he knew that
Lord Cochrane had borrowed 200L from Mr, Butt a short
time before. (The tendency of the cross-examination was
to show, that if, in this instance, 200l. of Lord Coch-
rane’s money went first into the hands of Mr. Butt, and
afterwards to Berenger, it had been only handed over by

Lord Cochrane to Butt in payment of a debt due to him.)
JOHN BILSON,

‘a clerk inf the Bank, proved, that on the 24th of February.
‘the two notes of 100[. each, Iast mentioned, were changed

at the Baok for two hundred 1L notes,
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A parcel of 40 notes, fonnd in Berenger’s desk ; auother

parcel of €7 notes, found in his writing case, beside what
were in his pocket, were then examined by two bank clerks
who were present, and compared them with their books;
and they were identified to be notes that were issued among
the two hundred 1.. notes which had been given to Mr.
Butt’s clerk in exchange for the two 100l notes.

MR. BROMBY,

a watchmaker at Hull, proved that he had sold Mr. Beren-
oer a watch for 30/ which was paid for iu notes of one
pound each, upon which he had put his initials.

UUpon being shown two watches that were found in Mr.
De Berenger’s writing desk, he said, that neither of these
had beeu sold by him.

MR. LANXCE

also proved the presenting a check drawn upon Messrs.
Prescott and Co. for 90/. He had received in payment,
and handed over to Mr. Butt, a bank note of 50/ and ano-
ther of 40/, which was No, 6,268.

MR. BENJAMIN BRAY

proved, that, at Sunderland, he had given chaoge of that
401, note to Mr. Berenger, who then passed under the name
of Major Byrne. He had no other bank of England note
for 40!. in his possession for a considerable time, and, there-
fore, he could speak positively to it.

After some more evidence as to tracing the notes, the
case for the prosecution was closed at about 12 o’clock.

Mr. PARK, on the part of the defendant, Berenger, sug-
gested the propriety of adjourning the trial, not on account
of the fatigue that the counsel had endured, but for the ends
of justice, in order that the case of the defendants might be
fairly heard.

Lord EvrLeEnsorovucH said, that, for his part he was
ready to go through with the trial, but sheuld vot object to
its being adjourned till to morrow. He wished, however,
that the delence should be gone into, in order that some
witnesses (alluding to Lord Melville and others who had
been subpeenaed) who could pot, without great public in-
- eonvenience, be ebliged to attend another day, might be ex-
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~ amined. When that was done, if it was considered conyes

nient to adjourn, he had no objection.

DEFENCE.

Mr. Sergeant Best addressed the court on the part of his
~ clients, Lord Cochrane, Mr. Cochraune Johustone, and Mr.
Butt, who were not, he wished it to be understood, at all
willing to avail themselves of any legal objection to the mode
- of prosecution instituted against them, but anxious only to
establish upon that fair trial which they had every reason to
expect, the inoocence and rectitude of their conduct. . ‘T'he
question with them was not whether they were legally pro-
secuted or not, but whether they should retain their rank
and reputation in society, or whether they should be degrad-
ed and ruined for ever. For the decision of this question,
so important to the character and feelings of his clieats, he
fully confided in the justice and judgment of the court and
jury which he had the honour to address. That the offence
charged in the indictment was one of considerable magnitude,
he and his clients were ready to admit; and whether that
oifence was legally cognizable in that court or not, was a
matter of no moment to them. But he denied that his

clients were concerned, in any degree, in the conspiracy.
Whether Mr. De Berenger proved to be Colonel Du Bourg

or not; and the negative his learned friend (Mr. Park) was,
he understood, prepared to prove; still another question
would remain for the consideration of the jury, namely, whe-
ther his clients were connected with Colonel du Bourg?
That nosuch connexion was proved, or existed, he was ready
most confidently to maintain. ‘The first, as to Lord Coche
rape : the main ground relied upon to implicate his lord-
ship in this connexion, weas, the amount of omnium sold for
him on the 21st of February; forit did not appear that
any note found in the possession of Berenger was ever traced
into the hands of Lord Cochrane. Sure it was that some
of those notes were traced to the two other parties, and that
two of the notes given by Liavie to Lord Cochrane were after-




311

wards exchanged by Bult, and in part found upon Berey-
ger; but that was not evidence to implicate Lord Cochrane,
nor was there any evidence to show by whom those notes
were given to De Berenger. 'Then, as to the sale of stocks,
it appeared from the evidence that thatsale was made 1n
consequence of a general order from Lord Cochrane to his
broker, to sell out at any time that the stock should rise
one per cent above that at which he had purchased, and
not in consequence of any particular order for the 21st of
February, upon which day it mnst be obvious that the no-
ble lord could have realized tenfold, or mere, the sum said
to have been gained by him, had he been aware of, or con-
cerned in the alleged conspiracy. From some parts of the
evidence adduced for the prosecution, it would really seem,
and might be inferred, that Lord Cochrane had really en-
gaged in stockjobbing, for the first time, just before the 21st
of February, and with a view to the frand practised on
that day. Whether the noble lord should ever have en-
gaged in stockjobbing at all, was a question into which it
was not necessary at present {o enter; but he could have
no doubt that the neble lord would carefully abstain from
such connexions i future. Flowever, as to the commence-
ment of his transactions with the Stock Exchange, it ap-
peared that the poble lord dealt in the stocks as early as
November last. Of course, the inference to which he had
adverted was egregiously incorrect.

Mr. Wright told them, that when he prioted Lord Coch-
rane’s affidavii, his lordship said he did not believe De Be-
renger was the man, but if he was, ke hiad given the clue to
the Stock Exchange. Now, unless his lordship was so mad
as not to be accountable for liis conduct in that or any other
court, could he be so absurd as voluntarily to point out the
only man through whose sides he could be convicted, if
cuilty ? The learned sergeant then proceeded to comment
at considerable length on the narrative of the affidavit, aud
endeavoured to show, that in every eircumstance stated,.it
was either borne out, or not disproved by the evidence.
Even if De Berenger was guilty, that alone did not prove
that Lord Cochrane was a party in the conspiracy ; all the
intercourse that his lordship had had with him would be
much more naturally accounted for from their former inti-
macy, and the plausible story which De Berenger has told
of his desire of going out to America as a superintendant of
| 4
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‘marines, T'he circumstance of the colour of the coat De

Berenger had on, which was stated in the affidavit to be
green, though it had to-day been sworn (o be red, was a
mistake (if it was one) which might easily happen, because

- Lord Cochrane had been used to see De Berenger, who

belonged to a corps of sharp shooters, in that coloured uni-
form. The evidence adduced against his client, by no
means amounted to circumstantial evidence, which always
implied not one or two vague suspicions, but such a chain
of connected circumstances, that the facts could not be ac-
counted for, without supposing the guilt. Did it follow,
because Lord Cochrane sold out stock on the 21st of Feb-

- ruary, and because on that day a person called on him im-

plicated in a supposed fraud on the Stock Exchange, that
therefore his lordship was an accomplice in the fraud?
The affidavits of his lordship ought to have great weight.
These affidavits, it was true, were taken before a magis-
(rate ; but bis lordship must have been sensible that he was
as amenable for perjury, had they been false, as if they had
been taken in the court of King’s Bench itself. Should he
have made these affidavits, though conscious of guilt, he
was liable to be convicted not oily of conspiracy, but of
wilful and deliberate perjury. Nothing, however, had ap-
peared in evidence to invalidate these affidavits. The learn-
ed sergeant then took a view of the statements contained in
the affidavit, and contended, that there was no proof of his
lordship having been in the city that morning, but only at
the shop in Snow Hill, where he was accustomed to attend
in the morniongs, and where the messenger found him, in-
forming him of the arrival of the officer at his house. Had
Lord Cochrane been engaged in the conspiracy, it was not
at all likely that he wou!ld have gone back to his own house
to meet him so openly. He immediately returned, from an
idea that it was an officer from Spain. NMr. De Berenger
having called on Lord Cochrane proved nothing, as he should
Ee able to prove that Mr. De Berenger had repeatedly ap-
plied before to Lord Cochrane, to epable him to go out to
America. He contended that Le Marchand’s evidence was
not deserving of credit, and {o show this, commented on Le
Marchand’s letter to Lord Cochrane, requesting an advance
of money, and showed the incousistency of this letter with
the evidence he had given this day. The change of dress
that De Berenger requested was to enable him to go to
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Lord Yarmouth, and the admiralty; and whether Lovd
Cochrane had acted foolishly or not, in affording the change
of dress, his conduct was not unuatural in yielding to the
request. Why did De Berenger, it was asked, go to Lord
Cochrane’s? Supposing Mr. De Berenger guilty, which
he was far from being, it would be evident that it would be
necessary for him not to go to his own lodgings, and there-
fore to aveid the scent of the hounds in pursuit of him, he
might go te Lord Cochrane’s under any pretence. But it
was to be observed, that De Berenger sent for Lim to a
vlace where the plot, supposing it to exist, conld be of na
service. It would have been much more natural for My,
De Berenger, to have gone to Snow-Hill to his lordship, as
being much nearer the scene where those inlamoas trausac-
tions were every day carried on. It had never been denied
that Mr. De Berenger was acquainted with Lord Cochranz;
hie was well received, as a man of learning and great attain-
ments by many persons of the first respectability in this
country-—such a-conspiracy was w1ly fit foramanii despe-
rate circumstances, and not for aman of honour and charac-
tery l1ke Liord Cochrane.

He next proceeded to the case of Mr. Cochrane John-
stone, where the same unfair proececedings on the part of the
Stock Exchange were equally observable, 'T'hey had stat-
ed, as an argument, the largeness of Mr. Cochrane John-
stone’s balances on that day, being 420,0007 bat on thie
14th these balances were as high as 600,000/, and were
reduced, before the day of the hoax, to 420,000L which was
uot likely to have been the case, had therc becn any plot
existing for raising the funds.  He began selling so early
as the 9th ; and even on the 19th, the day before the hoax,
sold 18,000/, 'I'he fact was, he was constantly buyiog
and selling, and had always instructed his broker to sell even
on a small profit. It was said, that he had gone into the
city that morning; but he was iu the habit of doing so
cvery Monday, Tuesday, and Wednesday morning. It was
argued, as a proof of the conspiracy, that they had cleared
among the three, that moraing, a profit of from nine to ten
thousand pounds; but the sales made by Mr. Coclirane
Johnstone alone, on the 16th, amounted to a profit of
8000/, 'The learned counsel then adverted to the ta-
king of the office, and disproved the evidence first given by
Mr. Fearne. The payment of a debt due to Mr. De Be-
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renger, and the advance of a lean by Mr. Coehrane John-
stone, would acceunt for the notes traced to Mr. C. John-
stone. | -

The same arguments would apply to Mr. Butt. There
was no evidence to show any connexion with De Berenger.
He had often seld stock before, as well as on that day.—
Mr. Holloway and Mr. Liyte had come forward and ac-
konowledged their own guilt, but they had said nothing that
could implicate his three clients. 1f they could, they cer-
~ tainly would have stated that the Cochranes were guilty, as
they not only would have got a parden, but even had they
done this, the 10,000/, would have been willingly -given
them by the Stock Exchange. Could they have done this,
they would have made them evidence on this eccasion. He
contended that there necessarily must have been some broker
or brokers concerned in the plot. 1t was rather extraordi-
nary, that notwithstanding the strong, and, he contended, il-
legal, measures, of breaking open De Berenger’s trunks, that
not a gingle letter or document had been produced as evi-
dence. 2

Mr. Parxk spoke in behalf of Mr. De Berenger, and cau-
tioned the jury against the prejudices that all the circum-
stances of the casc had a strong tendency to create.

~ Mr. Sergeant Perr then addressed the jury for the de-
fendants, Sandom, Holioway, and Lyte. He contended,
that although Holloway and Lyte had confessed that they
were implicated in a plot for raising the price of stocks,
vet there was no ground for suppoesing that it was any way
connecied with that of which the other defendants were ac-
cused. The only circumstance that at all appeared to con-
nect the act of hig clients with that carried on by the man
who called himself Be Bourg, was, that the chaises employ-
ed in both transactions drove to the same spot—the Marsh-
gate. Yet it would be recollected, that it was merely from
accident that the chaise of De Bourg drove to that place,
as he ordered the postboy, in the first place, to drive to the
Bricklayer’s Arms. where he found no hackney coach, and
was recommended by the posthoy to drive to the Marsh-
oate, as a place where it was possible that a coach could
be found. Tt had been said by Mr. Gurney, that it would

appear probable that Sandom and De Berenger had becomsg
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acquainted in the King’s Bench prison, but nothing of this
kind had been proved, and it was not even known that San-
dom had been in that prison at the same time with De Be-
renger. Sandom had, for nine months previous to the day
of the two transactions which were the subject of the pre-
sent trial, resided at Northfleet. As to any suspicion to -
be derived from the evidence of M‘Rue, it was very much
doubted ; as he offered, for an extravagaut sum, 10,0004
to make a discovery; neither was the evidence of Mr. Finn
to be relied on by any one who was in the habit of observ-
ing the manner of delivering evidence in a court of law.
T'his witness pretended to have asked whether there was
any moral turpitude in the fraud, which, he said, was pro-
posed to him, as if there could be any doubt on such a sub-
ject; and then, though he would not engage io it himself,
sald he would procure some one who would. There being
no evidence to prove the connexion of the Northfleet, with
the Dover plot, and much to negative it, he submitted his

case confidently to the jury.
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SECOND DAY.
Al twelve o’clock the trial re-comnicinced at Guildhall.

Mr. Broueuay commenced by moving, that several let-
ters which i:ad passed between L.ord Cociirane and Mr. Le
Marchand should be read.

The letters of e Marchand were read first, andc ontain-
ed a statement of circumstances communicated to him by
De Berenger, relative to the Stock Exchange hoax; and
also minutes of a conversation which Le Marchand stated
to have taken place between himself «nd De Berenger rela-
tive to the connexion between him, De Berenger, and Lord
Cochrane; and which was in substaiice the same as Le
Marchand had given in evidence yesterday. A letter was
also read from Lie Marchand to Lori Cochrane, requesting
a loan of money. 'This letter also contained a declaration
of the writer, that he was fully persuaded the whole oi De
Berenger’s statement of the pretended conversation hetween

him and Lord Cochrane was founded in falsehood.
LORD MELVILLE

was then called and examined; and stated, that Sir A.
Cochrane had made several applications to him on behalf
of De Berenger, to have him appointed to accompany him
i his command to America. 'T'hese applications were made
about six months ago. Sir A. recommended De B. as a
fit person to train a company of sharpshooters to be raised
in America; and also stated, that he should be content to
take De B. as an engineer. Lord Melville advised Sir A.
to apply to the secretary of state, and if he approved, he
(Lord Melville) would make no objection. Lord Coch-
rane was appointed before Sir A. sailed. _

COLONEL TORRENS

recollected an application beibg made to him, in the latter
end of December or begiining of January last, in favour
of De Berenger, by Sir A. Cochrane, recommending De
B. to be appointed to a command under him, in his expe-
dition to America. Great difficulties were started te his
appointment. | -



43

Loep ErLexeorovuaH could not see how these difficul-
ties had a bearing on the question now at issue.

Mr. Broucnam said, it was intended, by this evidence,
to show the cause of the communication which existed, and
had been so much relied on by the prosecutors.

Lorp EnLexBorROUGH. ¢ To do this, it is not neces-
sary to go into a history of the difficulties which impeded
his appointment.” |

Witness resumed. These difficulties had been found in-
surmountable, and De Berenger received no appointment,

MR. GOULBORN ¥,
stated, that an application had been made to him by Sir A.
Cochrane in faveur of De Berenger, for obtaining him a
situation in the colonial department. Et 1

Lorp ELLENBOROUGH said, this application was in writ-
ing, and should be produced, though he saw no advantage
which could arise from it. |

Mr. Parg. “ We only wish, my Lord, to show, that
there was a reason for the intercourse between Lord Coch-
rane and M. de Berenger, independent of any stockjobbing
transactions.”

- MR KING,

a tin-plate worker, was applied to by Lord Cochrane, last
summer, on the subject of manufacturing a new description
of asignal lamp, for which Lord Cochrane had since obtain-
ed a patent. Lord Cochrane was in the habit of coming
every day te the witness’ manufactory, No. 1 Cock-lane,
Snow-Hill. IHe was there on the 21st of February last.
He came about 10 o’clock, as he usually did. Witness
recollected bis lordship receiving a note on that day, whilst
in the maoufactory. It was about 11 o’clock when his
lordship received this letter, which he opened and read,
and soon after went away. It is about a mile and a half
from Cock-lane to Grosvenor-square. - His lordskip made
1o observation as to the note, except saying to the servant
“ Very well, Thomas.” £,
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THOMAS DEWMAN

has been servant to Lord Cochrane’s family for 19 years.
Recollects taking a note to Lord Cochrane en the 21st of
February, from a gentleman who came to his lordship’s
house on that day. - Witness never had seen the gentleman
before. Went first to Cumberland-street with the note,
and not finding his lordship there, he came back with the
note; when the gentleman, on the witness saying it was
possible his lordship might be at Mr. King’s, desired the
witness would take the note there to him. Witness did so,
and saw his lordship, who read the notey and the witness
came away and left him there. Ilis lordship had at that
time no other man-servant but the witness, in Green-street.
Davis, a man who had quitted his lordship a few days be-
fore was in the kitchen in Green-street, at the time the gen-
tleman came. Davis was now abroad with Admiral Flem-
ming. Witness does not know Lyte or Holloway.

GABRIEL TAHOURDIN

was solicitor to Mr. Cochrane Johnstone. 1In 1813, Mr.
C. Johnstone was engaged in erect'ng a building in a piece
of ground he had in Alsop’s buildings, to be called Vittoria.
The witness introduced Mr. De Berenger as a fit person to
plan such a building. In September, last year, Mr. De
Berenger had made considerable progress in that plan, and
had prepared a prospectus of the whole design ; and Mr. C.
Johustone, previous to his going to Scotland in October,
last year, made De Berenger a payment on account. Other
payments had since been made, but the witness did not
know of them of his own knowledge. In February last it
was settled what smin De Berenger was te receive ; on the
22d of February, Mr. C. Johnstone sent a letter to the
witness, inclosing one {rom De Berenger. The letters were
read. That of Mr. C. Johnstone stated, that it was the iiten.
tion of the writer to pay De Berenger, in the course of
that week, for his trouble; he wiched to know if the witness
had paid him any thing in addition to the 50l already
paid to him. The baron had applied for a loan of 2004
and offered certain security ; the writer wished to let him
have it, though he thought but little of the security. T
however, he should advance it. and never have it again, he

should have the pleasure of serving the baron,
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The letter of De Berenger was also read, and put it to
the consideration of Mr. Johnstone, whether 250/. would
be too isuch for the plans of “ Vittoria, &ec.”” The letter,
in addition, stated, that if he could obtain a farther sum
of 200, he should then be able to goto America, though
he laboured under considerable apprehensions least some of
his creditors should lodge detainers against him, as his in-
tention of going abroad “had been made rather too public.
1 he wiiness resumed he had some conversation with Mr.
Johnstone on the subject of these letters. - The receipt for
fifty pounds, dated 29th September, 1813, witmess took from
, De Berenger, and handed over to Mr. Johnstone The

other receipt for 2001 for dmwmﬂs, dated 26th February
last, was put into the witness’ hand three or four days after
it was dated. The witness did not pay De Berenger the
200. The note of hand put in, dated 28th of February,
1814, for 200L from De Berenger to My Cochrane John-
stone, the witness received at the. asnie time he received
the last-mentioned receipt. Beside the plans relating to
Vittoria, Mr. De Berenger bad been engaged in drawing
out subordinate plans for Mr. Johnstone. The witness was
acquainted with De Berenger some time before he knew
Mr. C. Johostone, therefere did not become security for him
at the instance of Mr. Johnstone. (The letter written*-by

Du Bourg to Admiral Foley was here put into the witness’
hand.) He was asked if he had a knowledge of De Beren-

cer’s handwriting; the witness said he had a thorough
}\HGWIE(]'H’B he had seen his letters a number of times, and
did not belle ‘e the letter now produced was De Berenger’s
writing; he believed De Berenger to be a man of strict ho-
nour and integrity.

Cross-examined by Mr. Gurney. W itness believes the
wrninﬂ' in the book now produced to be, part of it, De Be-
renger’s handwriting: can’t distinguish which: some part
of it looks more like than otbers ; ; "tis niot his general hand-
writing; the smaller part looks like his handwritmg I
don’t know what to say to the rest.

GENFRAL CAMPBELL

knows Mr. Johnstone, met him at the Perth meeting, durmg
the second week in last October; he then showed the wit.
ness some plaus and a prospectus of apew public build-
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ing, intended to be erected in the neighbourhood of the Re-
gent’s park, to be called ; « Vittoria” the plan now produced
was similar to that which Mr. C. Johuostone showed him.

LORD YARMOUTH,

Colonel of the duke of Cumberland’s sharpshooters; De
Berenger was acting adjutant ; his lordship has known him
sinee the beginning of 1811; witness had received many
letters from De B. and had seen him write, and was well ac-
quainted with his hand; (The letter to Admiral Foley was
here put into witness’ hand ;) if witness had heard nothing
of the pending transactions, and had seen the letter, he
shionld have said it was not M. De Berenger’s handwriting,
tiie character was larger and longer. A letter was here
produced which the witness received on the day of the date,
March 10th, or near that time; that letter was diiferent, the
character was less round; there was one particunlar cha-
racter which much resembled Mr. De Berenger’s writing,
that was the capital R. in the signature of R. De Bourg;
the R, generally made by Mr. De Berenger when signing
‘““ Random.”

Question by Lord Ellenborough. ¢ What is the uni-
form of your lordship’s corps?” Answer; ¢ The body of
the uniform is a deep boitle green with a red collar, a waist-
coat trimmed with fur, but no star or decoration resembling
that produced.” |

One of the jurymen. “ Would your lordship have been
sarprised, if M. De B. had appeared before you in the uni-
form of his corps ?”

Lord Yarmourn; ¢ Certainly not; I should have con-
sidered 1t as extremely proper for him to do so0.”

ESIR J. BERESFORD

had seen De Berenger twice, but had no koowledee of his
handwriting.  In the beginning of February, Sir A. Coch-
rane had represented the wish of De Berenger to go to
America. The witness mentioned the circumstance at the
Horse Guards, but was advised not to apply to the duke

of York, as no application on that subject could be attend-
ed to.
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MR. J. STOKES,

clerk to Mr. 'I'ahourdin, shown the letter to Admiral ¥o-
ley 5 did not think it at all like De Berenger’s handwriting.
T'he R. before alluded to did not at all correspond with De
Berenger’s mode of making that letter.

W. SMITH,

servant to De Berenger, had seen his master write {requent-
ly, and knew his hand well.—[The letter put into the wit-
ness’ hand. ]—Did not think it was De Berenger’s writing ;
was positively sure it was not his handwriting. Witness
had been servant to De Berenger three years and a half.
Was with him to the time of his quitting London on Sun-
day, the 27th of February. Witness well recollected his
master was at home on Sunday, the 20th of February ; he
slept at home on that night; he went out about eleven on
Sunday morning, but returned soon after, and continued at
home till four o’clock in the afternoon. Witness and his
wife went out soon after, and returned about eleven at nizht.
De Berenger was not then at home, but came in soon after,
and slept at home. Was certain of that circumstance, as
witness heard him go to bed. He did not breakfast at
home next morning, nor did witness see him at all on Mon-
day till about three o’clock.

Cross-examined by DMr. Gurney.—Said that he let him
in on Sunday night; (looked at a letter which he said he
had written to Lord Yarmouth of his own mind;) had his
military gray coat here; had never acknowledged that his
master slept out; had never said so to Mr. Murray, or to
Mr. Davidson; nor that he had left the key for him. Did
not attend his master in the moining; he was a gentleman
that wanted no attendance till breakfast; he was a qniet
man; remembered changing a 50L with Mr. Secks; re-
ceived it from Mr. De Berenger; received also 207 from
him the day before his master went finally away ; did not
tell Mr. Davidson that his master would have gone off ou
Saturday, if Mr. Johustone had brought the letter sooner ;
his master dined out on the 21st, but did not say where he
had been; saw a black coat that day which was not hig
master’s; drew the affidavit, which he made from his own
mind ; had seen no one on the subject; Lord Cochrane he



48

never saw; did not speak to Mr. C. Johnstone, nor Mr.
Tahourdin upon it : took the affidavit to Mr. C. Johnstone
afterwards.

Examined by Lord Ellenborough.—Said, he was sure his
master was at home on the Sunday evening.

MRS. SMITH,

the wife of the last witness, recollected Mr. De Berenger
being at home on Sunday, the 20th of February; he went
out about four, and she and her husband went ouf, and re-
turned about eleven. Her husband went in first, she stop-
ped to get some beer; her master was there when she re-
turned ; she made the bed always; she rose on Monday
about seven: he went out before breakfast, and before her
husband went out: she made the bed on Sunday, and on
Monday again, about twelve o’clock, after her master had
returned : the bed was as usual when he slept in it: did not
herself sleep in it: her husband did not: her husband and
she slept in their own bed. Her master had a black coat
on when he returned on Monday, and a bundle in his hand:

saw a great coat wrapped up in it.

Cross-examined by Mr. Rolland.—Said her master had
no other servants: never rang for water in his bed room to
shave: heused cold water. She was rather surprised that
he had not rung for breakfast on the Monday. On the
Sunday her master went out in a black coat: did not ob-
serve the coat on Monday, whether it was too large. She
made the affidavit of her own accord. Her masier some.
fimes went out in his green drill dress.  Did not know what
was done with her affidavit. Her master sometimes wore
whiskers, but she did oot know how often; she seldom saw

him.

JOHN M‘GUIRE,

hostler at Mr. Smith’s yard, at Chelsea, was well acquaint-
ed with the defendant’s person, and remembercd seeing him
on Sunday in question ; he remarked it was Sunday, because
Le was in the Rules; he had lived at Chelsea before that
time; it was a quarter past siX in the evening, at the yard-
gateway. He asked if the six o’clock coach to London
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was gone ; witness told him it was, and the seven would goim
three quarters of an hour; he said he would ot wait, andd
went towards London. Ie mentioned this to his wife that®
night, viz. titat he had seen Smith’s master af a quarler™
past six. The defendant weunt from Chelsea to the Rules.

On his cross-examination he said, he hzé known De Be-
renger 41 years. He teld the defendant’s servant, Smith, - ==
what he had seen on 6th March, and Smith said his master ‘:‘%{;
was not out of the Rules, and he was surprised at his being
seen at Chelsea; he had a black coat, gray waistcoat,and
overalls or pantaloons ; he had no whiskers. =

In answer to a question by Lord Ellenborough, he said,
he made the observation to Smith, because he thought it
wrong that the defendant should be out of the Rules. The
place was three miles irom the asylumn.

 THOMAS HOPPER,

architect, saw Mr. Cochirane Johnstone’s premises, Alsop’s
buildings, two nights ago; he looked at the plans, which
he likewjse saw then, and a prospectus for laying out the
Flan; he could not say what was a reasonable compensation
or the trouble of surveying, laying out, and planning, but
thought from 200/, to 300L might not be excessive.

" ANN M‘GUIRE,

wife of the last witness but oue, said, that her husband did
mention to her at the time what he had testified. It was
the Sunday before Shrove T'uesday, and her first child’s
birth day. Her lusband woudered whether the defendant
had got his liberty or pot. _ |

MR. TREGEAR

remembered being at Mr. Donathorn’s, cabinet-maker, York-
strect, Westmiunster, in February: he went on thej]?thf:
he let his house, 89 Holborn, on that day, and staid there
till now. He remembered seeing De Berenger there twice
- on the 20th very particularly ; the first time was between
nine and ten in the morning; the last between eight and
nine io the evening : he then staid there half an hour; the
witness had seen him there about making drawings of furni-
ture for Donathorn. The witness is out of business; he
was a hatter in Holborn: his wife and Mr. and Mrs. D..

were in the parlour in the evening; the defendant said
5
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- he would vot come m to ‘disturb the company, and retired
~ with Mr. D. The witness had no doubt of his person.
- On cross-examiunation, he said, he had not whiskers; the
- wyitness did not know whether he was used to wear them.—
~ He did not look so particalarly into a antleman s face as
~ tosee whether he had whiskers, T'he witness had himself
large whiskers. The defendant had a black coat that even-
- ing; he went into the garden with Mr. D.: he did not
~ know whether snow was on the ground: Mr. D. wanted
some alteration in the premises, and they went to look, at
nine o’clock in February. -He had never seen the defendant
with Mr. Tahourdin till last week: he did not know they
were acquainted before. The alterations in the garden were
not made yet. He went to Mr. Tahourdin with Mr. Dona-
thorn to become a witness ; he did not know before last week
that he was to be a mtnesa. He recollected the circum-
stance in the morning, because Mr. D. knocked at the door
where he slept, and said De B. was come.

In answer to a question from Lord ELrneNBorouGH, he
said he had lately justified as bail in small sums twice. He
did not recollect whether he had been bail oftener.,

MRS. TREGEAR,

wife of the last witness, said, that Mrs. D. called on her that
morning, as there was a gentleman comesto look over the
house ; she threw down the sash, and saw De Berenger in
the garden; she saw him again in the eveping between ﬂght
and nine; she is sure he was the man; he would not come
in, and walked backwardsinto the trarden with Mrs. D.

On her cross-examination, she smd it was not Mr. D. who
called then. She could not say whether Mr. D. or the de-
fendant applied the rood to measure the garden; it was a
wet morning, and the rain cleared the snow. They did not
afterwards come into the room,

MR. DONATHORN

wmembflm’l the last witness coming to live with him, and
very well sceing tiie defendant hetween nine and ten in the
morning in question.  He wauted to make some alterations
in his warden, and the defendant eame about other work,
Viz. furmshmﬂ' Miss Johnstone’s houge in Great Cumberland
street,  He also remembered the defendant’s coming in the
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evening; they went into the back parlour then, not into the
carden. He came again about the sagie business; the witss
ness was going to make the house an inn, and the garden' @™
pleasure garden ; the defendant was to make out a plan. fa
the morning they had a ten foot rod. 1t was a damp cold ™
morning, misty rain, and very cold.
On his cross-examination, he said the defendant came to
town as a friend of Mr. Cochrane Jolinstone. It wasthe =
witness that called Mr. and Mrs. D. T'hey afterwards went ==
twice over the bed room. Mr. Tahourdin was the witness’s
attorney by the desire of the Hon. Cochranc Johnstone,
who thinks himself very ill used by a sct of villains. The
witness has commenced 135 actions against persons of the

Stock Exchange; Mr. Cochrane Johnstone 1s to save him
harmless.

Mr. GurNey proposed to call the Hon. Mr. Murray ;
but Lord Ellenborough thought it unnecessary. ¢ If you
think this last part about the alibi requires a reply,” said his
lordship, « you disparage the jury.”

Mr. GurNey then replied. He said that the learned
Sergeant (Pell) who was concerued for the two defendants
who were implicated in what he had called the under plot
of this drama, had contended, that there were two separate
and distinct couspiracies, and had insisted upon the acquit-
tal of his clients upon this indictment ; and very properly,
if this were the case. But if there were two conspiracies,
then had miracles not ceased ; they were only two parts of
oue and the same conspiracy. In a conspiracy, it was not
necessary that every one of the partieg should know all the
others; it was enough if there was one general plan and
end, and if each had his part assigned. It was plain that
the parties in the second postchaise from Northfleet were
coguizant of part, if not of all the conspivacy. They were
seen lending themselves towards ifs execution. There was
their own testimony against themselves. The defendaat,
M*Rae, when the plan was ready to be divulged, came for-
ward to disclose, not a part of the conspiracy, but the whole.
T'he learned counsel for this defendant, who never abandon-
ed his clients, had surrendeved the defence of Mr. M‘Rae;
and the learned Sergeant (Pell) contended that the whole of
Messrs. Holloway and Lyte’s confession must be taken te-
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~ gether, and they had ‘expressly excluded the other partics,
- Ahe learned counsel then proceeded to comment upon the
fiefendants’ transactions at the Stock Exchange, and said,
~ that for them to get out without great loss, was in ieelf
- gain; for it would be recollected, that when the subsequent
- ill news arrived, omnium fell to 12 per cent.; and if this
- news had arrived on thie morning of the 21st of Februa-
1y, they would have been losers of 150,000/, As to their
~ former large puychases of omninm, when once a man begins
~ to buy, he must go on, to keep up the market ; but the mo-
~ ment the false news arrived, they sold all. It had been
- said, that, previously to this, they were buying in all di-
rections, and by all sort of brokers; they wanted more
than brokers thought it prudent to stake their credit upon
buying. | ,,
Upon the subject of the identity of the defendant, De
Herenger, an afipi had beea set up; but such a one as no man
tiving would believe, and no two witnesses agreed in. His
learned [riend (Mr. Park) had promised them the testimony
of two watermen who rowed the defendant across the
Thames on this day, and remembered the circumstance
{rom its being the first day on which the river was open.
"I'hey had not been produced; but even if they had, this
was a case unassailable by any alibi ; for, supposing the
defendani’s person had vpot been identified all the way as
it had been, the learned coursel had taken him up at Dover,
like a bale of goods, and had watched him all the way till
he delivered him at the house of Lord Cochrane, and took
. his receipt for him. It he had not been identified by the
boys all the way, he was by his Napoleons. Who was it
that went to Liord Cochrane’s? It was not pretended to be
other than Mr., De Berenger. If this had been a case in
which the lives of the defendants had been in question, in-
stead of the case of a misdemeanour, had not men been exe-
cuted upon less evidence than this ? If De Berenger was
De Bourgh, what became of all the criticisms on handwrit-
ing with which the court had heen occupied? Mr. Lavie
had rade repeated observation of the defendant’s handwrit-
ing, having eften seen him write, and made it with a view
to the very proof in question; and he positively swore he
believed the Dover letter to be in the defendant’s disguised
hand. But, whether it was written by him or not, it was
clear that be sent it to the admiral.of the fleet. The de-
fendant’s witnesses had sworn, that if did pot regsemble his

.:' HJ"



ordinary handwriting. No; he was not such a fool &
write as he wrote every thiug else. As Lord Yarmo
said, the letter in question was more angular and stiff. I
those who disguise their handwriting are sure to betray
themselves at the end of their task; and Lord Yarmou
testified that the capital R was like that of the defendant’s
signature of his name “ Random.” - | o

T'he learned Sergeant (Best) had laid a good deal of stresg =~

et
+

upon the defendant’s (Lord Cochrane’s) affidavit, who wz
said to be incapable of swearing falsely. = Mr. Gurney
should not have believed he could have done so some time
ago. But he had dealt largely in speculation, which had in-
volved him so deeply that there was no other way of extri-
catlon ; and then he involved himself still deeper in crime.
T'he great agent of this fraud had been traced to Lord Coche-
rane’s house in the dressof his fraud; and his lordship’s
affidavit as to the dress he wore was without confirmation.
His lordship said that he had a gray military great coat, a
green uniform, and a fur cap. Mr. Guroey had proved the
uniform to have been red. But theu it was said, his lord-
ship’s affidavit was made three weeks after the occurrence,
and that he had confounded the green uniform, which he
ordinarily wore, with the red one which he then wore. «Jf
I am to make an observation as to a man’s dress,” said Mry.
Guraey, ¢ give me the only time when he wears a particular
dress. The circumstance of De Berenger’s having then,
for the first time. a scarlet uniform, could not have escaped
Lord Cochrane’s observation. But if it had, there was the
star and medallion!” But it was said that De Berenger
could not wait on Lord Yarmouth in a green uniform, bee
cause, {orsooth, it was the uniform of his corps, and one in
which it would have been not etiquette to have gone! Lord
Coclirane, therefore, accommodated him with a black coat.
The affidavit aleo swore. that the signature of the gentleman
who sent for him was written so near the bottom of the slip
of paper that he could not read it; but it seemed that he
found room to write a postscript at the foo’ of it. Two of
Lord Coehrane’s servants hagd not been call-d to confirm hig
afiidavit; one of them, Davis, it wasstated, was gone abroad
with some admiral, but no reasen was given for not cailing
the maid servant. ,

- His lordship took credit for furcishing the ‘name of the
defendant, De Berenger; but when did his lordship give

*2

- T
ot
i
i
-+
1t T
“I_"a

' .
e



T R T e s
- i 3 ; = W ey
8 A Ll ! o _._:1:_:.. : i - T %
- ' X T - v S N g s L
ST S
Wiy o o e e e
gy g s e e g -
-\. ot
P S P e A 5
= .
3 '-..* N o el J
F- I 1 Ll : o :'.‘1'. ;
i * o LTl L o= il
T " s
- f‘." = M e =
- - y | clpw e

- this up? Onthe 11th of March, De Berenger haviag quii-
~ téd London on the 21st February preceding, and being, as
iﬂrdsﬁip had no doubt, out of the country. He had not
 goee 0 Portemouth then, but to the north, sod o |
- The defeudants had next proceeded to account for the
- bauck notes {cund in"De Berenger’s letter case.  They knew
- the prosecntor’s ease very well, and prepared themselves
- accoraingly. 1t was pretended, that all these notes were
- igiven lor drawings; for these, the defendant, De Berenger,
~ had received 50l. cnaccount; but no wemoranduin of this
= passed between him-apd Mr. Cochrane Johusiope; it was
- only noticed in a postscript to a letier from De Berenger to
him, beginping with an a-propes. Then came his letter to
Mr. Cochrane Johustone, in which he said, that the Jatter had
-often been very pressing upon him to take money. When
did this fit come upon him? On the 22d ol February.
There was then a receipt from Mr. Cochrane Johnstone for
2007, and a promissory pete for 200/, more. Mr. Butt,
who was the same with Mr. Cochrane Johistone, tuok one
two hundred pound note to Messrs. Bonds, to get it ex-
ehanged for two one hundred pound notes; =and then the
samue agent was sent to the bank to get the one hundred
pound potes exchanged for one pound notes.  The same
party performed the same offices for 200/ more. Of the
former sum, sixty-geven one pound notes were found in De
Berenger’s writiug desk ; of the latter, forty-nine.

- Lord EnneNsorouvcH then charged the jury. He said
this was an offence of great malignity, and charged eight per-
-zons with wickedly connivitg to effect a pablic injury. The
evidence of such an offence, it was not to be expected, could
be collected from the mouths of the parties, but must appear
from thewr conduct; and if it appeared that they all enteved
into conspivacy for the same purpose, and that their endea-
vours comhined to effect it. a {oundation for such a charge
as the piresent was laid, . The parties need not have seen
‘one another bﬂfm'e..- as in the case of rioters besetting a house
at different times for the same purpose ; or of housebreakers,
some entering iuto one part of the house, and some into ano-
therat the same time. The acts of these persons prove that
they have a join! contrivance ; and so it was from these of-
fences up to treason, It was enough if such = conspivacy
operatedto the nye judiee of the publie without the conspira-
tors deriving avv private corpupt advantage. The detriment



which thepublic received from this false elgvation of the

was proved by the sum purchased by Mr. Steers that day,
as broker for the Accoumam-(}e_ueral; and every one of the
suitors of the court of Chancery for whom stock was purcha:

sed on that day, was a loser by so much as the stocks had
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risen in price on account of this false news. If it appeared

that the Northfleet expedition was auxiliary to the Dover
one, then the defendants were all guilty of the same conspi-
racy: and the jury would say whether they were not par-~

ties of the same. They servilely copied each other iu both ;
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the instruments employed were disguises; these disguises

were in both military ; in both, false news was to be propa-
gated. 'The link between the two was proved by the de-
fendant M*Rae’s confession; he was to offer himself up for
10,000L; apd of thissum Mr. Cochrane Johnstone made
the extraordinary proposal of advancing 3,000/, Why did
he this, but to mislead the public, and make them think that
M+ Rae was the sole artificer in this fraud ?

T he first question for the jury was, whether the defendant,
De Berenger, was the jJnau who, on the 21st of February, at
one o’clock inthe morning, was taken up at Dover, and ul-
timately brought to the house of Lord Cochrane himsell !
If the telegraph could have been worked on that merning the
50,000l would have been bought before De Berenger ar-
rived in town, at the best time of the day, when the news
was fresh. Upon the character of the Dover letter, Lord El-
lenborough observed, that it was written in an upright, arti-
ficial, unpatural band, no two words alike, as men ordinarily
write. But, supposing it was not written by the defendant,
if he had meditated the fraud, was it not easy for him to
bring the letter with him ready written, and go through the
farce of writing at the inn ?—An alib: had been set up ; but
never, since his lordship had beew present in a court of
justice, had he been so strongly convinced of the truth of
evidence as of that which this a/ibz sought to overthrow.
The witnesses who identified the defendant, threw their eyes
about in every direetion of the couri; and then, asif struck
by eleetricity, fixed upon the defendant. T'his was the case
in every instance but one ; in which the question was put,
¢ Tg this the man ?” as is every day done in criminal trials
with respect to prisoners at the bar. The trifling variatiens
in the witnesses’ evidence confirmed the testimony, and ex-
cluded all idea of previous contrivance. 1f they were not to
be believed, then every man who had been bung from the
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Old Bailey had been murdered ; all former evidence as (o

dentity was so much weaker than this  As to the alibe,
 where did the detendaut dine on the day 1n question ? That

A Ralfis |

- had uot been proved. His lordship reprobated the word
ﬁhoax which had been applied to this iraud by the defendant’s
- letter; it was a robbery, a fraud upon the public, and was

~not to be treated as a matier of pleasantry. His lordship

theon recapitulated the whole evidence, commenting thereup-
- onas he proceeded. The Bricklayer’s Arms, he said, was too

near the Kiog’s Beach for the defendant to stop at. Having

- hunted down the game, the prosecutors at last showed what

became of his skin; aad it was a very material fact, that the
delendant De Berenger stripped himself at Lord Cochrane’s.
He puiled his scarlet uniform off there ; and if the circum-
stance of its not being green did pot excite Lord Cochrane’s
suspicion, what did he think of the star and medal ? It be-

‘came him, upon discoveriug these, as an officer and a gentle-

man, to communicate his suspicions of these circumstances,
Did be not ask De Berenger where he had been in his mas-
querade dress? It was for the jury to say, whether Lord
Coclirane did vot know where he had been. This was not
the dress of a sharpshooter, but of a mountebank. He came
before Lord Cochrane fully blazoued in the costume of his
crime.

His lordship then proceeded to read to the jury the whole
of the evidence, which took up nearly two hours. He ob-
served, that as to Holloway’s admitting to the Stock Ex-
change committee, that he lnmself was concerned in a plan
of deception, formed for the purpose of raising the price of
the funds, his denying that in that plan he was at all con-
nected with De Berenger or the Cochranes, this was a mat-
ter for the jury to takeinto their serious consideration. They
would congider, whether what he admitted gave credence (o
what he - had denied, or whether his scheme of deception
was not one of the ramifications of the general plan chareed
in the indictment.  As to Mary Smith swearing that De
Berenger’s bed had the appearance, on the morning of the
21st, of his having slept in it, it might as well have that
appearance if he had ouly laid down a short time in it.

After his Jordship had finished the reading of the evi.
dence, he told the jury that the whele evidence was now be-
fore them ; and that they must see that it was not ouly a great
public question, but a question of great interest to the in-
dividuals concerned, 1If they believed that the persons ig-
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dieted had been connected in the scheme of raising the prige
of the funds in the manver which was stated by many wit=
nesses, and for the purposes charged in the indictment, they ™
must find the persons so concerned guilty. It was their pr Mo
viace, from the evidence they had heard, to say whether any
or all the persons indicted were guilty, or whether they bes
lieved some of them guilty, and others not guilty. e
The jury then withdrew for about two hours and a half;, =
and on their return found all the persons indicted—Gualty.”

pecmwe |
| i i | June 20.

This day, Messrs. Best and PArx moved anarrest of judg-
ment in this case upou two grounds—1st, that it was not stat-
ed against whom it was to take place-~the second ground
was, that it was stated. to raise the funds of the United King-
dom of England and Ireland, whereas there was no such de-
scription of fuunds, all being Eoglish funds. After a great
deal of argument, the court held that the indictment was
sufficient, because the rumours were false, and might be in-
jurious in their consequences to the United Kingdom at large.

Lord ELLENBOROUGH then proceeded to read his notes of
the evidence adduced on the trial, which occupied his lord-
ship about three hours. During the reading of many portions
of it, Lord Cochrane was so much affected as to shed tears
repeatedly; and he was particularly affected when his volun-
tary aflidavit, as it has been called, was read. The evidence
having been gone through, | -

Lord CocarANE addressed the court. Relying on the
confident hope that their lordships would extend their utmost
indulgence towards him, he should endeavour as shortly as
possible to vindicate himself from the aspersions that had been
cast upon his honour and character ; and in order that he
might take up as little of their lordships time as possible, and
to prevent him from being again overcome by these acute
feelings under which he laboured, he had reduced what he
wished to say to writing, With the leave of the court he
would now read what he had written. In it his lordship stat.
ed, that it was his misfortune to be connected with those who
had been proved te be guilty, which made Iim appear equal-
Iy guilty with the other defendants. Mr. D. B. he had met in
public company—-he had no intimacy with him—he had not
evenseen himmany times. Mr. Batt had been engaged in
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o tra-nsa'ciions for him, but in no other way than what
- was perfeetly regalar and usual. Along with the rest, he how-
~ever had been returned as guilty; yet he oaly waated the op-

~ portunity to prove himself innocent. Mr. Buttand his rela-
~ tive, Mr. C. Johnstone, had both repeatedly said that they
~ were innocent ; and he now asserted what he had before said,
- #hat he was totally ignorant of such a plot being in coutem-
- plation. But he could not bear to exist under such a load of
- dishonour as had been heaped upon him—and he could not
- value life without character. His life had been too often ex-
posed in the cause of his country to make him sct too great a
value ou it; and he oaly continued it in the hope of still being
able to remove the disgrace that was attempted to be attached
to his character. [His lordship laid particular emphasis on
this part of his address, but he was also much affected.]—As
to the circumstance of De Berenger proceeding to his lord-
ship’s house, might it not be De B.’s policy to facilitate his
esecape : for could it be supposed, if he (Lord C.) had been
concerned in the conspiracy that he would have acted so ex-
travagantly ? As to the dress, could not De B. easily take off
his red coat while in the coach, and put on the green one
which he certainly had on when his lordship saw him.
What was to hinder him from having such a coat with him in
the little portmautean which he carried; and if he ever had
a red coat on, he must have changed itin the coach, or
avoided calling on his lordship, for he would not have dared
to appear before his lordship in any such uniform as he was
represented to-have worn. . His lordship had been accused of
committing moral perjury without exposing himself to the
penalties of the law, in swearing to the affidavit before the
magistrate; but his lordship’s oath was to that affidavit’; and
in his estimation an oath was an oath—his mind knew no dis-
tinction. Much had been said about the star, &c. worn by
De B. but where was the proof that his lordship had sren
them ? He never had seen them, nor De B. in a red coat—
the coat was green—this he asserted on his honour, which he
deemed as binding as an eath could be. The affilavit which
had been so much commented upsn, he made the instant ro-
mours circulated to his discredit, being conscions of the inte-
grity of his own conduct ; but if he had realivy been guilty,
whatever extravagant things he micht have doae, could any
human being suppose that he would have done any thing hali
s0 extravagant? He had been much persecuted, and prejudis
ces agalost him had been most industriously circulated, but
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he mest unfeignedly despised them. His life had been expo-
sed often, but, thank God! this wasthe first time thatit had
been called on to defend it against dishoneur ! He could easi=
ly have removed himself out of the way of what the world
called punishment ; but he had ever despised such an idea.
Sooner or later he feit convinced that he should prove his in-
nocecce to the world, but the opportunity of doing it would =~
come best from their lordships, by allowing him a pew trial.
~ An affidavit from Lord C. was then read, in whichhere-
swore to his former statements respecting the dressof De B.
and the conversation with him ; and he also solemnly deposed
to his innocence. |

~ Some affidavits were then put in from Lord C.’s servants,
but as one of them had been examined, and as the others
might have been examined, the court held that they could
not be received. s

Mr. BurT next addressed the court, saying that if he could
have a new trial he should be able to prove his inunocence.
He asked for po mitigation of punishment, for his conseience
acquitted him of the offence with which he had been
charged.

An affidavit from Mr. De Berenger set forth, that he had
rendered his country great services, and that he lost the
whole of his paternal fortune, amounting to 33,000/. in con-
sequence of his father’s adherence tothe House of Brunswick
in the progress of the American Revolution, for which he
hiad never reccived any compensation.

I'here was no aflidavit from Sandom, Holloway, or Lyte.

Mr. Park and Mr. Ricuarpson severally addressed the
cecurt for Mr. De B.; and Mr. Sergeant Pell for the three
latter defendants, contending that there was but little proof
of their having had any concern in the plot.

Mr. Gurney replied on the part of the prosecution. The
spectacle on the floor of that court was indeed lamentable ;
but it would teach men that conspiracy and crime, like mise-
ry, made men acquainted with strange companions. There
certainly was some difference between the conduct of the par-
ties s for Helloway, Sandom, and Lyte, had not aggravated
their offcnce in the way in which the other defendants had
done. Mr. De B. appeared to be the hired agent of Lord C.
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~ and C. Johostone; and having received the wages of his in-
~famy, he had endeavoured to get ont of the country, not only
~ toscreen himself, but to hide the guilt of others. At the trial,
~ Mr. Sergeant Best dwelt on the services which Lord Coch-
- rape had rendered his king and conniry ; but never let itbe
& Eforgﬂtte n that Lord C. did ri}ot pass unre warded, both by his
- sovereign and the nation which he had served. His sovereign
~ had invested him with an order which ennobled and adorned
~ even nobility, and his grateful country bad chosen him to the
- highest of honours, to be one of their representatives in par»
~ liament. But how lamentable a return had he made for all
these distinguishied marks of his sovereign’s favour, and of
his country’s gratifude ! T'hroaghout the whole business, so-
far as hislordship was concerned, there was ne proof of its
having resulied fiom the iuiirmities of a noble mind, from the
impulses of strong and yout™ul, but generous passions—or
from the excess of any powerful and honourable, but mis-
?iregted feelings. INotiing appeared but cold and calculating
raud, | .- -

Mr. BGLLAﬁD and Mr AnoLPﬁﬁs fblloﬁe‘ﬂ on the same
gide. |

“ After the court had consulted for some time, Lord ELLEN-
gorovaH said, « Let all the defendants stand committed, and
he brought up to receive the sentence of the court to-mor-
row morning, Mr. De B. of course returning to Newgate.”

s | | June 21
This morning, at tea o’clock, Lord CocsravE, together

wilh Messrs. Burr, DE BFRrENGER, HoLLowAay, LyTe,

and SAnpom appeared in court, pursuant to an order of

their lordships made yesterday ; and the clerk having
called over their several names,

~ Mr. JusticE LE Brawxc addressed them, and.observed,
that they having been convicted of the crime of conspiracy,
on evidence of the most unequivocal description, and after
a patient and impartial tgial_', there remained now a duty for
him to perform, and which the law ordained him to exe-
cute, namely, that of pronouncing the judgment of that court
upon each and all'of them for the offence of which they
had been so found guilty.
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Fiis fordship said, that the particular parts of the aggres
gate accusation urged against the offenders were of that na-

ture and Kkind, thai, from the testimony of the various wit-
nesses called forth on behalf of the prosecution, and, indeed,

from the kind of defence set up by all the conspirators them-

selves, it was as clear as demoustration could make it, that
they were all connected and united in the same extensive and
wicked plot; and that although it was ramified into distinet
brauches, it had only one object in view, and was directed
to ene and the same end, namely, that of putting money in
the pockets of a few, at the expense of many, by the foulest
and wickedest means.

T'he immediate means adopted were those of spreading
false news, thereby to raise the price of the public funds, and
thence to enable the prineipal conspirators to enrich them-
selves, and their meaner agents to be beoefited and be reward.
ed for the respective partz which they had taken in the nefa-
rious trausaction. The plan was concerted with deep design
it was conceived upon a scale of extended magnitude, up-
equalled in the history of crime, and intended to gorge even
avarice itself. thongh it happily failed in its execution; but
that, said his lordship, did not make the crime the less. 1t was
proved, incontestably, that Bercuger, on Saturday, the 19th
of February, had purchased the dress of a foreign officer, and
appendages of foreign decorations of honour; and in the same
dress he wasseen at the hiour of one o’clock oun the moruing

of the 21st of February, at Bover, thence he was traced to

Liondon, and into the house of fiord Cochrane, where he
changed his attire and put on plain clothes, in the presence of
Lord Cochrane; and it was also in proof that at Dover he
aseumed the name of Colonel Du Bourgh, and that there, as
weil as on the way to Liondon, he propagated the false news
mentioned in the indictment. It wias further in proof, that
whilst at Dover hie wrote a letter to Admiral Foley, at Deal,
imposing upon him, and attempting to make him an instru-
ment in propagating hy the telegraph to town the false news
which he had spread at Dover; and it was finally in proof,
that he subsequently  absconded, and that not only the
mouies and bank notes which he paid at Dover, and on his
wav to town, were bank notes and monies which had passed
throuch the hands of Lord Cochrane, Butt, a.nd Cochrane
Johiostoue, but that alse the bank notes found in his posses-

ion, when he was apprchended in Scotland, endeavouring to

6




6<

ascape out of the country, were also bank notes which had
been received by him from the same persous.

With respect to the other defendants, C. Johnstone, Lord
Cochrane, and Butt, it was also in evidence that they were
holders of stock in the public fuuds to an immense amount,
some of which they had purchased in so late as the Saturday
before the fraud was put into effect; and the false news haviog
reached the Stock Exchange at an early part of the morning,
it had the effect of raising the funds, of which these thyee
persons availing themselves, they immediately sol« the stock
which they had on hand, thereby not only saving themselves
from considerable loss which must have otherwise occurred
te them on account of the real price of the funds just at that
period previously, but also put a considerable sam into their
respective pockets by this contrivance. His lordship then ad-
verted to the mioor part of the conspiracy ; the under plot
carried on by Sandom, Holloway, Lyte, and M‘Rae, at
INorthfleet, and then to London, spreading the same’species

of false intelligence that De Berenger had dene, and tracing
them from Northfleet to Dartford and to London, and to the

Marshgate, Lambeth, exactly where De Berenger had stop-
ped likewise. From all which the learned judge in his com-
ments declared, that evidence, manifest evidence, of plot, de-
sign, and craft, was brought home to every one of the defend-
ants ; all of whom, he clearly showed, from his observations
on the evidence given, were united in the same conspiracy,
three of them as agents; the latter of whom, from their des-
perate and embarrassed affaivs, were fitiy chosen as instru-
ments to put go base a contrivance into execution.

The learned judge then turning to Lord Cochrane, par-
ticularly addressed himself to him ; and observed, that it was
with pain he noticed, among the defendants, a person whose
high rank, education, attainments, birth, acquirements, and
the honourable distinctions which had been bestowed upon
him by his sovereign and by a grateful people for honourable
and heroic deeds performed, should be linked with a baoditti
of depredators of the worst and foulest kind. But inasmuch
as he did possess those distinetions and this elevation in so-
ciety, so much the more was he criminal in participating with
those guilty offenders in a crime, which, in its progress, was
denoted by every unseemly characteristic; it was tainted with
meanness, mendicity, and avarice, and with three of the ad-
venturers,had not even the palliative of poverty as an apology

]
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for the sin; respecting them, therefore, the court, in its equal

distribution of justice, was bound to show to the world, that
as they sought to gratify their passion of avarice by couspiras

cy, and as conspiracy was held in lhe eye of the law of an
infamous nature, so they must award such a punishment as
would convey infamy with it, In some ofienders it fre-
quently happens, when brought up for judgment they have
the plea of a sudden gust of passion to move them to the com-
mission of crime, but here no such matter. A plot, long de-
vised, much ramified, including many actors, put inte effect
with unusual cunning and artifice, marked from its coms
mencement, through the progress, and to its peroration, with
systematic frand, is the picture only which can be given of
it. As a judgment, therefore, for a copspiracy so dangetrous
and so extensive, he was directed to prounounce the following

JUDGMENT.

That you, Sir Thomas Cochrane, commonly called Lord
Cochrave, and you Richard Gathorne Buit, do pay to the
king A ¥INE OF ONE THOUSAND POUNDS EACH : and that you

John Peter Holloway, do pay to the king A ¥iNe oF FIvE
HUNDRED POUNDS, A A

That you Sir Thomas Cochrane, R. G. Butt, John Peter
Holloway, Ralph Sandem, Henry Lyte, and C. R. De
Bereuger, be severally 1MPRISONED TWELVE CALENDAR
MonTHs, in the custedy of the marchal of the Marshalsea;
and that you Sir Thomas Coebrare, von BR. G, Butt, and J.
P. Holloway, be furtirer imprisoned till your respective
fines be paid. |

And further, that during the period of imprisonment men-
tioned, you Sir Thomas Cochrate, you R. G. Buatt, aud
you C. R. De Berenger, Do sTAND 0%E HOUR IN AND UPON
THE PILLorY before the Royal Exchange.

The several prisoners were immediately conveyed away
by a strong escort of officers of justice to the prison of the
- King’s Bench. ik

The sentence excited very considerable surprise, which
was expressed by a sudden exclamation in the court. Lord
Cochrane was deeply affected, and is represeited, when
passing though the hall, as more vesembling a corpse than a
living being. e wet with great commiseration from the
crowd.,
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PROCEDURE

THE HOUSE OF COMMONS,
RESPECTING

LORD COCHRANE.

—_—— e — e

A few days after the sentence of the court had beeu pass- -
ed, a Mr. Broadhead, the member for Wareham, gave no-
tice of his intention to move the exlmlsnm of his lmdslup
from the house, coupling him at the same time with his uncle,

Mr. C. Johnstone, whio had left the country bt,fow judg-
ment had passed in the ecause.

Liord Cochrane, in a letter to the speaker, informed the

hiouse of his intention to defend himself on the day of dis-

cussion, which, «fter being announced for the 1st of July, was,
at the request of his lordship, finally fixed for the folloumﬂ'
d'uesday.

Oun that day, accordingly, it was intimated that Lord Coch-

Tane was in attendance. Previously, however, to the dis-
cussion of the chicf business, the following petition from Mr.

M‘Rae, one of the parties in the hoax, was prt‘:aented by

Mr. Moore:

To the Honourable the House of Comnwns of the Uniled

Kingdom of Grect Britain and Irolend, in Parliament
assembied, The Humble Pctition of Alc_mn,! or M Rae,

lalely convicted, with others, of a conspiracy and misde-
MEANOUT ; |

MOST RFSPECTEULLY SHOWETH,
That, penctrated with cootrition and grief, your humble
petitioner approaches this hen. house, truly conscious of the
disgrace with which a recent sentence lias overwhelmed
kim; but which eannot diminish his confidence that such
cdium will pot prevent that attention which marks the con-
duct of the vepresentatives of this empire, especially when a
a petitioner most respectfully declares, that great as his fault
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has been, his present and sole object is, to prove his repent.
ance, and which he coonceives he cannot do more effectuale
ly, than by an artless and undisguised acknowledgment, aud
minute coniession, of every thing wihich relates to that trang-
action, which has involved him in his present unhappy sie
tuation.

That your petitioner is fully competent to unveil the whole
mystery ; that he is anxious to do so on grounds of public
justice, as well as private feelings, in order to rescue from
false imputations an illustrious innocent individual, a member
of your honourahle house, who although uuhappily included
with others in a verdict for a conspiracy, your petitioner will
make mauifest to have been most unjustly so included and
condemned, of the participation ina plot to which he wasin
every stage a most perfect stranger, That your petitioner
solemnly pledges himsel{ to prove this declaration most fully,
by the testimony of mauy witnesses ; and in support of this

allegation he begs to state, that on a former occasion he offere

ed a similar disclosure to the Stock Exchange committee,
for which their agent offered him a pecuniary considera-
tion; but on the commitiee finding that the informa-
tion he had to give went to exculpate Lord Cochrane, and
to implicate a different combination of men amongst them-
selves, they rejected your petitioner'’s information, and in-
cluded him ia the indictment, in order, as he verily believes,
to prevent bim from giving his evidence on the trial; and,
conscions of their iniquity towards your petitioner, they
paid ail his expenses for his appearing and pleading, and

conseated o waive his entering iuto the usual recognizances.

That, in order to enable your petitioner to accomplish this
purpose by examination at the bar of your honourable house,
or in any other way you imay think proper, he throws himself

on the generosity of your honourable house, to afford him

such protection as is usually extended to persons in his situa-
tien; and should your petitioner appear to your honourable
house to fail in establishing the allega‘ious contained in this
petition, he freely delivers himself up to receive such sen-
tence as the law may award agaipst him on his la‘e convic-
tion, and with such increased penalty ag an attempt to impose
on your honourable house would naturally subjeet him to;
And your petitioner humbly prays to be heard accordingly.
ALEXANDER M‘RAE:

g

London, July 4, 1814s
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Mr. Moore then moved, that this petition be laid on the
table, which was oppesed by Mr. B. Bathurst, on the ground

~ that if it were received, a precedent would thus be faid for

appeals from every court of justice in the couniry. ‘'I'he

petilion was withdrawn.

" Mr. Broapurap then rosé and moved that the record of
the noble lord’s conviction before the chiel justice of the
court of King’s Bench be read; it was read accordingly.
Myr. BroapHEAD agaln rose, and said, that the motives
which actuated him in this business, was a sense of his duty
as a member of parliament, and not any feeling of personal
hostility to the poble lord, or to the other honourable mems-
ber; but he thought, that a man, who had been convicted of

50 disgraceful a crime, and sentenced to an ignominious

punishment, was not a fit person to sit in that house as a
member. e did not wish to expatiate upon the nature of
the offence, or the circumstances in evidence upon which
the conviction was founded; the record of that conviction
just read was suflicient to ground the motion he meant to sub-
wit fer the consideration of the house ; and he moved that
Lord Cochrane he expelled.

The Speaker then called on Lord Cochrape to state
what be Lad to offer as a reason why he should not agree
to the motion for his expulsion.

DEFENCE OF LORD COCHRANE.

Mr. Speaxrr, The circumstances under which T ap-
pear before you and the house this day, eatitle me to, at
teast, a patieot hearing.  “I'he uplortunate map, who, in the
tine of Cardinal Richelieu, was condemned to be racked and
burnt. on the charge of practising magic, when pretesting
his itpecence and exposing the villany of his enemies, while
the fire was preparing before his eyes, was, to prevent his
being heard by the people, struck upon the mouth with a
erucifix borne in the hand of a monk. 1'his horrible judicial
murder shocked all France and all Europe; but, of all the
eircums ances attendirg it, the fabrication of evidence, the
flagvant partiality of the judges, the cruelty of the sentence,
the notfcrious Fﬂleehﬂff’"ﬁf the charge, pothing produced go
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deep a sense of indignationas the act of this execrable monk,
who, not couteut with the torture and the death of the vicetim
~—not content with the destruction of his body, was resolved
to pursue him even beyound the grave. 'I'herefore, Sir,
though what I have now seen of * * * % * % %
BRR R OKIN LN W todvintes ¢ thal
cowardly malignity is not the exclusive possession of monks.
I trust that on this day no means will be rcsorted to to stifle
my voice, or to prevent the public at large from hearing all
that I have to say in my delence.
T am not here, Sir, to bespeak compassion, or to pave the
way to parden. Both ideas are alike repugnant to my leel-
ings. T hat the public in general have felt indignation at the
sentence that has been passed upon me, does honour to their
hearts, and teuds still to make my country dear to me, in
spite of what I have suffered from the malignily of persons
11 power. But, Sir, I am not here to complain of the hard-
ships of my case, or about the cruelty ol judges, who, for
an act which was never till pow either known or thought te
‘be a legal offence, have laid upon me a sentence more hea-
vy than they have ever yet laid upon persons clearly con-
victed of the most horrid of erimmes—crimes of which na-
ture herself eries aloud agaivst the commission. If, there-
fore, it was my object to complain of the cruelty of my
judges, I should bid the public lock into the calendar, and
see if they could find a punishment like that 1nfiicted on me,
inflicted by these same judges on any one of those unnatu-
ral wretches. It 1s not, however, my business to complain
of the cruelty of this sentence.
* O*F Xk oW *

The house, Sir, will easily perceive, and every honoura-
ble man will, I am sure, participate in my leelings, that the
fine, the imprisonment, the pillory—even toat pillory to
‘which I am condemped—-are nothivg, that they weigh not
as a feather when put in the balance agaiust my desire to
show that I have been unjustly condemned. Therefore, Sir,
I trust, that the house will give a fair and impartial hear-
ing to what I have to say respecting the conduct of my ene-
mies, to expose which conduct is a duty which I owe fo
my constituents and my country, not less than 10 myself,

In the first place, Sir, I here, in the presence of this
house, and with the eyes of the country fixed upon me,



most solemuly declare, that I am wholly innocent of the
crime which has been laid to wmy charge, and for which [
have been condemned to the most infamous of punighments,
Haviug repeated this assertion of my innocence, I next
pracccd to complaiu of the means that have_ been made use
of to effect my destruction. Aund first, Sir, was it ever
before known in this, or in any other country, that the pro-
secutors should form a sort of court of his own erection,
call witnesses belore it of his own choosing ; and, undey of-
fers of great rewards, take minutes of the evidence of such
witnesses, publish these mioutes to the world, under the
forms and appearance of a judicial proceeding ? Was it
ever before koown, that steps like these were taken previ-
ous to an indiciment, previous to the bringing of an intend-
ed victim 1nto a court of justice ? Was it ever before known
that so regular, so systematic a scheme for exciting suspi-
cion against a man, of implauting an immovable prejudice
against bim in the minds of the whole nation, previous to
the preferring a bill of indictment, in order that the grand
jury, be it compoged of whomsoever it might, should be pre-
disposed to find the bill? 1 ask you, Sir, and I ask the house,
whether it was ever before known, that means like these
were resoried to, previous to a man’s being legally accused ?
But, Sir, what must the world think, when they sce some
of those to whom the welfare and the honour of the nation
are committed covertly cooperating with a committce of
the Stock Exchange—becomiog their associates in so nefa-
rious a scheme ? Nevertheless, Sir, this fact is now noto-
rious to the whole world. 1 must confess that I was not
prepared to believe the thing possible; though I was aware,
indeed, that T had to expect from some of those in power
whom 1 had n yain endeavoured {o bﬁng to jug[ice, ever'y
thing that malignity could suggest and cunning perpetrate ;
though I was aware my endeavours (though humble) to ex-
pose the sourees of corruption through the Pension List, and
the Prize Courls, had raised against me many enemies;
though 1 was aware of the unquenchable thirst for revenge
which I had excited in the breast of many corrupt and hy-
pocritical individuals ; and especially, though 1 was aware
of the offence which I had given to the grasping and ne-
ver-pardoning phalanx of the law, by exhibiting to the world
their frauds upon my ill-tréated brethren of the navy. But,.
notwiths.anding ell this, I was pot prepared to see * *#
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* ¥ actually cooperating with the Stock Exchange in
the shameful work of plotting my ruia. | |

- So much, Siy, for the steps taken previous to the indict-
ment.  The covspivaey against me being thus matured;
the public mind being completely prejudiced, and that pre-
judice kept alive by a series of falsehoods and misvepresen-
tations, the legal proceedings began. 'I'he bill of indict-
ment was preferred.  And here, Sir, must not the wicked
design of the conspirators be manifest to all the world !—
'I'here were some persons indicted who had cenlessed their
share i the imposition, These persons had declared to
my prosecutors, that they knew me not: that they had
never seen me; that they never had any cennexion with
me; and yet, we were all put into one indictment, for the
manifest purpose of so confounding innocence with: guilt, as
o seeure a chance, at least, of my conviction, even at the
hands of a jury who might be disposed to act just,

¢ ¥ Kk % ¥ *k * *

. Care, however, was taken, Sir, that the success of this

base conspiracy should not be exposed to the chances of
failure from the jury not being of the right stamp. The
indictment, if left to its fair, reeular course, would have
been tried at the sessions-house at the Old Bailey, before a
jury impartially taken. Tn that ease, it would_ have been
what is calted a common jury ; that is to say, ajury whose
names are faken promiscuously out of a box containiug- the
names of the whole of the jurors, summouned for the t[‘lill of
@l the cases brought before the court during the sessious,
I was ready to meet the accusation before such a jury. |
(ook no steps to put off the tripl for a day. 'The indiciment
was removed [rom the court Fefore which it regularly came,
into a court where the presecutors knew that they could
cause me tobetvied by a special jury, * * * * % d
Dr. Johason, - ju reference to the happier times which
Lngland had secen, has these lines .—-

"'_‘ When sterling f_l‘.etjldﬂm circled Alfred’s throne,
* And spies and special Jurics were unknown.”

- When, Sir, 1 fivst read these lines, 1 was wholly ignorant
of what special jury meant. T new understand the thiue
but too well; and I am not without hepes that that whick
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has now been practised with the aid of a epecial jury, may,
in the end, be the means of totally extirpating that intole-
rable evil. A special jury is composed of twelve persons
taken out of forty-eight persens, the whole of which forty-
eight persons are selected by the master of the Crown-of-
fice. It is notorious, Sir, that these special jurors foliow
the business as a trade; that they are paid a guinea each
for every trial; that they sometimes gain eight or ten gui-
neas a day ; that it is deemed a favour to be put upon the
special jury list; that persons pay money to get upon that
list; that if they displease the judge, care is taken to pre-
vent them from serving again; or, in other words, to cut
them off, or turn them out, from a profitable employment.
And isit this, Sir, which we call a jury of our country ?
Have I been tried by a jury of my country? No, Sir.
®rt MSTR ak 5 MPe Tostitation ‘of “speenitl Ju-
ries, an institution unknowa till times of modern date, and
repugnant to the laws of England, had its rise in a pretence
that matters of technic¢al difficulty a common jury might
not be competent to understand ; as in cases of insurance,
shipping of goods, and the like. But, what was there in
this case that a common jury, composed of tradesmen in
the City of London, would not have understood? A com-
mon jury would surely have been as competent to decide
upon my case as upon the cases of hundreds who are con-
demned to death upon the decision of such a jury in that
game court, where, to do me justice, my case should have
been tried. T'lie house are told, that it is sufficient to have
read the verdict against me. By what principle of justice,
or of reason, the house is to proceed to inflict upon me a
new punishment, without themselves hearing and examining
the evidence, I will not here attempt to inquire.

* + 3 & * '

~ f, Sir, the accusation against me had not brought the
whole conduct of my - life under anithadversion, 1 should
not think it necessary to account for the manner in which
my time has been employed since I was actively engaged
in my professional duties. = The interval has not been idly
spent, nor without a view to the interests of my country,
At an expense of nearly two thonsand pounds, for which I
neither sought nor thought of remunevation, I examined the

-
W N TR



8

stiuatiors, and procured plans of various impertant ports
and places in the Mediterranean. I meditated and matu-
red plans for the more effectual prosecution of the war,
They were approved, pronounced practicable, and consi-
dered infallible, by some of the most distinguished officers
now living. I oflered them to successive administrations,
and 1 also offered my services to put:them in execution.
Subsequentlv, my atteotion was chleﬂy directed to the
prosecution and perfection of an invention of cousiderable
public convenience and utility ;- and on the very day of
the offence so unexpeciedly laid to my charge, I was sole-
ly occupied in furthering this, at least inoffensive object,
without the slightest idea of the mischief which that day
was to bring forth.
I had been appointed to the command of his majesty’s
ship the Tonnant, and the loss of that command, alter ex-
pending more than a thousand pounds in fitting for sea, is
one of the many misfortunes in which this groundless accu-
sation has involved me. 1@ my duty on board that ship I
returned on the 1st of March; and it was not till the 8th
day of that month that I found that my name was connect-
ed with the fraud, from the following paragraph in the pub—
iic prints of the 7th:

“We are glad to hear that the committee of the Stock
Exchange have made considerable progress in discovering
the authors of the late nefarious fraud : and that they have
ascertained that the pretended Colonel De Bourgh went to
the house of a gentleman who has a large stock-)obbmg ac-
eount. ‘Thuu“h the committee have pﬂﬂtcd the following no-
tice, yet we shnu!d hope that the gentlemen named therein
were no parties to the deception pmctmed They cannot,
however, take too early an opportunity of clearing theni-
selves from all suspicion of having participated in the transe
action.

“ Stock Exchange committee-room, March 4.

« It is particularly thUEBlPd that all those Memiers of
the Stock Exchange who transacted busincss, either direct-
ly or indirectly, for any of the persons under-mentioned,
on Monday, the 21st of February last, will favour the com-
mittee with an interview. The Hon. Cochrane Johnstone,
Mr. G. R. Butt, Lord Cochrane, Mr. Holloway, M. San-
dﬁm, Ml‘ M Rt“"

On reading this paragraph, 1 lost no time, (whatever ma'y
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hiave been insinuated to the contrary) in applying for ieave of
absence. 1 gave the necessary orders about the ship, and
waited on Admiral Surridge to obtain his permission to pro-
ceed to town. He informed me that he bad sent off admi-
ralty-leave to the ship, and a letter from Lord Melville;
neither of which were forwarded to me for a considerable
time after, and Lord Melville’s letter, which T hold in my
hand, remains still unopened. ¥ mention this merely to
show, that I was not induced to return to town, for the pur-
pose of clearing my character, by any communication from
the admiralty. On my return to town, [ did what I think
every inpocent man would have done. I made oath fo 2
true statement of all that | keew of the circumstances on
which the accusation against me was founded. It was said
by the counsel for the prosecution, that he should have
thought that a nchleman 1o my situation would have pledged
iis word and honour. If I ‘understood the difference be-
tween the saoctity of such a pledge and that of an oath, I
might be able to reply to his ohservation ; but I do not :—but
this I understand, that if I had so pleged my word and ho-
nour, it would not have escaped that pers n’s discernment
that I did not dare to make oath to the truth of my state-
ment. | '
- T'he report of the Stock Exchange Committee was not
published till two days after my affidavit, and the descrip-
tionof the dress of the pretended messenger, as given by them
in their hand-bill of the 7th, to wit, a Lrown great-coat and
o red under coat, being wholly different from that in which
e Berenger appeared before me, which was a gray great
coat and a greea uniform, I firmly believe that he was not
the same person ; and so impressed, I published my affidavit
of the 1Tth ; and shortly after the aflidavits of my servants,
as to the dress in which De Berenger appearved. These
affidavits I hold in my hand, and, if it is the pleasure of the
house, I will read them, |

His lordship, not being required to read the affidavits,
"proceedefl to state that his servants. Isaac Davis, T'homas
Dewman, and Mary Turpin, made oath, that the upper coat
was gray, and the collar and all that they saw of the under
coat was green. My affidavit of the 11th of March was
most unmereifully handled by the gounsel for the prosecu-
tion, and alse by the chief justice. They insisted I must
have known when I received the note, that it came from De




(3

Berenger, My statement was, that while [ .was superj
tending work at Mr. King's maoufactory, I received a note,
but did not know it came from De Berenger, because the
pame was written so close to the bottom that I could not
read it. It was triumphantly remarked, that this note was
not forthcoming. It was mentioned as a suspicious circam-
stance, that I could not produce this note. T'he fact is,
that I tore . it, and threw it down. I had not the smallest
1dea that it was worth preserving—a note merely soliciting
an interview which I .was imwediately  going .to grant.
What could it contain that the writer himself could not in-
form me of ?>—For what purpose should I preserve it ? If I
had preserved it—if I had brought it forth—what would
have been said ? Why, Sir, that there could not be.a more
suspicious circumstance—that I could never have been so
careful of an apparently;insigmficant scrap of paper, if I
had. not foreseen that it.might one day he called in ques-
tion ; or otherwise that it had been subsequently fabricated.

I have to lament that I was not more particular as to
the important fact of my going away fromthe lamp-inaker’s,
under the impression that I was about to meet an oficer -
with distressing iatelligence relative to my brother he ifora
Major Cochrane. I can now ouly supply the defic’ency,
by oficring the same statement and the same evidence which
1 tendered to the court of King’s Beuch when I made my
second application for anew trial. T then observed, ¢ that
I was in apprehensions of fatal news respecting my brother,
then in Krance, from whom 1 had received a letter not three
days before, with the intelligence ol bis being dangerously
iil; aad I now tender you his aflidavit, with the surgeou’s
certificate, dated the 12th of February, which he bmug!gt
home with him; and, therefore, on receiving the note irom
De Berenger, whose name I was unable to decipher, aod as
that note announced that the writer, who. I learat from my
servant, had the appearance of ap officer in the navy, was
desirous of seeing me, 1 hastened to learn iutelligence so
anxiously expected; nor had I the least doubt that it rela-
ted to my brother. 'When, however, T found that the per-
son was De Berenger, and that e had only to speak of his
own private affairs, the appareuot distress lie was in, and the
reli«f it gave my mind to know that he was not the bearer
of the news 1 dreaded, prevented me from fezling that dis-
pleasure which 1 might otherwise have fclt at tie liberty

. , .
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ii'fz'had taken, or the interruption it had occasioped. Com-
ments have been made on my saying so little to the servant

~ who brought me that note; but the fact is, T did ask him
~ geveral questions, as appears by his affidavit. T'hat I did
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not learn the name of thie writer from the note itself, I have

- truly accounted tor, by its being written so close to the bot-
~ tom of the paper that I could not read it. This assertion
~ is said to be contradicted by the circumstance of the writer
~ having found room to add a postcript, as if there was only

one side to the paper. Of the postcript I have no recollec-
tion, but it might have been written even opposite the sig-
nature. That I did not collect from the handwriting that
it was addressed to me by De Berenger, is nothing extraor-
dinary ; my acquaintance with that person was extremely
slight; and till that day I had never received more than
one or two notes from him, which related to a drawing of a
lamp.—1I was too deeply impressed with this idea, that the
note was addressed to me by an oflicer who had come with
intellicence of my brother, to apprebend that it was written
by De Berenger, from whom I expected no commuonication,
and with whose handwriting [ was not familiar.—Al] that I
could afterwards recollect of the note, more than what is

" stated in my affidavit, is, that he had something to commu-

nicate which would affect my feeling mind, or words to that
effect, which coofirmed my apprehensions that the writer
was the messenger of fatal news of my brother.
My brother’s affidavit is as follows: |

“ The Hon. William Erskine Cochrane, major in the 13th
regiment of dragoons, now residing in Portman-square, in
the county of Middlesex, on his oath, saith, that he was
seized with a violent and alarming illness on the 1st of Janue
ary, 1814, at Cambo, io the south of France, and that this
deponent remained in a state of dangerous illness until the
16th of the following month; that early in February last he
wrote to his brother, Lord Cochrane, to acquaint his lord-
ship with this deponent’s sitnation, as deponent had then
very little hope of recovery, and telling him that he had re-
ceived a notification that he would be ordered to England,
where he should proceed, if ever able to undertake the jour-
ney. And this deponent further saith that the annexed
certificate was given to him for the purpose of being laid offi-
cially before a board of medical officers at St. Jean de Luz,
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by the surgeon of this deponent’s regiment, and is in the
said surgeon’s handwriting.” .

From the certificate of the surgeon, dated the 12th of Fe-
bruary, I thiok it material to read the following extracts®

“ Major Cochrane was seized with the usual symptoms of
fever on the 1st of January, which were continted for the ™
first three days: then the remiitent character developed it-
self; the evening paroxysm was severe every day, and he =
was all through much worse on the third day than on the =
two preceding days.  Onpthe 23d, he had a crisis, and went
on very well till the Ist of February, whea he suffsred a
relapse, attended with rather alarming symptoms. 'There
was great determination to the head, and a tendency to coma:
On the morning of the 7th he had a second relapse. 1 hope
the ehange of air and objects wiil serve bim.”

The affidavit of my brother, as well as the certificate of
the surgeon, were treated as fabrications; and with respect
to my brother’s letter, the judge would not believe that I
had received*it, unless I could preduce it, and show him the
post mark. It is known to all my friends, that I seldom
preserve such letters as are not likely to be of luture im-
portance—but it was also known to many of my frieuds, that
I had received such a letter. And since my brother Colo-
‘nel Cochrane’s return from Irelsnd, I have learnt that he
did actually receive that letter enclosed irom me: . and he is
ready to prove it; and my other brother, Major Jochrane,
has sworp to the fact of having sentit. The learned judge
weuid noil believe there was time for the arrival of such
letter between the 1Z2:h aad 18th of February:; but I d:d
not speak to the date of the letter. I onlv said, that T re-
ceived it on the 18th: and my brother did not swear that
it was written on the 12th, but early in February., Now
1 expressly stated, that my brother brought the certi-
ficate home with him. It was granted 1o him on the 12th
of February by the surgeon of his regiment, for the purpose
of being laid before a board of medical officers to show the
necessity of his retura to England, where he arrived some
time in March, and now resides in Portman-square in a very
precarious state of health. The authenticity of the certi.
ficate is unquestionable ; and it is more important, since it
was not obtained for the purpose of proviug the truth of my
statement, but 1s the original certificate authorizing his re.
turn to England on account of ill health, and hears date
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gine days prior te the 21st of February. It'includes a pe:

riod of six weeks, namely, from the 1st of January; and

yet the learped judge argued against the probability, nay,

.--12'§:?ﬁ_2;ﬁ{at£z'(l' that' it was a‘lmas’t'-.impnsﬁi_b!e, that 1 shiould Lave
~ heard of kis illness: on the 17th of I'ebruary!
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When it is considered that Lord Ellenborough admitted
that evidence of the illness of my brother would add great
»robability to my statement, that on hearing of the arrival
of an officer from the army, I went home with the expecs
tation ol hearing distressing intelligence respscting him, and
that such evidence would, indced, be important, is it not
strange that he should have rejected such evidence without
examiaation, or with so little examination as to confound
both dates and mode of conveyanee ?

With respeet to my aceount of the conversation which
passed between De Berenger and mysell, I submiit to the
Bouse, that 1t is not only true, but perfectly probable. It
was not necessary that I should know the business which
De Berenger had been transacting, in order to believe that
he had reasons for wishing to quit the kingdom. His wish
i0 go to Amcrica; and Sir Alexander Cochrane’s applica-
tion in his behall, were knewn to me, and clearly proved
on the trial;: and thie prosecutor’s counsel admitted, that De
Berenger was in the Rules of the King’s Bench, aod so in-

volved i debt, that he would rather reside in any country

than this. Within these few days, a letter from De Beren-

cer to his solicitor, Mr.- Gabriel Tahourdin, has come mto
my possession, which clearly proves the distressed: state of
his miod, and his anxiety to get out of the country. The
lettér'is dated the 17th of February, four days previous

{o the fraud of the 21st.. The letter is long, and, to we

perfectly uniotelligible : the following passage shows the
perturbed state of his mind :

- ““I cannot refrain from pressing you, as my solicitor, and
as a confidential friend, to take immediately those measures.
which alone can traoquillize my mind, and enable me there-
by to meet the numerous sufferings I am doomed to bear.
Something must be done, for what is so harassing as doubt

-about future fate ? Mine is all gloom; aud self-preservation,

that powerful argument, but which 1 have so long neglected,
and which every body, move or less, scems to use, requires
my immediate and unalterable decision. 1 have refused
what mest people would call the safe side of the question:
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What are my prospects in consequence ? that I shall have
enemies in abundance—that I shall, in either result, have
lost all chance of encouragement, perhaps in afl Europe,
aud that I shall be tossed about, God knows how and where,
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and at an age which claims rest: and horrible as the pie=
ture is, it is even the best of the prospects that await me?

After the apprebension of Mr. De Berenger, I did, by the ™
advice of Mr, Johustone, address to him a letter through
the office of Lord Sidmouth, calling upon him to state to =
the public his reason for coming to my house on the 21st
of February—and he answered that nothing could exceed
the pain he felt when he perceived how cruelly, how unfair-
ly, his unfortunate visit of the 21st of February was inter-
preted, ¢ which, with its obhject, was correctly detailed in my |
affidavit.” I hold his original letter in my hand.

Relying upon the difference of the dress in which De Be-
renger appeared before me from that deseribed by the Stock
Exchange committee, and on the assurance of Mr. John-
stone that De B. had informed him, that he could unequivo-
cally prove an alibz by at least a dozen credible witnesses,
and believing that, at all events, my own innocence would
prove my protection ; I felt so perfectly secure as to the is-
sue of the trial, that [ eave no instructions to counsel, attend-
ed no consultation, and never even read my own brief, into
which a daongerous error was introduced ; but leaving the
whole business entirely in the haods of my solicitor; I retired
to my house in the country, and did not return till two daye
previous to the trial. |
+ While in the country I received a letter from my solicitor,
informing me that at a consultation, it had been resolved to
defend my case jointly with that of Mr Butt, and that it was
not determined whether it might not also be advisable to
unite it with that of Mr. Johostone. I had ordered that my
case should be defended separately, and Messrs. Topping
and Scarlett were engaged as my counsel. To the above
“commupication I returned the following answer:

- “ Holly-Hill, Titchfield, May 29, 1814.
“The counsel dre better able to judge than I am, as to
‘the necessity of mixing Mr. Butt’s case with mice; but §
will not consent to any further unian.”
_ St -y |
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- the perfect consciousness of my innocence, I cannot help re-

.....
1, |

- marking that Mr. Johnstone, on all oceasions, was anxious

78

- Notwithstanding this, my case was defended conjointly ;
~and it deserves particular attention, that the able counsel whe
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eaded my cause was intended to defend Mr. Johustone on-
y, and that the counsel whom I did employ had no oppor-

- tunity of opening their lips. T'lie unavailing expression of

y dissent to a union of cases, was almost the only step

~ {aken by me in my own behalf, in the whole course of the

proceedings prior to my return to town: for, in addition to

to felieve me from the trouble of attending to my own in-
terests in this matter; and in a letter, which he wrote to me
a few day previous to the trial, he entreated me to make
myself perfectly easy asto the issue; und informed me he
flad seen De Berenger's brief, by which it appeared, that
he would fully establish an alibi. This letter, pursuant
to my general practice, well known to my friends, I believe
1 have destroyed; hut the receipt and purport of it can bhe
proved on oath by a visiter then at my house.

Oun my return to town; immediately beforve the trial, the
brief of Mr. De Berenger was shown to me by Mr. Joho-
storie ; and the case, as therein stated, appeared to me so per«
fect!y clear, that I solemnly assure the house, that 1 then
thought it impossible he could be the person who represent-
ed Du Bourgh, 'That I had no concern whatever in the
atibi set up by Mr. De Berenger, will sufficiently appear
irom the following letter from my solicitors:

_ “ Laincoln’s-Inn Ficlds, 1st July, 1814.

“ My lord—We beg to acknowledge the receipt of your
Iordship’s letter of yesterday’s date, and to acquaiot you, in
answer, that we were certainly employed exclusively for
your lordzhip inthe late trial, and vot for any other of the de~
fendants ; and we also beg leave to state most explicitly, that
we never received from your lordship, or any other person
whatever, any mstructions in respect to the alibi attempted
to be proved by My._De Berenger, and consequently did not,
gor could give any directions to counsel in respect to that
&libi ; nor had we ever any intercourse «r communication
whatever with the witnesses by whom it was to be establish~
ed. |
4 We have the honour te be, my lord, &e.

| “ FARRER & Co#
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My déscription of the dress in which De Berenger appear-
ed before me at my house on the 21st of February, has exs.
cited much animadversion. When I swore that he wore a
green coat, the counsel for the prosecution declared that I
had incurred the moral guilt of perjury without subjecting
myself to the legal penalty. When I came into court ané
repeated my assertion upon oath, under all the risks of the
law, and tendered the aflidavits of others who saw him, as f“’f
did, in his green coat at my house, the same counsel impu-
dently repeated the foul and false accusation. I also aflirm-
ed, upon my henour, in the eourt of King’s Bench, and I
do «ffirm upon my honour in this house, that I only saw him
in a green coat.

I have already stated that an error of the most dangerous
nature was introduced ioto the brief, In that brief the coat
of De Berenger is described to have been a red one with a
green collar; and my counsel, in consequence, admitted that
to be red which was sworn to be green. My attention was
not called to this error, which has been so injurious; and
Mr. Sergeant Best, inthe course of my defence, marked the
contradiction between my affidavit and what his brief told
him; and he gave me credit for an oversight in consequence
thereof, but refused to examine my servaots, then ready in
attendauce. Early on the morning of the second day of the
trial, being informed, to my surprise, of the mode of defence
which had been resorted to, I again sent my servants to
Guildhail with a note to my solicitor, of which the followe
ing is an extract:

“ June 9, 1814.

“ Dear Sin—I have sent my servants, who, 1 submit,
eught to be examined, in order to prove the appearance of
Berenger, T'his seems necessary to free me from the io-
ternal upeasivess which I should ever feel were the investis

gation to terminate otherwise.” '
Still, Sir, it was not deemed 'pmper to examine my ser-
vants; and to the error which crept into the brief, and the
consequent misapprehension of my counsel, I must in some
‘measure attribute the unfavourable result of the triak
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About half past seven o’clock on the evening of the last
day of the trial, a clerk, on the part of my solicitors, called
on me; and the following is a memorandum made by him
. of the conversation that took place between us in conse-
- quence:
- £ told Liord Cochrane I had just come out of court to pre-
~ pare him for the worst result, as the judge was summing up
egainst him very decidedly, and I delivered him a  memo-
raodum of Mr. Brougham, recommending his lordship’s
being made acquainted with the result to be apprehended.
He inquired much about the trial, but particularly what
witnesses had been called on his side. 1 told him Dewman,
and a person to prove Major Cochrane’s illness, and some
others. He inquired if Mary Turpin was called ; I an-
swered not. He said, Mr. Parkinson had put his foot in
his casc, or that he had botched his case, and it was cruel
#n huin. He requested I would tell him he ought to have
called her to prove De Berenger’s dress ; I told him his let-
ter was submitted to counsel, and the measure approved of
by them; he answered, Mr. P. should have done as I in-

structed him; I am to be the only sufferer if convicted. I
also told him, that at the time his lordship’s letter was re-
eeived, his case was closed.

(Signed) H. M. CovrnrHURST.
10th June, 1834. |

] read this, Sir, to show to the house how anxious I was,
to the verv last moment, that my servants should be exa-
mined. Kad they been examined, they would have sworn
to the dress in which De Berenger came to my house.

And 1 submit, whether the testimony of all these persons
ought not to preponderate over thatof one. The only wit-
ness to the point of De Berenger coming to my house ina
red coat is Crane, the hackney coachman. And under what
circumstances was his evidence given ? Not one of the coun-
gel for the progecution ventured to question him to the point;
but on his cross-examination, being asked the following ques-

‘tion, “ You do not pretend to be able to reeollect every per-
son you carry in your hackney-coach every day ?” he re-
plied, “ No; but this gentleman that I took from a post-
chaise and four, when he got out at Green-street, I saw that
e had o red coat underneath his greal coat”> Does it not



o1

appear from this answer, that the witness, having been dis:
eppointed in not being questioned to that point before, Spea%;__ '
to 1t now as his only chance of securing the reward of 2504
cffered by the Stock Exchange, and which, I understand,
he has laid claim to.. Withrespect to the evidence of Crane,
it is worthy of notice, that the great coat which I havesworn
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as gray, was-described by him, in his examination before
the Stock Exchange committee, to have been a brownone;
but, en the trial, he meets my description, and calls - ita
brown gray : he also deseribed De Berenger as a red faced
man. Shilling also stated before the committee, that De
Berenger had a large red nose, and face rather blotched.
Now, it is well Known that De Bercuger bears no resems-
blance to such description: He is pale, marked with the
small pox, and free from blotches,

But, Sir, I'bave another fact to state with regard to Crane,
and T call upon the house to give it that attention which- it
deserves. At the moment, Sir, that this man was giving
evidence to convict me of the crimes of fraud and perjury,
he was suffering the sentence ol the law for conduct of no
common atrocily. The account of this conduct I will read

to the house as it was detailed.in the public papers:

“ On Friday last, William Crane, the driver of the hack-
ney coach No. 782, was summoned before the eommission~
ers, upon a charge of cruelty to his horses. The circum-
stances dctailed were so shocking, as wnduced the coms-

massioners 1o observe, they never heard a more ctrocious
casc.” |

Now, Sir, I ask, eontinued his lordship, is the evidence
of an old and faithful servant, who has been in one family
17 years, together with the evidence of three other witnesses
of unimpeached veracity, to be outweighed in the halance
by a wretch of this stamp?

On the subject of the bank notes found in De Berenger’s
possession, which had been exchanged for others that had
once been mine, I pledge myself to prove, in the clearest and
most unequivocal manner, that such notes of mine as have
been called in question were given by me to Mr. Butt, for
the purpose of discharging just and bona fide debts, namely,
a debt of 200L to himself for money borrowed, and the pay-
ment of my wite merchants, Messrs. Wilkinson and Cross
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thwaite, whose bill amounted to 699/, i1s.; the payment of
- which, through the hands of Mr. Butt, had escaped my re-

collection at the time of the trial. The several papers
- relating to the loan of 200 extracted from the stockbroker’s
books, together with the wine merchants’ affidavit respecting

~ the whole of the transaction, I hold in my hand, and entreat

- 'I-I.:-'I‘-,I-

~ of the house to examine them. Iu lookiog over the wine

merchants’ afiidavit, I fiod that on the 19th of February,
the very day on which the fraud is alleged to have been
pianned, I was “engaged in their cellars for upwards of
two hours in tasting wines,” to be sent on board ‘the Ton-
nant. -

Having mentioned Mr. Butt, I take this opportunity of
stating that my connexion with the funds arose from a con-
versation with that gentleman in October last, wheu the pro-
gress of the allies, and the favourable aspect of affairs, indu-
ced him to recommend me to place my spare mouey in go-
vernment securities, I told him, that I had disposed of it in
private securities and land. He then informed me that I
might gain without advancing the principal, and offered to
conduct the business for me. He urged this proposal, which
I then declined, being unwilling to enter into speculations
which T did vot understand. However, in the course of a
few days, to my great surprise, he brought me the sum of
4301., as the profit oo a speculation, which he said he had
made for me. Not wanting the money, I desired him to
sport with it till he had lost it. Between that period and the
19th of February, the sum which he had gained for, and pia-
ced to my account, without fee or reward, and without my
control, amounted to 4,200/. T have witnessed many dis-
interested acts of Mr. Buit, and I think him incapable of a
dishonourable action. I justice to him I must also observe,
that the notes in question were, as appeared on the trial,
part of a sum lent by him, on the 25th of February, to Mr.
Johnstone. i

I now come, Sir, to the conduct of the judge before whom
the cause was tried. 'The public have read an accouat of
that conduct during the examination of the witnesses.

» * % & L8 & A

Tt must be in the recollection of the house, as it is in that
of the public, that he urged, that hie compelied, the comasel
1
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to enter upon my defence after—midnight at the end of 15“'

hours from the commencement of the trial, when that coun-

sel declared himself quite exhausted, and when the jury
who were to decide, were of such weariness, as to render

attention to what was heard totally impossible. T'he speech-
es of the counsel being ended, the judge, at half past three

in the morning, adjourned the court till ten ; thus separating
the evidence from the argument, and, reserving his own
strength and the strength of my adversary’s advocate for
the close, giving to both the great advantage of time to
consider of the reply, and to arrange arguments to meet
these which had been urged in my defence. By this means,
too, anothier unportant object was secured. Krom the late-
ness of the hour at which the counsel were compelled to

enter on my defence, it was impossible that that delence

should appear the next day in print, while the speech of
the advocate by whom I was accused would appear at full
length. The object was completely attained ; and thus were
the public, by seeing hardly a word in my defence, while
so much was urged against me, prepared to approve of the
verdict which was given the next day.

Lord Ellenborough, in his charge to the jury, remarked,
that in my affidavit of the 11th of March, I first connected
the name of De Berenger with this transaction. It is true
that I did so; and the fact was known to his lordship, for
he had heard itin evidence, that when I gave it to be print-
ed, I declared that “if Berenger was the impostor, 1 had
furpished the clue to his detection ;” and Lord Ellenborough
was not warranted in insinuatiog, that I did this with any
other view, than that justice might overtake him, if guilty,
and to give him an opportunity of coming forward to justily
himself, 1 innocent, Why I could not take this step sooner

1 have already explained: and the statement contained in

my affidavit of the 2Ist of June, is full and decisive on the
subject, and is a complete auswer to the ecalumny, that I
acted on the supposition of his being out of the Kingdom.
I, at least had done nothing to contribute to his escape—1
had refused his application to join my ship without leave
from the admiralty. If I had bad the least reason to wish
concealment, I could easily have smuggled him into the
Torpant. But it is obvious that 1 had no such intention.
Why did Lord Ellechorough, in his charge to the jury,

(continued his lordship,) take one part of my affidayit as
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f{rue aud another as false P—He professed to quote from my
L affidavit as to the fact of my turmshmg De Berenger wilh

- acoat lo wear instead of his uniform: and puts it to the
w ~ jury to consider, * whether a man comiog so disguise, and
~ gomg away again with a disguise io a buudle was not on a
= f% dishonest errand ?"—1In all lhls,.Lurd blleubomugh profess-

~ es to quote, and draw couclusions from my affidavit; and

r~ -l".-

- he -represents me as acknowledging De Bereonger to have

~ come o my presence dwmzwd and going away again

e with his disguise in abundie! If there be one word of this
in my affidavit, then 1 am. perjured, and Lord Ellenborough
speaks truth. 1 stated, that: De Berenger, an officer in a
rifle corps, called upon me in a green uniform ; and this,
the judge submiisito the jury, is a disguise, and a proof of
his. coming on a dishonest errapd !

“ But,” ‘continuad Lord Ellenborough, ¢ if other witnesses
are to be believed. that visiter went to ‘Lord Cochrane’s
house recently aiter having blazoned the false news, deco-
rated with.astar, a medallion, and dressed in a scarlet coat.”
T'hiis is nout corvect; fer there was ovly ane witness who
represenled such visiter coming to my house in a scarlet
coat, and not one word of the star or medalliou. Why did
not Lord Kllenberough submit to the jury, whether it was
probable that De Berenger came there, and in that dress,
by any [HLVI(HI% arrangement of mine? Why did he vet

say, that 1t was for the jury to inquire, whether he came
there as my instinment, or for his owil convernience ?

“ Fraving hunted (lawn the game,” continues this chief
justice, * the prosecutors at ldht showed what became of his
skin. And its a very malerial fact, that the defendant
‘Berenger siripped himeelf at Lord Cochrane’s,”  Why is
2l matt*rml / Because it is one ol those facts, whicha guilty
~man. would have been most anxious to eonceal: and since
this material fact never could hiave been known if | (Lmd
Cochrane) had vot voluntarily divulged it, is chiefly im-
portant, as furnishing steong presumptive pmaf of my 10no-
cence.

“ He stripped his. scarlet uniform off there, and the cis-

“camstance of its not heing green did vot excite Lord Coch-
rane’s suspicion.” Did not Lord Klleaborough know that
there was no-evidence hefore the jury of De Berenger’s

~pulling off his scarlet uniform at my house ? Even if it “had
been clear that he entered my housein that anilorm, which
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I verily believe he did not, which of the witnesses on the
trial saw him pull it off at my house?—Nor ove. On
~what ground, then, did the chief justice rest his assertion,
that he pulled off his scarlet coat in my presence ? Thathe
pulled off any coat atall in my presence, he has no autho- =
rity but my affidavit. And was he to give the prosccution
~the benefit of my evidence to the fact of De Berenger’s
pulling off a coat in my house, and to deprive me of the =
‘advantage of the like evidence as to the colour of it? k.
. Loord Ellenhorough goes on to say :—*¢ ‘I'hat dress was
~such as ought to have immediately excited the suspicion of
Lord Cochrane : for how could a man in such a disguise
-be supposed to have an houest purpose ? If the colour of
the coat escaped observation, what did he think of the star
and medal ? It became him, upon discovering these, as an
-officer and a gentleman, to communicate his suspicions of
these circumstances. Did he not ask De Berenger where
he had been in this dress? It was for the jury to say whe-
ther. Lord Cochrane did not know where lie had been.”
Had the jury, Sir, felt confidence iu their situation, would
they not have started up in the box, and desired the judge
_to refer to his minutes, and point out where it had been
given in evidence, that De Berenger was seen to wear the
star and medal in my presence ? 'I'his, perhaps, would have
stageered him, and have led him, not to inquire whether I
~did oot know where De Berenger had been, but to ask,
. where he himself was going—whether he was not travelling
BRE ok e Fecotd: o ® < A N RYWIEIT Rl
. % This,” continues the learned judee, “ was not the
" dress of a sharpshooter, but of a mountebank. He came
. before Lord Cochrane fully blazoned in the costume of his
crime.” This is one of those extraordinary effusions of
. Lord Ellenborough’s eloquence, that no language but his
.owncan do justice to— ~* * ¥ ¥ ¥ =
.. % And such a masquerade,” concludes his lordship,
“ should have excited Lord Cochrane, from his duty to
the public service, to inquire into, and, if he could ascertain
1, to expose promptly the errand of De Berenger.”
Throughout the whole of this charge— * * * #
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: ‘Whj, Sir, did pot the judge remiud the jury, that I was
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- from home when De Berenger arrived—that De Berenger
- remained at my house for ncarly iwo hours before 1 return-
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~ ed—that he hud with him a portmanteau big enough to wrap
- acoat in? Why did he not suy, that it was for the jury to
- consider, whether 1t was at all likely that De Berenger

-

~ should bave travelled to Dover in the dress of a mounte-

bank, bedecked with stars and orpaments? Did not the

judge know that lie must have gone to Dover in another
dress? The portmanteau could not be for the purpose of

~clean linen;——ciean linen would not have favoured the ap-

pearance of a sudden arrival from abroad. Why did net
Lord EHenborough submit to the jury, that the portmanteau
which served to couvey the ornamental dress to Dover,
would also serve to convey the plain dress back? And,
instead of asserting that the impostor appeared before me
fully blazoned in the costume of his crime, why did not the
judge submit to the jury, whether he had not the means and

-suflicient opportunity of changing his dress before I saw

Lim? Wlhy did he suppress the circumstance respecting
my brother’s illness, which was in evidence ; and why did
e pot ask, whether it was not possible that I might have
been deccived? Had bhe any sufficient reason for not re-
minding the jary, that De Berenger, admitting him to have
heen De Bourgh, did certainly take the best and easiest

“ineais to get at once out of the way, by applying to go on

board of my ship, where he had also a prospect of future

~advantage? Was there gny thing so strange in my paying

money to Mr, Butt, with whom I had constant pecuniary
transactions ? Lord Ellenborough, in his charge, made me
answerable for Mr. Butt’s application of his own money, and
jor the possession of notes by De Berenger, which were ex-
changed for notes that had before ceased to be mine. He
asserted, that my duty to the public ought to have made me
expose the fraud as soon as possible, as if it had been in
evidence that I did not; when the fact was, that the know-
ledge of the imposition having been practised by a person
coming to my house, pever reached me on board my ship
till the 9th of March, and I iostantly applied for leave of
ahsence, which I obtained, even hefere I heard from Lord
Melville upon the subject.  This was a fact well known to
the judge; and yet he represented me as having secreted
the fact of De Berenger’s coming to my honse. In short,
Sir, the main object of the prosecution was, I am thoroughly
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I now come, Sir, to the injustice done me subsequent to =~
the trial. I did think, that as the witnesses who could ma-
terially have contributed to prove my innocence of the
charge had not been examined, and as I could show that
their not being examined originated in error, and that such
error was not my own, that I had a just claim to a new
trial. T thought, too, that the circumstance of my defence
having been conducted jointly with that of another person,
coiitrary to my express il’ljll!lCtiOﬂ, and of the counsel for
that person having been compelled to enter HFOH the defence
when exhausted, and unequal to the task of doing justice
to his clients, and of my own ccunsel not having had an op.
portunity of speaking in my behalf, were additional reasons
for a revision of my case. It is notorious that I made two
applications for a new trial, and that both were rejected
under the pretext of a rule of court—which is, that no per-
son, however innocent, if included with othersin an indict-
ment for a coospiracy, and if, in the difficulty of separating
the cases, is condemned, shall be allowed a re-hearing, un-
less he can catch his supposed asseciates; and compel them
to accompany him into court—a condition which it is as ip-
ditpensable as impossible to perform. As I could neither
see the wisdom nor justice of this rule of court, I pressed
very hard to be heard in behalf of my application; bat it
so happened that another person, also convicted of a con-
epiracy, had that very morniog been refused a new {rial for
a similar reason; when his lordship said, that to grant to
me that which he hiad refused to Askew, would be to lay
down one law for the poor and another for the rich. He
sentenced the Askews, who were convicted of a erimc
of the first magnitude, to twelve months imprisonment and
the pillory ; and he passed the like sentence upon me, with
the additional penally of one thousand peunds. 'T'he court
must kilow,4liat oue part of the sentence would be worse to  *
me than death; and also well knew, that it was calculated
to lead to new pumishinents in other places. It was ig-
tended to deprive me of thoge marks of distinction of which
my sovereign once thought me deserving; to hereave
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of my commission in the navy, and of my geat in this
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On my recond attempt to obtain a new ftrial, T was in-

- decd permitted to speak; and 1 have reason to believe, that
the statcment which 1 then read convioeced lany persons
“ip cowrt, ard has sirce cenvinced many thousands out of

court, of my entire innccence. Of the different documents
on which my motion for anew trial was founded, some were
not permitted to be read, and others were only read to be
rejected.  Among the latter was my affidavit cf the 14th of
June, to which I call the attention of the house :—

Sir Twowvas CocHrRANE, commonly called Lord Cochrane, sne
of the above-named defendants, maketh oath and saith, that the several
facts and cireumstances stated in his affidavit, sworn on the 11th day of
March last, before Mr. Graham, the magistrate, are true. And this
deponent further saithy that in addition to the seversl faets and circum-
stances stated in his said affidavit, he deposeth as tollows: that is te
sav, thathe had net, direetly orindirectlv, any coneern whatever in the
formation, or any knowledge of the existevece ¢f an intention to form
tl.e piot charged in the indictment, or any other scheme or design for
affecting the publie fundes. T hat the sale of the pretended omnium, on
the 2:st day of February, was made in pursuanee of orders gi-en to his
broker at the time of the purchase thereof, on or about the 11th of
that r ¢ nth, to sel' the :ame whenevera profit of one per cent could be
realized  And that those directions were given, and the sale thereof
took . piace, withont any kiowledge, information; hint, or surmise on
the part of this deporent, of any concern or attempt whitever. to alter
the price of the funs, and the said sale on the 2'st took place entirely
without this deponent s knowledge. That when this deponent returned
home trom Mr Ying'smounutactory, on the 21st of I'ebruary, which he
did directly after the receipt of a note, he fully expected to have met
an officer {fror abrosd, with inteliigence from his brother, who had, by
letter to this deponent received on the Fridaf hefore, 'mrmmumnﬂt_ed
Lis being confined to his bed, and sevevely afficted by a {tange: ous ill-
pe<s, and abont whom this deponent was extremely anxious  but this
depouent found Captain De Berenger at his hovse, in & grav coar and a
green jacket. I hat this deponent never saw.the defendants Ralph
“andom, Alexander M¢‘Tae, John Feter Holloway, and Henry 1.yte,
or any or either of them, nor ever had any communication or corres-
Po-.denr:e with them, or any or either of them, directly or indirectly.
I'hat this deponent in pursnance of directions from the admiralty, pro-
ceeded to Chatham, to join his majesty’s ship *“ the Tonnant,” teo
which he had been appointed on the “th of "ebruarylast I hat the
ship was then hing at Chatham  That previous to the eighth day of
Februarv, this deponent applied to the admiralty tor leave o absence,
which was refused, until this deponent had io'ned the said ship, and
had removed her down to Long Reach; that <his deponent, in pursn-
ance of those direetions, removed the_ said ship from Chatham to L.ong
Reach, and after that was dere, (viz." on Ssturday, the 178! dayv of
the said month, this deponent wreote to the admiralty, to ¢pply for
teave of abscuce for a fertnight, for the purpose of ledging a specifica-
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tion for a pateat, as had been previously eominunicated by this depens
to their lordships; that leave of absence was accordingly granted f9
14 days, commencing on the i:th of the _said"ﬁionlh; that this depos s
nent was engaged in London. not expecting the said specification till =
the 258th of the said mouth, when the said specification was e mpicted,
aud this depouent left town about one o'clock in the morning ot the 1st
of March, and arvived at Chatham about daylight on the sume morn-
ing ; that en the 8th or 9th of tite same monch of March, thisdeponent
received an intimation, that placards were posted in scveral of the =
streets, stating that a preteaded Colonel De Bourgh had gone to this &
deponent s house in Green-sireet; that at the time this depunent re-
eeived this intimation, he was ou board the said ship at Long Reach, an
in conseguence went to Admiral Surridge, the port admiral at Uhat-
ham, to obtain lcave of absence, which was granted. trevious to the
receipt of the leave forwarded Ly the lords commissioners of the admi-
valty this deponent arrived 'n London on the 10th of that month, to
the best of his belief; and that after his arrival, conseious o! his own
innocence, and fearing ne consequences trom a development of his own
eonduet, and desiring only to rescue his character from errceneous im-
pressions, made by misrepresentations in the public prints, he, without
any eommunication whatever with any other person, and without any
assistance. on tie i.pulse of thhe moment, prepared the before-mens
tioned affidavit, which lLie swore before Mr. Graham, the magistrate,
on the t1th; that at the time he swore such :ffidavit, he had not seen
or heard the conteuts of the report published by the committee of the
stock exchange. except partial extracts in the newspapers; that whea
the deponent uuderstood that the prosecution was to be instituted
against him, he wrate to Admiral Fleming in_whose service Isaae
Davis, formerly this deponent’s servant, then was, under cover to
Admirat Bickerton, at Perismouth, and that Admiral Bickerton re
turned the letter, saying ‘hat Admiral Fleming hud sailed tor Gibral-
tar; that this deponent sent his scrvants, Thomas Dewman, Elizabeth
Rush, and Mary {urpin, on the trial ef his indiciment, to prove that -

an officer eame to the deponent’s house; on the morning of the said

21st of Februaiy, and toprove the dress that he came in: but that the

said Thomas Dewman on ly was called, and, as this depornent has been :
informed, he was not interrogated us to the dressin whieh the said offi-

ecr came to his house; and this deponent further says, that had the

said witnesses been examined acecovding to the direetions of this depo-

ren , and whd werg in attendance on the court for that express pur-
pose, they wonuld, as he verily believes, have removed every unfavoura-

ble conelusion respecting this deponent’s eonduct drawn from the supa
posed dress in which the said De Berenger appearcd before the depo-

nent on the Jlst of February,; and on which eircumstance so much
stress was laid in the eharge to the jury, the said De Berenger's dress
being exactly as stated in this deponent's former affidavit herein be-
fore-mentioned : and this deponent solemnly and positively denies. that.

he ever saw the said De Berenger in a scarlet uniform, decorated by
medals, or other insignia; and he had not the least suspicion of the

said De Berenger being engaged in any plot respecting the funds, hut
merely believed hie wished, for the reasons stated in deporent’s formey
affidavit, to go on board this deponent’'s ship, with a view to obtain
gome military employment in America; and this deponent declined
«omplving with his request to send him on board kis ship withou: pep.
wmission. or an order from the lords of the admiralty : and this depo-

sent further saith, that he was in no degree intimate with the said De
Berenger; that he had no personal knowledge of his private or publie

.3%
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- akaracter; that lie never asked the said De Berenger to his house,
- nor did he ever bieakfast or dine with this deponcnt therein, on any
- oeeasion whatsoever ; and fariher, this deponent saith, tiut he hath been
- informed, and verily believes, that the jury who tried the said indiet-
- ment, and the counsel tor the deience, were so completely exhausted
- and worn out by extreme fatigue, owing ro the court having continued
the trial without intermission for many hours beyond that time which
~ mature is capable of sustaining hevself without reflection and repose,
that justice could not be done to this depouent.

Thomas Dewmun, servant to Lord Cochrane, maketh oath, and
snith, that ne, this deponent, has lived with branehes of Lord Coehe-
rane’'s family for nearly twenty years; that Lie attended + .ord Coelirane
last year (o take letters, and go errands, and that i has becn in the
habit of going to Mr. King s manufactory almost every day; that this
deponent was in Lord Cochrane’s house, in Green-street, Grosvenor-
square, on the 21st day of February last, when an officer came in a
hackuey-coach, sbout ten o'clock in the morning; that this deponent
opened the door and spuke to the officer in the eoach, who asked if
Lord Coehranc was at home ; that this deponent replied he was not;
upon which the officer asked the deponentif he knew where Lord
Cochrane was gone to; to which the deponent answered, that he Le-

- lieved his lordship was gone 10 breakfast with his uncle in Cumber-
land-street ; that the officer then asked if he could let him have aslip
of paper, and a pen and ink, which this depoune: t said he could; that
this deponent then opened the coach door, and the officer came into
the house and went into the parlour, where this deponent gave him a
amall slip of paper,-apon which he wrote a tew lines by way of note,
and desired this deponent to take the same to Lord Cochrane, in Cum-
berland-street ; that this deponent went immediately into Camberland-
street. but finding that Lord Cocprane was gone, he returned with the
note to the officerin Green-strreet: that on his retarn, the officer asked
deponentif he knew where he could find him; that the deponent then
told theofficer Lie had been ovdered by Liord Cochrane to follow him to
Mr. King s manufactory with a glass globe, and thought it probable he
might meet with his lordship there, and if he did not he would then go
to the admiralty, where lie understood his lordship was to go that day;
that the officer then took haek the note from the deponént, opened it,
and wrote a line ortwo more, and then re-sealed it and gave it to the
deponent, requesting him to take it immediately to Mr King's manus
Factory, and that if he did nor meet with ord Cochrane there, he
would t=ke the note tothe admiralty, and If his lordship had not been
at the atdmiralty, to leave it there: that on the officer’s requesting de-
ponent ta 2o to M. King s mannfactory, he told the deponent that his
finding Lo=d Cochrane was of consequence. and therefore begged de-
ponent to be as expeditious as he could, and if necessary, to take a
enaeh ¢ that thie deponent did not take a coach, but went instantly to
Mr. Kinge's manvfactory, where he met Lord Coehrane and delivered
him the note, which he opened in deponent’s presence ; t_hat, upon
ope ning the note, Lord Coehrane asked deponent several times if he
knew whe the gent’eman was that had written it, and upon depﬂnent‘g
informing him he did not, Lord Qnﬁhrane made several inqniriesasto
hig appearance and dress observing that he eould not make out the
whole of the note, or who it came from: to this deponent answered
that he was an army officer, upen which Leord Cechrane, having toxn
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the note, said * Very well, Thomas, Pll go back;” that frem Lo
Cochrane s manner and appearance, and the (. IE8LIONS hﬂ,llllt to dt':pq“ .

neut ou Lis delivering the note, this deponentverily belicves that hse
Lerdship did not kuow from whem it came; and tiis deponent for-
ther saith, that when the officer came 11to Gireen street, ac above sta-

ted he was dressed in a gray great cout, such as the Guards wear,

which was buttoned close round the Lody up 1o the breast, avd thatsueh
part of the under cout as he couid see, was of a dark green colour ; that 2R
upon the oflicer's coming out of the coach into Loid Cochrane s house, 5"
he brought with him a sword, aud a2 small lcather clothes bag or port. &
manteau, which depouent believes might have held a change of clothes § g

that .his deponent further saith, that he was hired by Lis lordship at
Christmnas last to go into tlie country, and relieve Jsichard Carter, his
lordship s aca-steward; _that this deponent left Lendon about the 25th
day of February, and l_..lulmrd Carter. the sea-stewarc then came to
town ijor the purpose of accompanying Lord Cochrane to his ship,
Sworn in court this 14th
day of June, 1814.  THOMAS DEWMAN. -
By the court.
Mary Turpin, cook-maid to Lord Cechrane, maketh oath and saith,
that she went into his lordship’s service on the 18th day of February
lagt, and that she wasia the house on the 21st day of February, when
an officer came there, and that she was in the kitehen at the time the
coach drove to the door; that she saw an officer alight from the coach
and come into the house ; that lie arrived a little before vine o'clock;
that this deponent went twice Into the parlour while the oflicer was
there, and doth most positively swear that he wore a gray great coat,
buttoned up, with a dark green collar, or green facing under it. { hat
the officer had with him a dark military eap, with a gold baud round
it, and also a sword, and a smull portmanteau. S
Sworn in court, 14th day of | MARY TULKPIN.
June 1814, — by the Court. |

Eleanor Burnes, house.keeper to 1.ord Cochrane, maketh oath and
saith, that she has lived with his lordship since January last and well
remembers bein: t Id that an officer came to his lordship s house in
Green-s reet, Grosvenor-square on Monday the Z1st of February
last; and this deponent farther saith, that at the time the officer ar-
yived she was uot at home, but that she returned beitween eleven and
twelve o clock. T'hat seeing a cap in the parlonr, sheinquired of M ary
Turpin whose eap it was, and that the «aid Mary Turpin re plied, that
it belonged to an officer who was with his lordship in the drawing-
room . and this deponent further saith, that she took up the cap whield
was of a dark brown colour, with a gold band and tassel and immedi-
ately afterwards went to her room, aud did not see the officer. 'l hat the,
deponent never saw Captsin Berenger to her knowledge ;

Sworn in eonirt, June 14, 1814, LLEANORA BURNES. .

By the court.
; LS |

Sarah Busty, of No 4. Great Marv-le-bonne-street, in the county of
Middlesex, spinster, maaketh oath and saith, that she lived a ser-
vant with Lord Coehrane for nearly twelve menths and that she quit-
ted his service on the evening of the 2ist of February last; that she
well remembers an officer coming te his lovdship’s house in Green-
wtreety on the morning of that day; that the efficer sent the man-sers
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- wvanfoul; thatthe officer had agray great soat, which was buttosed up to
~ the breasi, and that the neck of his under coat, or such part as she
- oould see, was a dark green; and he had also with ‘him a military cap.
- Sworn at my chambers in Sergeant's SARAH BUST.
Inn, Londou, this 13th June, 1814. | |

8. Lz BLANc,

Here, Sir, T submit, is ample refutation of the aspersions
cast upon me Irom the Beoch, I trust the house will now
be satisfied, that I lost no tume in divulging all that passed,
and did, at the eariiest possible peried, make a full disclo-
sure of all thiat passed between me and De Berenger on the
21st of February, and that he did not appear before me in
the  costume of his crime.” ' A
Of all tyranuies, Sir, tlie worst is that which exercises its
vengeance under the guise of judicial proceedings, aud es-
peciaily if a jury make part of the means by which its base
purposes are cffected. The man who is flung into a prison,
or sent to the scaffold, at the nod of an avowed despotism,
kas, at least, the consolation to know that his sufferings
bring down upon that despotism the execration of muki'&% :
but he who is entrapped and entangled in the meshes of a
crafty and corrupt system of jurispradence—who is pur-
sued imperceptibly by a law with leaden leet apd iron jaws
—who is not put upon his trial till the ear of the pubiic
has been poisoned, and its heart steeled against him, falls,
at last. without being checered with a hope of seeing his
tyrants execrated, even by the warmest of bis {riends. In
their principle, the ancient and settied laws of England are
exceilent; but, of late years, and especially since the com-
mencement of the present reign, so many injurious and fatal
alterations in the Jaw have taken place, that any man who °
ventures to meddle with public affairs, and to oppose per.
gons in power, is sure and certain, sooner or later, to suffer
7D some way or other. |
- Sir, thepunishment which the malice of my eunemies has
'wrocured to be inflicted on me, is not, in my mind, worth a
snoment’s reflection.  The judge snpposed, apparently, that
his sentence of pillory would disgrace and mortify me. I
can assure him, and I selemply assare this house, my con-
stituents, and my eountry, that I would rather stand, in my
own name, in the pillory every day of my life under such
a sentence, than I wonld sit upon the beuch iu the name of
¥ % # %7 for one single hour.
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Something has been said, Sir, in this house, as T have

read, about an application for a mitigation of my sentence,
in a certain quarter, where it is ohserved, that mercy never

- failed to flow. 1t was, I am informed, his majesty’s attor-

ney general, who (1 suppose unintentionally) offered this
last insult to my feelings. 1 excuse it, because I am aware,
that the learned gentleman is an utter stranger to the senti-
meuts that inhabit my bosom; but I can assure him, that
an application for pardon, extorted from me, is one of the
things which nothing has the power to accomplish. No, sir,
I will seek, and 1 look for parden no where; for I have
eommitied no erime. 1 have sought for, I still seek for, and
I coifidently expect, justice ; not at the hands, however, of
thiose by whose machinations 1 have been brought to what
they regard as my ruin, but at the hands of my enlighten-
ed and virtuous constituents, to whose exertions alone the
ration owes that there is still a voice to cry out against
that haughty and inexorable tyranny which now commands
silence to all but parasites and hypocrites.

His lordship concluded by protesting before Almighty
€od, that he never knew any thing about the offence of
which he had been found guilty.

Tle noble lord then handed to the clerk various letters
and affidavits for the information of the house. :

The Speaxer said, the noble lord having now concluded
his defence, he will withdraw.

Lord Cocuraxr. I chall withdraw, Sir; I cannot too
often or too earnestly implore the house to irquire. Ne-
ver in the history of this country was a cace of cuch gross
and crvel injustice recorded. I could submit to any pun-
ishment, howeve r severe, after due inquiry, but I entreat the |
house to eive me an opportunity of proving how the bank
rotes came into the hands of Mr. Butt, and other strong
circumstances to which I have referred in the course of
my defence, and I pledee my honcur that net a doubt
wil' remain on the mind of a single: member in the house.”
His lordship, then in the aet of withdrawing, stopped and
mode ar eppeal to the house. which, from his own evident
cmotions and pecuiiarly impressive maoner of delivery, ex-
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cited universal and compassionate attention. “Tam en-
tirely iguorant of the whole transaction: I call the Al-
mighty God to witness this asseveration. If I am guilty,
after your investigation, consign me then toinfamy and ruin;
but let me not be gum.m’ari'!y sacrificed with all my weapons
of defeuce unproduced and rejected. If even that jury

knew these facts, they would pot have returned such a
verdict.”

Lord CocurANE then withdrew.

The SpraKER proposed that his lordship should be re-
manded into the custody from which he had been brought,
which, on the motion of Lord CAsTLEREAGH, Was ordered.
~ Lord CasTLEREAGH sald, he was certain there could be
but one wish in this house—that of hearing all the noble
lord could say in his own defence; but it could not have es-
caped the house, that great part of the noble lord’s siate-
ment had the object of crimivating persons of the highest
character in the kinzdom. He had not interrupted the no-
ble lord, because, in such a case as this, it was difficult to
distinguish at what point it was proper to interfere; but he
did now trust that nooe of the calumnies uttered by the no-
ble lord would be reported elsewhere. If such should be
the case, it must be considered 28 a great and wanton
abuse of indulgence ; and il it should be followed by notice
oo the part of any one, he trusted none of those concerned
would consider or urge a want of warning as a justification
or excuse ! : ; | 5
-~ Mzr. BroapaeaDp observed, it was impossible apy person
conld witness the fall of such a man as he who had just
left the house, without the greatest pain; and much lament-
ed, that in justice to-themselves, the house could not pass
his case over. Wiih respect to the address of the noble
lord, he would make no abservation upon it, but content
himzelf with following the course he bad laid down for
himself, and leave the house to act upov it. He had felt
it necessary for the honour of the house to call its attention

" to this case. Aflter alluding to the case of Mr. Walsh, a

member of the house, who was condemned to be hung, but
afterwards pardoned, Mr. B. moved—* That it appeared
el

[
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to the house, that Thomas Lord Cochrane had been con-
victed of a conspiracy with others, to raise the price of
the funds,” &c. | |

Mr. Browne said, the house had heard the speech of
the poble lord, and the ground on which the hou. gentleman
had moved his lordship’s expulsion. It would be for the
house to say whether it would judge from the evidence, or
from the record of the conviction merely. In what he (Mr.
Browne) on a lormer occasion, had urged to induce the
house to review the evidence, and not to judge by the ver-
dict, he had been led by a sense of justice, because the no-
ble lord had been exciuded by a rule of court from obtain-
ing a review of his €ase. "I'he very course that had been
taken convinced him, that a review of the circumstances
ought to be taken by the house. For if it did not, they
could not determmine on the circumstances stated by the no-
ble lord in his justification. It had been admitted on all
haunds, that when there was any matter presented to the
house to shake its confidence in the judgment of a court
below, it was its bounden duty to review the evidence. In
this case the noble lord had solemnly protested his inno-
cence. A learned gentleman would tell him that few per-
sons were to be found complaisant enough to confess the jus:
tice of their sentence. But from the habits and the miad
of Lord Cochrane, he did not believe he could have faced
that awful tribunal, and assert his innocence so solemnly,
unless he was impressed with the fullest conviction of it.
Could any man say that his mind was made up as to the
complete and positive guilt of the noble Jord ? It was sufii-
cient to shake the confidence in the verdict, and to suspend
20 penal a motion as that of the hon. gentleman, when he
- heard a whisper against the manner in which the noble
jadge was said to have addressed the jury, It was too much,
with so few facts before the house, for them to say that the
noble lord at the head of the court had not interfered in
the way described by Lord Cochrane with the course of
public justice. The case should be referred, he thought, to
2 select committee to take it into consideration, and to ve.
port upon it.  He then moved that the statement of Lord
Cochrane should be referred toa select committee, with
leave to send for papers and examine witnesges.

The ArrTorvev-GeENewaL said, that in point of form,
the present motion differed from-that made by the same
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honourable gentleman ; but the foundations of both motious
diifered very little indeed Tne first was, because the no-
ble lord liad been refused a new trial by a rule of court :
but he repeated, that the ruie in question did not so operate
to the disadvantage of the noble lord. I'wo questions had
been propounded to the friends of the noble judge : one
was, whetber e had not directed the counsel for the prose-
cution as to the manner ol drawing up the indictment against
Lord Cochrane ? He asserted that no such thing was done.
The verdict had been arraigned on another ground; for it
had been stated, that the chief justice could not procure a
verdict against Lord Cochrane without having a jury
packerl, and under his influence : appointed by an officer
who obtained his situation for political purposes, in order
to do this work of iniquity. The jury was appointed by
the master of the crown office, who was removable, like
the chief justice himself, only in consequence of bad beha-
viour. The agents of these defendants were of the most
respectable -of the profession; but the hon. member, whe
had not appeared iu his place, had himself attended the re-
duction of the jury.

Mr. BranD said, he thought that before they should send
a member back to his coustituents, they should have before
them the evidence on which the record of his conviction
rested. Inthis case he thought it peculiarly necessary ; for
the case of the noble lord depended on the dress in which
~De Berenger had arrived at his house ; and also en the way
in which the bank notes the noble lord had given to Mr.
Butt came to De Bereager’s hands. Now, the noble lord
had stated, that it was only within a few days he wasable to
account, by his wine merchant, for the notes; and indeed
he had now oifered evidence, which, in his opinion, the
house, in justice to his character, onght to examine.

Mr. Baraam though' it no wonder, if Lord Cochrane
should be innocent, that he should look with jealonsy to
his right hand and to his left. It must be remembered, that
one in his si'uation could not well be supposed to speak
in cool blood. His (Mr. B’s.) conviction of the noble lord’s
innocence had been gradualiy gaining strength; for he Ap-
peared to have lahoured nunder a great disadvantage on his
trial, in consequence of his coaduct having been arraigned
by a previous tribunal, unknown to the law. Besides, he
seemed to have been 50 full of his ianocence, as not to have
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taken common care to secure himself upon the trial. In
consequence of those circumstasices, and the punishment so
excessive, he could not vote for more punishment,

Mr. Ponsonpy said, asto the rule which had prevented
the noble lord from obtaining a pew trial, he was unable for his
part to know on what principle of law or justice it could be
allowed to stand. By that rule the innocent might be con-
founded wiih the guilty, although they were told from the
highest authority, that it is better that 99 unjust persons
should escape, rather than one just one should be punished.
Lord Cochrane had stated that he had it ia his power to
prove that the notes had found their way into De Beren-
ger’s possession without his privacy. 1f that were true,
he (Mr. P.) could not vote for his expulsion. Being now
called to superadd another punishment on the neble lord,
ke was of opinion tha: they should have all the evidence
brought before them. Tor this purpose he thought-a secret
committee would be best. e was the last man who would
interfere with the due administration of justece 3 but he saw
no danger in proceeding this way. Even it might be as
well to adjourn the debate, to give them time to think upon
the subject; for at that time he could not bring himself to
vote for the expulsien. ; |

Lord CastLEreaaH thought it necessary, for the charac.
ter of parliament, to make up its mind as soon as possible,
on the principles on which 1t should proceed in a case of
this kind. If this proceeding were not well weighed, par-
liament would be opening a door for others to expect the
same chance of clearing themselves. He had always un-
derstood, that by expulsion no addition “was made to the
ignominy of the person accused ; that the house could not
iuquire into their guilt or innocence, but only that they
were no longer fit persons to hold a place iv the ecouncils
of the nation. He entreated the house not to delezate to a
committee above stairs the power of investigatineg the char-
acters of the courts of law, and that too in a star chamber,
sitring in secrcey. He trusted the house wounld be better
to endure an individual so charged amongst them, thao to
assume a jurisdiction which it couid npever exert for the
general benefit,  He therefore conjured the house not to
think they were iuflicting punishment ; for that implied a
rvight of trial.
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Mr. 8. WorrrLeY would rather vote for the amendment
than for the original motion. He had always had some
doubt of the guilt of the noble lord, aud he now had more ;
for it might have been a contrivance of others to throw the
blame on him.

Mr. Bankes said, that there were only two modes in
which they could proceed ; and these were, either to reject
the motion of the honourable gentleman opposite, or to pro-
ceed to the expulsion. If members had strong doubts as to
the guilt of the noble lord, it became them to act accord-
ing to the dictates of their own consciences, aud acquit him
but if they should they would be acting contrary to the pre-
cedents of that house; for there was po instance of a crimi-
ual conviction agamst a member, where the expulsion did
not follow as a matter of course. The house was utterly
incapable, by any of its kaown powers, to re-try_a cause
which had been determined by the highest court of juris-

pradence in the country ; and would it delegate to a select
commitiee the powers it 'did not possess ?

Mr. WuiTBreAD was surprised that the hon. gentleman
would wish them to be so buried in precedenls as to be
bound by them to do injustice. It was only by considering
this case unmixed with others, that we could come to a
conclusion with justice to the noble lord who had that night
exhibited a sad reverse of all that was distinguished in hla
profession, and noble in his rank. He, however, saw great
difficulty in the mode of proceeding. He (Mr. W.) might
think the noble lord innocent, without arraigning the ver-
dict, or blaming the conduct of the bench. "The impres-
sion on his mind was, that the neble lord seemed to be willing

to array the whole feelings of the house against him. He
should vote against the expulsion, because “his doubts were
strong ; for he might have been entrapped by others. He
(Mr. W.) alluded to the advice the person who had ab-
sconded had given to the noble lord not to go down to the
house and defend himself, on the first mention of this con-
_spiracy ; because il he did, it would be his utter ruin. It
was possible that this person might have wisled him in more

instances than one. 1f it came to a vote of expulsion, he
would say—Not Guilty.

Mr. Baraurst said, it was utterly impossible that an
inquiry like that proposed could take place, for they could
not summon the noble lord who tried the cause before a se-
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~fect committee to be examined. 'There were many in-
stances in which persons had gone out of the world persist-
ing in a falsehood ; and a relative of the noble lord had ae-
serted his innocence in that house ; yet no one had attempt-
ed to state that he was so, or that a jury had been packed
against him. But he might, if he chose to appear, have a
story as good to tell as the noble lord had. Besides, this
person had stated, that he meant again to hold himself up
to his constituents, and that might be a motive for all the
steps he had taken in his defence. As to the facts which
the noble lord had represented he could now prove, there
appeared to him nothing in them to have prevented their
having been proved on the trial. Indeed, there was no-
thing in the case that should induce the house to travel out
of its usual path. " |

Sir Francis BurperT felt that the asperity by which
the speech of the right hon. gentieman who had just sat
down had been characterized, would be more than compen-
sated for, in the mind of every persoun who entertained sen-
timents friendly to the noble lord, by the liberality and ge-
perosity which seemed to pervade the house at large. He
could not help giving utterance to the mixed feelings which
ihis contrast had excited in his own bosom. He must pre-
viously observe, that the right hon. gentleman had abandon-
ed the ground upon which he had .at first taken his stand,
namely, that a vete of expulsicn was to be founded on the
record; and he thought there was much want of candour
evinced by the ground he had substituted. ¥e had alto-
gether misrepresented the statement made by the noble lord,
with respect to the mention made of the judge’s charge re-
lative to the appearance of M. De Berenger before the noble
. lord, arrayed in the insignia of various orders and other
marks of rank ; and he must, for his own part, now declare,
that had he been on the jury which tried the noble lord, he
should have felt himsell bound by his oath to find a verdict
of guilty on that representation which it appeared had been
made by the judge, and which the evidence did not justify.
(Hear —The right honourable gentleman had assumed
that Mr. Cochrane Johnstoune, and the other persons suppo-
sed to be concerned in the conspiracy, might urge the same
grounds of indemnity as those urged by the noble lord: but
thow could he for a moment overlook the different situations
ia which persons were placed by their conduct? Mr, Coeh-
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rane Johnstone had fled from the animadversion of the Iaw,
while his noble relation had stood his eround, and challen-
wed that animadversion, and, anxious only to establish the
parity of his character, laughed at its peualties. He was
unwilling to impute any improper motives to the jury which
had tried the noble lord, but he thought that circumstances
had come to light since the trial, which if they had been be-
fore them would have altogether changed the nature of
their verdict. 'I’he honourable baronet then animadverted
on the lofty manner in which the noble lord (Castlewaﬂ-h)
had held up the character of the judge as proof against any
attack, and coupled it with the terror which he had imme-
dmtel) after endeavoured to infuse into-the minds of the
persons who attended the house for the purpoese of reporting
the debates. He then went on to state his thorough belief of
the innocence of the noble lord; commented on the nature
of special juries: on that of the evidence which had been
adduced on the trial, and dwelt much on the improbability of
T.ord C. becoming, all at once, a base and unprincipled
swindler; and concluded with expressing a hope, that the
house would not proceed suddenly to so severe a measure
as had been cslled for by the motion before them,

Myr. C. W, WyNNE thouwht that if the motion for expul-\
sion was refused, some measure ulterior to that of a com-
wittee of inquiry, if it established the innocenee of the noble
tord, must of necessity be resorted to.
| Co]oncl VysE thought the notoriety of the conviction, and
*the grounds on which it was brought, a suﬂiclent authority

for the house.
The SoriciTor G ENERAL expresaed hlB conﬂctmn that

no sufficient erounds had been laid for a departure from
former precedents.

Lord A. HamrrtoN was of opinion that sufficient ormunds
had been laid for the postponement of the discussion.

Mr. WILBERFORCE in strong terms deprecated any pro-
cceding which could in any way veflect upon the purity and
sacredness of our judicial institutions, which formed the pe-
culiar admiration of other eountries,

Mr. WrorresLEY, after some intermediate conversation,
moved, that the faither consideration of the question be ad-
Jnumed to this day se’nnight. |

Yovd CasTrrRrFAGH OPPQSPd the second amendment, as
centaining a highly objectionable principle, that of resexv
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ing to the house the discretion of reviewing the evidence
ol a court of criminal justice. |
Mr. W. Ssura was decidedly of opinion, that the con-
duct of the judges was open to parliamentary lnquiry ; and
with his feelings and opioions oa the subject, he lelt it his
imperative duty to sapport the question for delay.
The house then divided ou the question for adjournment.
For the question 74— Against it, 142—Majority, 68,
A division then took place on the question of the expul-
dion, For the expulsion, 140—Against it, 41-Majority, €9.

e e —

WESTMINSTER MEETING.

On Monday the 11th July, 1814, a very numerous
meeting of the electors of Westminster was convened in
Palace yard, pursuant to a requisition for the purpose of
considering of a fit and proper person to serve in parlia-
ment for the city of Westminster, in consequence of the
present vacancy. | |

At one o'clock, when the high bailiff appeared on the
hustings, accompanied by Sir F. Burdett, Major Cart-
wright, Mr. Wishart, &c. the surrounding crowd burst out
" into loud cries of ¢ Lord Cochrane! Lord Cochrane?’—
‘The high bailiff stated to the meeting, that he had received
two letters, the one from Lord Cochrane, (the same as the
defence he read in the house of commons,) which contain-
ing matter that might be deemed libellous, he hoped they
would excuse him reading; the other from R. B. Sheri-
dan, Esq. which, with their permission, he would read,

T'he purport of Mr. Sheridan’s letter was to inform the
electors, that although he had been requested by a respect-
able number of the citizens of Westminster to stand as a
candidate on the day of election, he waived his right and
interest, on this occasion, in favour of Lord Cochrane. The
clectors expressed their sense of his generous and disinter-
ested conduct, by loud and repeated applause.

Sir F. BurpeTT delivered a very animated speech; in
the course of which he strongly reprobated the conduct of
Lord Ellenborough. and the sentence of the jury, protest.
ing that he was thoroughly c$vinced of the entire jnno-
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cence of Lord Cochrane, and moved that the meeting

should declare the same conviction. |
Mr. Wisnart and Major CARTWRIGHT supported the

motion, which, after an address from Mr. Alderman Woopn,

was unanimously carried by acclamation; and also, that

his lordship should be put in nomination on the approaching

day of election.

o p—

WESTMINSTER ELECTION.

On Saturday, the 9th of July, pursuant to public notifi-
calion, the electors of the c¢ily of Westminster assembled
in the front of Covent-garden church, for the purpose of
electing a representative to serve inthe present parliament,
an the room of Lovd Cochrane, recently expelled the
“house of commons. At nine o’clock, Sir Francis Burdett,
accompanied by the Westminster Committee, appeared on
the hustings, amid repeated shouts, and continued acclama-
tions. The crowd collected was immense, and when the
elock struck ten, an universal shout was set up, and cries
of «“ Cochrane, Cochrane!” arose on all sides, and conti-
uued while Mr. Morris, the high bailiff, read the speaker’s
-warrant for a new elect'on, aud took the oaths commenly
administered, to insure a fair and impartial returp.

=ir Francis Burprrr came forward amid universal
scclamation, and addresscd his constituents in nearly the
following words :=— R
~ “Electors of Westminster—Gentlemen, in pursuance of

- the unanimous resolution ol the electors lately assembled
-in Palace-yard, I appear before yoa to put your declaration
an practice 3 and sueh has been the effeet of your spirit and
unanimity, that you are not faced to-day by any court

candidate or pretender of apy description; your resolution
has imposed silence on all parties. (Loud applause.) It
would ill beceme me to detain you from fulfilling the great
purpose for which yeu have assembled, namely, to maintain
the cause of the oppressed; but my duty prompts me, and
perhaps it might be expected that T should address a few
words to the enlightened electors ef Westminster on an ocs
casion so novel and momentous. (Applause.) Gentlemen,
this day you preseut the most aiigust spectacle which the
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world can exhibit—the image of a free people—a people ap-
pealed to as the last resort, by a gallant and innocent mdi-
vidual, almost overwhelmed by artful machinations, who
tarns his eyes to you in his despair, and appeals to your
judgment with a coufidence and with a firmness which in-
nocence, innocence only can inspire. (Applause.) You
appear in the character of the muost dislingulsl}ed
among the people of England for honesty, lit)cri.-lhz,y,
and justice; and those pre€minent characteristics will be
to-day sufficiently and effectually displayed. It is need-
less for me to recommend, on the ground of personal merits,
the person whom 1 propose to name for your nominatiosn.
Here we stand without any view to personal merits, ot
merits of any description whatever, in defence of an
oppressed man, as the lovers of justice, with all iis
distingnishing attributes. 'Though wicked reports, and
though malignant artifices have been but too successfully
played off against Liord Cochrane, they can have no weight
here: Let us proceed as in the case of one whose apostacy
-afterwards injured the cause he pretended to espouse, who
was believed a patriot, and foin | dishounest, 1 mean John
Wilkes. Let us imitate the example of those who, in spite
of all disadvantages, supported him from a sense of justice,
and because he maintained the great cause of liberty, which
never fails to vibrate in the uncorrupted hearts of English-
men. (Loud applause.) Gentlemen, you displayed a Jaud-
able respect, reverence, and admiration for the illustrious
sovereigns of the north who have recently visited you; you
admired, you reverenced them as the pretectors of the
liberty, and promoters of the happliess of mankind ; for
had they appeared in their own artificial situations as kings
and emperors, undistinguished by any other attiibute which
adorns and elevates human nature, they would have passed
along our streets unnoticed and neglected.  (dpplause.) 1
lament that those illustrious visitants have gone away with-
out witnessing what far ontweighed all the treats, the shows,
and enteriainments with, witich they were welcomed—a
spectacle exhibiting a {rce people maintaining the right of a
free citizen against the arm of power and corruption—a
sight which no other nation on earth can aflord them. (A4p-
plause.) Gentlemen, I lament their departure; for now the
~emperor of Russia may traverse his vast dominions from
limit to limit, may visit all ether nations, civilized or bar-
barou¢, and remain unsatisfied that any cne nation ynaintains
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liberty as its leading feature. (dpplause.) This great and
enlightened city has set an examnpie of a more exalted na-
ture than any recorded in history ; and even the best pe-
riod of the asueient and glorious republic of Rome sinks
by comparison. A people now appears unlikely to be biassed
by fraud or corruption, who are above bribery ; whaose ho-
nesty, like the chastity of Cwesar’s wile, is even unsaspect.
ed; whom the hand of corruption dares not touch, from re-
spect and dread of superior virtue: aud these people ave
the inhabitants of Westminster. We have heard fately a
ercat deal about hoaxes. Lord Ceochrane himsell was ac-
cused of being concerned in a hoax ; unfortunately there
are many hoaxes in the world. We are told, that a person
accused is entitled to a trial by a jury, not composed of
men chosen, selected and picked ; and can a greater hoax
be played upon any man than to place him before a picked
jury, and afterwards tell him he Las been tried according to
the law of the land ? IL is also constitutional language to
say that a judgze ought tobe impartial, and not sit unmoved
like a stone on the bench: we are also told he should be
counsel for the prisoner, but what kind of couunsel was
Lord for Lord Cochrane ? Wasuot the latter cer-
tainly hoaxed P—Wherever we walk and turn ousselves,
we see lloaxes P——We gee a hoax on the Serpentine River 5
we see another in St. James’s Park : and what is the great-
est hoax of all, we are informed it is all to please the peo-
ple, as if the whole proceeded from the liberality of those
who gave orders for those entertatnments. (Laughicr and
applause.) 1 happened to Jook into a newspaper this morn-
ing, where I saw with wmuch surprise the following para-
graph—a newspaper, too, remarkable for hoaxing, and
which, some time ago, fabricated a French newspaper for
the purpose of raising the funds :—* The Princess Charlotte
continues to reside at Carlton House, and expresses the
greatest satisfaction with her situation : her royal highness
s highly pleased wilh her reception,” &c. Now, this ap-
pears the greatest and most impudent hoax of all I have
enumerated. But there is a greater hoax still ;—even the
gentlemen who meet in St. Stephen’s Chapel, whose pockets
are filled with the gain of the public money. those very de-
ticate gentlemen, who denominate themselves the represen-
tatives of the people of England—this is a hoax which,
with your support, now since the time of danger is passed




105

over, I would willingly crush, and, with one united effort,
place in their stead the real representatives of the country.
(dpplause)—1f one argument to accomplish this be greater
than another, it is the example of the electors of W estmin-
ster on this and all occasions, and which effectually contra-
dicts the courtly falsehoods held out against the people, as
if they were incapable of performing aught except by the
exertion of brutal force. You, gentlemen, permit not yours
selves to be solicited for your suffrages; you bestow them
spontaneously ; and they would lose your support, as well
as your respect, who would clasp your hands, as I have
seen some great men doing to others, and solicit your votes.
(Applause.) 1 wish to see your bright example followed
throughout the kingdom ; then corruption will hide its head,
and oppression yield to justice. (Applause.) What would
have been the condition of Lord Cochrane to day, had he
appeared as the representative of some rotten and insigni-
ficant borough? He would have beea lost without redemp-
tion—You wiill have the satisfaction of redeeming from
complete perdition an jnnocent man—the pleasure of de-
stroying the well-wove web of deception, and giving a
severe, if not a mortal thrust to that system of cor-
ruption which it has been the aim and endeavour of
my life to overthrow. (dpplause.) 1 will only say, that
Lord Cochrane, during the whole of this trying accusation,
has done nothing to which I would not subscribe—has done
nothing but what merits your praise and your cordial sup-
pert; and I conclude by recommending, for your unsolicited
representative in parliament, Sir Thomasébchrane, Com=
moniy called Lord Cochrane.” (Loud and continued ac-
clamation and shouts of “ Lord Cochrane forever !—the gal-
lant Lerd Cechrane 1) '

Mr. SrurcH came forward, amid repeated cheers, to
second the motion. When he formerly appeared before
the enlightened inhabitants of Westminster, none could
suppose he had the vanity -to imagine, that his recommen-
dation of a person for their representative could have any
weight. Ile knew then he had litile more to do than te
mention the name of that tried patriot and undaunted ser-
vant of the public, Sir Francis Burdett, to ensure his elec-

tion. (Applause.) He was conscious of his inability to

strengthen the impression made on their minds by the elo-
quent specch just delivered by the Hon. Baronet, recom-
mending Lord Cochrane as their representative, He woujp
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have taken no part in the present .business himself had he
not most carelully examined the best accounts of the trial
of his lordship, by which he was confirmed 1o the persua-
sion of his innocence. His concurrence with the motion
of re-election proceeded from a feeling of duty; for he had
no concern in the former nomination of Liord Cochrane: he
- had no connexion with him whatever ; nor had he ever
conversed with him till after his committal, when he waited
on him to offer consolation, and found him calm and trap-
quil ; and the collected manner in which he talked of his
misfortunes strengthened the belief of his innocence. On
the ground of innocence alone he wished to recommend
Lord Cochrane to their protection; he would not even
mention him as the undaunted ofposer of a corrupt admi-
nistration, nor describe him as a frarless commander, whe
had a thousand times risked his life for his country. Howe
ever plain the guilt of others might appear, Lord Cochrane
had been convicted without sufficient evidence, and senten-
ced to a punishment at which the whole kingdom stood as-
tonished. Let them, therefore, show their detestation of
the manoer io which he had been treated, by restoring him,
free of expense, to the seat from whence he had been exe
pelled. Many a time Lord Cochrane had felt for the op-
pressed ; he was oppressed now in his turn; let them exert
themselves in his behalf, not from his merit, but out of re-
spect to their own hooour.

The high bailiff then aonounced to the electors, that
Lord Cochrane*was duly returned as representative in par-
Hiament for Westmioster, at which an universal shout was
raised.

Alderman Woop then came forward, and congratulated

the meeting on the re-election of Lord Cochrane. He
complained that one of the newspapers had misrepresented
a speech which be had the honour of making in palace-
yard : he was made to.say, that in a little chit-chat with
some of the jury that tried Lovd Cochrane, they informed
him, that if his lordship had defended himself 28 well at
the Kiog’s Bench as he had done in parliament, they
would not have found him guilly. This declaration was
not made in a little chif-chat, but in a serious conversation,

which had much influence on his mind. Something vin-

dictive certainly appeared al the hotton of the prosecu-
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tion ; for a positive order had been sent to the sheriffs to
place Lord Cochrane on the pillory on the 10th of August
(cries of never, never! shameful!)—He had once been
sherifl' himself, and were he sherfl now, when such an
order was given, he would say it did not suit ns pleasure ;
he would place him in the pillory when it pleased himself.
(A4pprlause.) They had been told of the Kindness of Carlton
House for the people ; but he could tell them, with all this
kindness, an illustrious personage had tried to get out of
that people’s clutches three times. A pleasing task had
~ devolved on himn, of proposing a vote of thanks to the
- high bailiff of Westminster, for his good conduct on this
~ woceasion. This motion was carried with acclamation.

The thanks of the electors were also given, on the mo-
tion of Mr. Wishart, to their truly honourable and patri-"
otic representative, Sir I'. Burdett; and acknowledgments
& were made by the worthy baronet iu a brief but character-
istic speecli, after which the meeting broke up.
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" Lord ErBincTON, on the 19th of July, brought forward
a motion for a petition to the Prince Regent to remit that
part of Lord Cochrane’s sentence which related to the pil-
lory. After tampering with the feelings of the house for
two hours, Lord Castlereagh at length condescended to put
'y an end toa very animated debate, by informing them, that
the prince had been pleased to remit that part of the sen-
tenice ; but, lest the country should still entertain its belief
that Lord Cochrane was less guilty than De Berenger, the

pillory was dispensed with in his case also, as well as in
that of Mr. Butt.
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APPENDIX.

TrE case of Lord Cochrane has excited a degree of interest more
lively than any domestic occurrence within the compass of the present
eventful period. His naval eelebrity, which procured him, along with
Sir Franeis Burdett, the most distinguished seat in the house of com-
mons, and bhis indefatigable pursuit and detection of abuse in the naval
department, had linked him to the general topic of his country by no
common tie.  Theough his incessant, but irreguiar attacks on the ad-
miralty, evinced little or nothing of the politesse or grave elogquence of
the senator, yet the harassing and random maneuvres - ith which he
perplexed the treasury bench, when they very much wished to be deli-
cately silent, had acquired him a name for uniform integiity and blunt
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heuesty, which endeared him not only to his fellow-seamen, but to
Great Britain, which fondles them as ““ her prur. and stay in the hour
of danger” - till an unlueky enterprise, in a sea he had nou before na-
vigated, had nearly upset him. His country wondered at his folly—his
political friends felt for him—while his enemies congratulated each
other, and laughed '

\¥ hen these sheets were put to press it wasintended to have eonclu-
ded them with a detailed analysis of the evidenee adduced on the trial,
as far as it related t the case of Lo:d Cochrane. Clrcumstances, how-
ever, have operated to preclude such a review, and we have room
only to request attention to the leading features of that evidence, which
scem deeidedly and satisfacto: ily opposed to the opinion of his jury,

- 1. Lord Cochrane was indicted along with De | erenger and others,
for conspirming to raise the price of the public funds. Inthe depositions
of we donot know how many witnesses, who had been all previously and
deliberately drilled by the eommittee of the stock exchange, which had
matured a phalanx of evidence to establish every thing that could be
traced to the conduct of Lord Cochrane in the stock transactions of the
21st of February there is not the vestige of proof——not even an insinu-
ation--that Lord Cochrane had the slightest share in the ¢ontrivance
of that plot; aud, throughout the whole of that rigorous serutiny into
the conduct and every minute transaction of his lordship, previous to
De Bereager's arrival at his house after the hyax had been effceted, Lis
name is not even connected with that of De Berengei- It fullows, then,
that his lordship’s partieipation in the fabrieation of the hoax, or in the
conspiracy, as it is called, 1s unsupported by even the shadow of direct
evideuce. | |

2. The landing of De Berenger at the Louse of Lord Coclirane on
his srrival from Dover, would have becn a singular cireumstance in-
deed, were we to suppose that his lordship was a party concerned in
the fraud. Must not Lord Cochrane, might not a child, have foreseen,
that that very cceurrence, which must have inevitably ledto his-detec.
tion, should, as it could easily. have been avoided by an interv.ew inany
other house hut hisown ? | :
8. Let us for a moment attend to the circumstances in which Lord
Cochrane was fouud an the morning of the 21st of February before
dnd after the arrival of De Berenger He was following his usnal
iﬁﬁrr;h;g_‘s amusement, in superintending the experiments in his reeent
in: ention at his tinmau's—not at his stock-Lrcker’s, although the spe-
culations of that eventful day were so materially to «ffect Lis pecuniary
fortnne. After De Berenger's-note was delivered 1o hing, it was near-
ly zwe hours before thev had an interview, After this intervieww here
is the evidence that Lord Cochrane availed himse!f of anv suppossd in-
telligence which De Berenger might communicate as to the prehable
rise of the funds? Can his lordship be traced, as wight nataraily, on
this supposition, have been expected, to Mr. Féarn; ar My, Butt, or
to the Stock Fxchange ? Mr. Fearn solemnly swears, that, on that day,
ke sold Lord Cachrane's stock and omnium, without hawving ewei
seen his lordsh'p, and solely from the injunetion he had previonsiv re-
ceived, to sel! out, whenever a profit of oue percent could he realized.

If all these circnmstances be conneected with fraud, the carbof ho. <
nesty is nowhere ‘o he faund, and innceence is ieftwithnut a protécten.
-His lordship's defence is so explicit and satisfzct: vy, a: o the minor |
parts of the evidence, such a8 the transit of h's hank notes mto the &

ands of De Berenger, that it would be superfiuous to reeur to them.
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